
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting.

Please ask for:
Marie Lowe

19 March 2019

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE to be held on Thursday 28 March 2019 at 
7.30pm in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, 
Herts, AL8 6AE

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

1.  SUBSTITUTIONS 

To note any substitution of Members made in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules 19-22.

2.  APOLOGIES 

3.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 February 
2019 (previously circulated).

4.  NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 13 
AND ANY ITEMS WITHDRAWN FROM THE AGENDA 

Public Document Pack



5.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on the Agenda.

6.  36 THE RIDGEWAY, CUFFLEY. HERTFORDSHIRE, EN6 4AX - 
6/2018/2863/FULL - ERECTION OF SIX RESIDENTIAL UNITS FOLLOWING THE 
DEMOLITION OF THE EXISTING DWELLING, SUPPORTING STRUCTURES 
AND ASSOCIATED ANCILLARY BUILDINGS (Pages 5 - 30)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

7.  THE HOLDINGS, COLE GREEN LANE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY, AL7 4AL -
6/2018/2726/MAJ -  ERECTION OF 4 INDUSTRIAL/COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS 
WITHIN USE CLASS B8 WITH ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING, ACCESS AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE WORKS (Pages 31 - 86)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

8.  61 LONDON ROAD, WOOLMER GREEN, KNEBWORTH, SG3 6JE - 
6/2019/0075/FULL - ALTERATIONS TO APPROVED PARKING & TRANSPORT 
ARRANGEMENTS AND ADDITION OF TURNING HEAD FOR HGV'S (Pages 87 - 
102)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

9.  7 STRAWMEAD, HATFIELD, AL10 0JG -6/2019/0271/FULL - ERECTION OF 
PART SINGLE, PART TWO STOREY FRONT EXTENSION AND TWO SINGLE 
STOREY REAR EXTENSIONS TO FACILITATE CONVERSION OF EXISTING 4-
BEDROOM HOUSE IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION (C4) INTO 2 X 1-BED FLATS 
AND 1 X 2-BED FLAT (Pages 103 - 114)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

10.  84 HIGH DELLS, HATFIELD, AL10 9HU - 6/2018/2850/HOUSE - RETENTION OF 
EXISTING OUTBUILDING (Pages 115 - 122)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

11.  APPEALS DECISION (Pages 123 - 128)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

12.  PLANNING UPDATE - FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS (Pages 129 - 150)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

13.  SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION 



14.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Committee is asked to resolve:

That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for Item 15 (if any) on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined 
in Section 100(A)(3) and Paragraphs 2 (Information likely to reveal the identity of 
an individual), and 6 (Statutory notice or order)  of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
said Act (as amended).

In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.

PART II

15.  ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIRMAN 

Circulation: Councillors J.Boulton (Chairman)
S.Wrenn (Vice-Chairman)
S.Boulton
H.Bromley
J.Caliskan
A.Chesterman
S.Elam

P.Hebden
S.Kasumu
M.Larkins
T.Lyons
S.Markiewicz
P.Shah

Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Marie Lowe, 
Governance Service on 01707 357443 or email – democracy@welhat.gov.uk 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 MARCH 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)
 
6/2018/2863/FULL

36 THE RIDGEWAY, CUFFLEY. HERTFORDSHIRE EN6 4AX

ERECTION OF SIX RESIDENTIAL UNITS FOLLOWING THE DEMOLITION OF THE 
EXISTING DWELLING, SUPPORTING STRUCTURES AND ASSOCIATED 
ANCILLARY BUILDINGS  

APPLICANT: CUFFLEY PROPERTY DEVELOPMENTS LTD

(Northaw and Cuffley)

1 Site Description

1.1 The application site comprises a detached dwelling in a large, wide and deep plot 
on the northern side of The Ridgeway. The dwellings along The Ridgeway are 
large and generally well set back from the road in spacious deep plots and in this 
case, the site extends back as far as the dwellings along Bradgate Close and 
Coulter Close, roads of a denser, more urban character than The Ridgeway. 

1.2 The site slopes down from front to rear by 8.65m and is currently well treed and 
landscaped. It is partly within the Northaw Great Wood Landscape Character 
Area and very close to wildlife site 162 to the west. Parts of the site also border 
the Green Belt to the west and south. The site is within the boundaries of the built 
up area of Cuffley and is not in the Green Belt.  

1.3 Whereas the top half of the site is well maintained as a garden to the property, 
the bottom half is more overgrown. The dwelling at 11 Bradgate Close 
immediately abuts the bottom half of the site – the flank elevation of this dwelling 
forms the boundary between the properties. Bradgate Close has a turning head 
adjacent to the boundary with the application site. 

2 The Proposal

2.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of six 5 bed dwellings following the 
demolition of the existing dwelling, supporting structures and associated ancillary 
structures. The dwellings would be sited in an approximate line south-west to 
north-east, running back from the road. They would be served by an access road 
that would largely follow the north- western boundary of the site and would end in 
a turning head adjacent to the rearmost dwelling.      

2.2 The dwellings would be aligned in an approximate north-east/ south-west 
alignment. The first dwelling on the plot would face The Ridgeway while the other 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



dwellings would address the access road in the site. This would not be a straight 
road but would be curved around a tree half way down the site, to avoid damage 
to its root system. The access road would have a turning head adjacent to plot 6 
at the bottom of the site.

2.3 The dwellings would be two and a half stories with accommodation in their roofs 
and would have five or six bedrooms each. They would be served by either 
detached double garages (plots 1, 2, 4 and 6) or with integral double garages 
(plots 3 and 5).      

2.4 Amended plans have been received during the course of the application 
removing the recessed areas of façades around the windows and doors in the 
front and flank elevations of the dwellings and reducing the number of full height 
glazed panels in the dwellings and replacing them with windows. Alterations to 
the turning head at the rear of the site, adjacent to Plot 6, have also been made.

3 Reason for Committee Consideration

3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because a major objection has been received from Northaw and Cuffley Parish 
Council. 

4 Relevant Planning History

4.1 6/2018/0126/FULL Redevelopment of the site including the erection of nine 
residential units (3 x 5-bedroom, 4 x 4-bedroom and 2 x 3-bedroom), following 
the demolition of the existing dwelling, supporting structures and associated 
ancillary buildings. Refused on the grounds that by virtue of the number and 
coverage of dwellings and the combined area of roads/ hardstanding proposed, 
the development would have an urbanising impact that would be at significant 
variance to the established semi-rural/ edge of settlement character of this part of 
The Ridgeway. It would also result in a number of dull and poorly lit rooms in 
some of the dwellings, and the potential for overlooking or perceived overlooking 
from some of the rooms to the detriment of the amenities of the future occupiers, 
and bedrooms of poor size and shape. The development would have an adverse 
impact upon the amenities of future occupiers.

5 Relevant Planning Policy

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) 

5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005

5.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016

5.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (Statement of Council Policy) (SDG) 

6 Site Designation 

6.1 The site lies within the settlement boundary of Cuffley as designated in the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.  The Green Belt is immediately adjacent to 
the site, to the west and north.     

6.2 The site is proposed as a designated housing site for up to eight dwellings within 
the emerging Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan (number HS26).   

Page 6



7 Representations Received 

7.1 The application was advertised by means of neighbour notification letters and a 
site notice. 

7.2 44 responses have been received to the original plans, objecting on the following 
grounds;

 The development would set a precedent, would be out of character and 
would spoil a road well known for its distinct single detached houses, not 
projecting on to the land to the rear. The proposal would be detrimental to 
and not in keeping with the area and the road would lose its character;

 The proposal represents an overdevelopment of the site;

 The current plan for six 5 bedroom houses together with hard standing will 
have a similar urbanising effect as the mass and bulk of the dwellings is 
similar to those of the refused application;

 The houses would look completely out of character, squashed in this site 
and would spoil the whole character of the road;

 There are insufficient nearby facilities for the development;

 The development would ruin the landscape and as it is not in an urban area, 
it can only be accessed by car or van, it is not good for carbon footprint;

 This application is no more advantageous for the area than the previous 
one. Nothing has really changed from the previous application. The 
urbanising impact would be the same;

 Five bedroom houses indicate 'families'. Where are the children going to go? 
No more schools or doctors?

 The development would increase fumes from cars, utilities etc and would 
increase light pollution;

 Due to the increase of on-line shopping there could be up to an 800% 
increase of delivery vans in the area and surrounding areas;

 The removal of trees and bushes would have an impact on wildlife which 
would suffer as a result of the proposal;

 The removal of all the trees/bushes to clear the site would cause more water 
in the ground and along with the current increased rain patterns will cause 
flooding in the immediate vicinity and further;

 Construction vehicles would damage the roads and cause traffic problems in 
the area;

 Parking in Cuffley is at almost at its limit. If this is allowed to go ahead there 
will be considerably more congestion and parking problems in the village of 
Cuffley;

 This development will be a stepping stone to more developments which 
would change the village forever;

Page 7



 The environment would be adversely affected; 

 Increased cars would result in more damage to the roads;  

 The site is unsustainable with a lack of proximity to shops, schools and 
station and would increase car use, making the local traffic situation worse 
than ever. Bus services are infrequent and the site is too far for residents to 
walk to and from the local facilities;   

 There is insufficient infrastructure for these additional dwellings;

 The development would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy;

 This part of The Ridgeway is central to the character of Cuffley; allowing the 
application would damage the village;

 The number of vehicles emerging from the site would create highway safety 
issues;

 The proposal would create an ugly strip of unjustifiable development;

 The development would have an adverse impact upon the local facilities – 
the station car park, the local shops, the doctor’s surgery and local schools;

 The development may have a knock-on effect on traffic on Vineyards Road;

 There is also no footpath on the side of the proposed development, which 
further creates a safety issue and reliance on cars.

 The site cannot be said to be previously developed land, as claimed in the 
application’s Planning Statement, as it is a back garden site;

 Paragraph 70 of the NPPF discourages the inappropriate development of 
back garden land;

 Part of the site is designated as a Landscape Character Area; it is difficult to 
see how the development would help to preserve the character and quality 
of the area;

 The proposal conflicts with Policy D2 of the Local Plan as it is not in keeping 
with the character of the area;

 The revised scheme has not overcome the concerns with the initial proposal 
on the site;

 The road in the vicinity of the site has a dip and tends to flood adding to 
safety concerns;

 The headlights of cars leaving the site will shine into the property on the 
opposite side of the road, causing harm to amenity;

 Those dwellings in the development entertaining guests may result in cars 
parking along The Ridgeway.

7.3 No responses have been received to the amended plans.

8 Consultations Received

8.1 Northaw and Cuffley Parish Council – The objection is on the grounds that the 
development would have an urbanising impact which does not respect the semi-
rural character of The Ridgeway. While the number of houses has been reduced 
from 8 to 6, their mass and bulk is similar.  This location is realistically only 
accessible to services by private transport. The only bus service is extremely 

Page 8



limited in frequency.  Consequently, as walking or cycling to the village centre is 
also not feasible for most, the site is environmentally unsustainable. The 
development would set a precedent for other properties with large gardens along 
the road. 

8.2 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Client Services – Properties could be 
incorporated on the existing ARRC scheme. The access road needs to be built to 
the specification in the bin store guidance document and be able to 
accommodate the size of the freighter indicated. The freighter will need to be 
able to enter and exit the road in a forward motion so the turning head will need 
to accommodate the freighter size and turning circle. The structure of the road 
must be able to sustain the weight of the freighter and be minimum 5m width. 
Please provide tracking diagram to show the how it is anticipated the freighter will 
access and exit using the dimensions provided on the guidance document 
attached.

8.3 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Public Health and Protection – 

Noise from traffic along The Ridgeway 

The Ridgeway is a relatively busy road with a 40mph limit and as such, the 
proposed dwelling closest to this road will more than likely require a specific 
noise insulation scheme and potentially mechanical ventilation to enable 
windows to be kept closed for the facades fronting the road. 

Indoor noise levels will need to meet the levels found within BS8233, and if 
required, mechanical ventilation will need to be installed to enable windows to be 
kept closed and the internal environment protected. 

The outdoor amenity areas will need to meet the 55dB WHO Guidelines for 
Community Noise Level. For Plot 1, this is likely to require the installation of a 
suitable fence which will act as a noise barrier. However, it is expected that the 
small area behind the property will meet this level, and it would be up to the 
developer to ensure that more than this space meets the guideline level for the 
overall quality of the development. 

A noise impact assessment will be required to ensure that a suitable sound 
insulation scheme (and ventilation system if required) is installed as well as 
showing that the outdoor amenity spaces comply with the guidance levels. 

It is expected that the properties further back in the development will benefit from 
shielding and distance attenuation of the noise, and will meet the relevant 
guideline levels without additional noise insulation measures.

Lighting 

An external lighting assessment will need to be provided for the development, 
this must take into account external lighting such as street lighting and security 
lighting and its potential impact on existing properties. Vertical lux diagrams will 
be required so that the potential light ingress into windows can be assessed 
against the ILE guidance. 

Page 9



Contaminated Land 

The Council’s mapping system is showing a potential former quarry of sand and 
gravel approximately 115m away. As such, it is recommended that an 
unexpected finds condition is placed on the application, so that if any 
contamination is found, the Council is notified. 

Conclusion 

Recommend planning application is permitted but with conditions regarding 
sound insulation and ventilation; noise levels for the external amenity areas; 
unexpected finds; and informatives regarding noise control and dust control.

8.4 Herts Transport Programmes and Strategy – 

(to the initial plans) – Does not wish to restrict the grant of permission subject to 
conditions regarding the submission of plans showing all works within the public 
highway; the gradient of the site accesses; visibility splays; the surfacing of all 
on- site vehicular areas; the provision of a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan; the siting and design of any access gates; and informatives regarding the 
storage of materials, obstruction of the public highway; roads deposits; 
construction standards for works within the highway; and the access road to 
remain private.        

(to the amended plans) – There are no material changes in highway terms and 
the Highway Authority’s previous comments remain the same.

8.5 Parking Services – 

The parking requirement for a five bedroom house is to have at least three 
parking spaces. The development is proposing four parking spaces so meets the 
requirements. However, I would be interested to see how they will prevent 
overspill onto the access road.   

8.6 Trees and Landscapes – 

The applicant has supplied an Arboricultural Report from Southern Ecological 
Solutions. Within the report there is an assessment of trees on the site in 
accordance with BS:5837:2012. The categorisation of the trees is considered a 
fair appraisal of the trees.

The proposed scheme requires the removal of trees and groups of trees within 
the site, however these are mainly internal to the site and will have little overall 
impact on the character of the landscape in the area. The majority of the 
boundary trees and hedges are to be retained which will form a natural screen to 
and from the site. The scheme shows the retention of the majority of the high 
quality trees which will contribute and add to the appearance of the site.

The arboricultural report has given details of tree protection and a preliminary 
Arboricultural Method Statement (with details of ground protection and special 
construction methods). Should the application be approved the Arboricultural 
Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan should be adhered to fully.

In conclusion, there is no objection to the proposal on landscape grounds with 
the proviso that the Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan 
are adhered to fully. I would also recommend that a detailed landscape plan be 

Page 10



provided should the application be approved, which should include some tree 
planting to mitigate the loss of the trees and groups of trees.

8.7 The Lead Local Flood Authority – 

In response to the original Surface Water Drainage Strategy and Flood Risk 
Assessment) the LLFA requested additional information to overcome objections.

A Surface Water Drainage Strategy and Assessment was submitted and the 
LLFA commented as follows –

Following a review of the Surface Water Drainage Strategy (SWDS) & FRA 
Phase 1 prepared by Ambiental, reference 4143 SWDS, version Final v2, dated 
11 February 2019, we can confirm that we Hertfordshire County Council as the 
Lead Local Flood Authority are now in a position to remove our objection on flood 
risk grounds. 

The drainage strategy is based upon permeable paving and underground tank 
storage and discharge into an ordinary watercourse. We note surface water 
calculations have been updated and ensure that the drainage strategy caters for 
all rainfall events up to and including 1 in 100 plus 40% for climate change with 
9.5 l/s discharge to the existing ordinary watercourse. 

We therefore recommend conditions regarding compliance with the approved 
surface water drainage assessment and the submission of a detailed surface 
water drainage scheme for the site based on the approved drainage strategy and 
sustainable drainage principles to the LPA should be imposed upon any planning 
permission granted.

8.8 Hertfordshire Ecology – 

The Hertfordshire Environmental Records Centre has no ecological data within 
the curtilage of the site. The application site is adjacent to Home Wood Local 
Wildlife Site (LWS). It also has records of bats nearby as well as badger, grass 
snake, slow-worm, common lizard, toad, harvest mouse and hedgehog within 
2km. 

The present property is a large residential dwelling with an extensive back 
garden. An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey and Bat Roost Assessment by 
Southern Ecological Solutions was carried out of the site in June 2017. This was 
followed by an inspection of the main house in September 2017 to assess its 
potential as a bat roost. No suitable roosting features including buildings or 
scattered trees were observed. However due to the complexity of the roof 
structure of the main house it was considered to have low potential to support 
roosting bats. In line with best practice a single dusk emergence survey of the 
main house on 28th September 2017 which found no evidence of bat roosts with 
in the house. Consequently bats should not be considered a constraint to 
determination. 

No evidence of badgers or their setts were found on site during the survey 
however general precautionary techniques are recommended. As the habitats on 
site provide some foraging and sett-building opportunities for badgers that may 
be present in the wider landscape, since more than 12 months has passed since 
the base line report I recommend that a pre-construction badger walkover should 
be undertaken to update this information. 

Page 11



The remaining area consists in the south of typical gardens and landscaping for a 
residential property consisting of amenity grassland and plantings of trees and 
shrubs of low ecological value. The area to the North of the site the eastern edge 
of which backs onto the LWS is shown in aerial photos to have been untill 
recently, (up to sometime post 2010) an area of woodland continuous with, but 
not part of the LWS. Much of the ecological value of this area would have been 
lost with the removal of the trees. According to the Phase 1 Habitat survey this 
area is now made up of common ruderal species such as thistle and bramble of 
low ecological value. 

Over all there is sufficient ecological information on protected and habitats for 
determination of this application and ecology is not considered as a constraint 
to development. Precautionary measures recommended for site clearance and 
reasonable biodiversity enhancements included in the report should be followed 
in full 

  
If the LPA is minded to approve the development, I would therefore advise that 
the above are secured with a condition regarding the implementation of all 
ecological mitigation and enhancement measures in accordance with the 
Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey and Bat Roost Assessment (Southern 
Ecological Solutions, October 2017) as already submitted with the planning 
application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to 
determination. In addition, hedgehog & reptile friendly fencing should be installed 
throughout the development. 

I also advise that the informatives regarding bats and hedgehogs are added to 
any consent granted. 

The planning system should aim to deliver overall net gains for biodiversity where 
possible as laid out in the National Planning Policy Framework and other 
planning policy documents. Reasonable biodiversity enhancements should be 
incorporated into the development proposal, as recommended to include 
integrated bat roost units (bricks and tubes) in buildings, specific nest boxes for 
swift, house sparrow and starling (priority species), the planting of native species 
eg nectar rich plants, gaps under fencing to allow free movement of small 
mammals (e.g. hedgehogs) and amphibians/ reptiles, etc. These should be 
considered at an early stage to avoid potential conflict with any external lighting 
plans. Advice on type and location of habitat structures should be sought from an 
ecologist.

9 Analysis

9.1 The main planning issues to be considered are:

1. The principle of the development and the impact on the character of 
the area

2. The Council’s Five Year Housing Supply Position

3. The design of the development

4. The living conditions of future occupiers

Page 12



5. The Impact upon neighbours

6. Access, car parking and highway safety

7. Landscaping

8. Ecology and protected species

9. Other material considerations

i) Flood risk
ii) Contaminated land
iii) Lifetime homes
iv) Waste and recycling

10.Planning obligations and section 106 agreement

The principle of the development and the impact on the character of the 
area

9.2 The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built      
environment. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) notes that good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in 
which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. 
Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments will function 
well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but over 
the lifetime of the development; are visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic 
to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and 
landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or 
change (such as increased densities); establish or maintain a strong sense of 
place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types and materials to 
create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit; optimise 
the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and 
mix of development; create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and 
which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing 
and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.

9.3 Policy GBSP2 of the adopted District Plan directs new development to existing 
towns and settlements including Cuffley where new development may be 
considered to be more sustainable. Though the site is not within very easy reach 
of a range of local facilities, it is served by public transport making it accessible 
for means of transport other than the car – there is a bus stop on either side of 
the road, within a short distance of the site. There are also no known 
infrastructure constraints to the development and accordingly, considering the 
site on its own, the principle of development would accord with policies GBSP2 
and SD1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

9.4 Furthermore, under Policy SADM33 of the emerging Local Plan, the site is 
proposed as an allocation as a Housing Site for eight dwellings (it is not within 
the Green Belt). This policy does state that proposals for the allocated sites will 
need to have regard to the site-specific considerations set out in the policy in 
addition to other relevant planning policies, planning objectives and other 
materials considerations. The site specific considerations are;

Page 13



 Semi- rural context and character means a low density would appropriate in this 
location;

 Creation of a buffer between the site and the adjacent wildlife site and the 
ancient woodland to the north- east;

 Nesting birds and reptiles are likely to be present on the site. A Phase I Habitat 
Survey will be necessary to assess the site’s ecological value;

 To minimise impacts on the ancient woodland, there should be caution over 
human influences such as lighting.

9.5 Notwithstanding that the site is proposed for allocation for a development of eight 
dwellings in the emerging Local Plan, any development must be considered on 
its merits in terms of design and context to ensure a suitably high standard of 
development. The six dwellings proposed in this application is less than the 
number of dwellings proposed for allocation for the site under Policy SADM33 of 
the emerging Local Plan and is therefore within the guideline level of 
development for the site.  

9.6 Saved Policy D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 requires the standard 
of design in all new development to be of a high quality while Policy D2 requires 
all new development to respect and relate to the character and context of the 
area in which it is proposed.  It notes that development proposals should as a 
minimum maintain, and where possible, should enhance or improve the 
character of the existing area. Policy GBSP2 requires that ‘within specified 
settlements development will be limited to that which is compatible with the 
maintenance and enhancement of their character’. The Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan Supplementary Design Guidance (SDG) supplements the policies contained 
in the District Plan.  

9.7 It is considered that while the proposal would result in a development of a more 
suburban character than is present in the area, the impact would be acceptable. 
The presence of six dwellings and the associated access road and hardstanding 
for each of the dwellings would result in a more urban feel to the site than in its 
current form. However, the dwellings would be sited in a suitably informal layout, 
not rigidly aligned with each other. It is considered that the dwellings would be 
reflective of the spacious, more irregularly laid out nature of the dwellings 
surrounding the site. The layout would represent a compromise between the 
dwellings along The Ridgeway and the more tightly spaced dwellings along 
Bradgate Close and Coulter Close. Though the dwellings would be more 
reflective of the dwellings along The Ridgeway in terms of size and character 
than those along Bradgate Close or Coulter Close, they would be in character 
with whilst not copying the surrounding dwellings and the overall area. While the 
plot sizes of the proposed dwellings would be more in keeping with those along 
Bradgate Close and Coulter Close it is considered the development would be 
suitably reflective of this part of Cuffley considered as a whole and is of a high 
standard. 

9.8 The dwellings along The Ridgeway are large dwellings with individual character 
and are generally spaciously sited within their plots. While the proposed 
dwellings are smaller and in smaller plots, they are considered of be of a suitable 
design and spacing for the area as a whole, bearing in mind the character of 
Bradgate Close and Coulter Close as well.  Moreover, as a consequence of their 
staggered layout when viewed from The Ridgeway, the gradient of the site and 
the spacing between them they would not appear in initial glances when passing 
the site, as an agglomeration of built form, but rather as individual dwellings in a 
landscaped setting. Particular attention could be paid to the landscaping around 

Page 14



the driveway and the front gardens of the dwellings to ensure that the setting of 
the dwellings is appropriate and pleasant. Moreover, additional landscaping 
could be used to assimilate the dwellings into the sylvan and well-landscaped 
nature of The Ridgeway in a fuller manner. This may be conditioned. 

9.9 The spacing between the dwellings is sufficient to ensure that they reflect the 
overall character of the area. The dwellings would reflect the spacious siting of 
the neighbouring and surrounding dwellings. This would be reinforced by the fact 
that the dwellings on plots 3 and 6 would not be evident in glanced views down 
the driveway as they would be shielded by the dwellings on plots 2 and 5 
respectively. The overall quantum of the built form on the site would be suitable 
and would be compatible with the character and nature of the surrounding area 
and the surrounding dwellings. Though the proposal would introduce a semi- 
suburban character to this semi- rural edge of settlement location, in would be in 
keeping with the overall area and would be acceptable, particularly with 
enhanced landscaping on the site (which may be secured by condition).

9.10 The character of an area is not merely experienced and assessed from public 
space and land – it is also seen from adjoining private land. In this case, though 
the flank boundaries of the site are generally well screened with trees and 
bushes, there are gaps in this vegetation and during the winter months when the 
leaf cover is far less evident, the views of the site from the neighbouring 
properties would be greater. While the proposed development would therefore be 
quite clearly noticeable and experienced from the neighbouring properties, the 
impact with the reasonably widely spaced dwellings, would be acceptable. The 
proposed dwellings would not appear overbearing or visually intrusive when 
viewed from the neighbouring dwellings or their rear gardens.  

9.11 While the dwellings surrounding the application site are in a linear form 
addressing The Ridgeway and the dwellings along Bradgate and Coulter Closes 
also directly address those roads, the presence of a linear row of four dwellings 
from Bradgate (between Bradgate Close and Hanyards Lane) is not dissimilar to 
the form of the proposal at 36 The Ridgeway. The proposed dwellings would, on 
balance, be in a form and layout which would reflective the overall character of 
the area. The dwellings would be in a roughly linear form running back from the 
front of the site, perpendicular to The Ridgeway and would follow the form of the 
dwellings along Bradgate Close. It is considered that, on balance, the layout of 
the proposed development would be in keeping with the overall form of the wider 
area, given the character and layout of the dwellings along The Ridgeway and 
along Bradgate Close and Coulter Close. The reduction in the number of 
dwellings from the previous application to six and the character of the site that 
would result is felt to represent a suitable development of the site. The 
reasonably spaciously sited dwellings are considered to appropriately reflect the 
edge of settlement and semi-rural character of the existing area. 

9.12 The proposed layout of the dwellings would result in the provision of a quite 
significant amount of hardstanding in the site. In addition to the parking and 
turning areas for the dwellings, the access driveway through the site would result 
in a portion of the site being laid to hardstanding. However, the extent of the 
hardstanding would be quite significantly less than that proposed in the previous 
application on the site and would be in keeping with proportion of hardstanding in 
the development of four dwellings off Bradgate, between Hanyards Lane and 
Bradgate Close. This would also not be dissimilar to the development off 
Carbone Hill – Homewood Lane – where three dwellings are served by the lane. 
It is therefore considered that the development would be in keeping with the 

Page 15



overall character of the area. The proportion of hardstanding and soft landscaped 
areas within the individual plots and the site overall would be reflective of the 
surrounding area This would again be in keeping with the general soft 
landscaped feel of the surrounding properties and would further highlight the 
suitability of the development’s layout within this semi- rural area. The proposal 
would not have an over-urbanising impact upon the area and would not be at 
significance variance to the character or the area.  

         The Council’s Five Year Housing Supply Position

9.13 Paragraph 73 of the National Planning Policy Framework sets out that ‘Local 
planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific 
deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing 
against their housing requirement set out in adopted strategic policies, or against 
their local housing need where the strategic policies are more than five years 
old’.

9.14 Paragraph 11 of the Framework outlines that decisions should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and footnote 7 outlines that it 
includes, amongst other things, ‘for applications involving the provision of 
housing, situations where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as set out in 
paragraph 73).’

9.15 The recent appeal at Entech House, Woolmer Green, outlined that the Council 
do not have a five year housing supply, a position acknowledged by the Council 
in the recently published Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) and therefore the 
Framework at Paragraph 11 notes the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development which for decision taking means;

c)        approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or 
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out of date, granting 
permission unless: 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significant and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the polices in this 
Framework taken as a whole.

9.16 The six dwellings in the development would provide a reasonably significant 
benefit to the Council. This would not just be in terms of providing high quality 
dwellings which would not have a harmful impact upon the character of the area, 
the amenity of the neighbouring occupiers or highway safety but also through 
relieving pressure on Green Belt land that the six dwellings would achieve.  

9.17 Overall, given the above, it is submitted that there is greater aggregate weight for 
the development rather than against it. The additional housing proposed attracts 
significant weight for the proposal and clearly outweighs any harm that may be 
perceived to arise from the proposal. It therefore considered that the proposal 
may be viewed as a sustainable form of development, taking account of its three 
dimensions as set out at paragraph 8 of the 2019 Framework. Accordingly, 

Page 16



paragraph 11 of the Framework, which deals with the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, is met.

The Design of the Development

9.18 The dwellings along The Ridgeway exhibit a wide range of styles, designs and 
materials. Those along Bradgate Close and Coulter Close do so to a lesser 
degree. However, the range is quite traditional which is befitting of this semi- 
rural/ edge of Green Belt location.

9.19 Following the receipt of the amended plans removing the recessed areas of 
façades around the windows and doors in the front and flank elevations of the 
dwellings and reducing the number of full height glazed panels in the dwellings 
and replacing them with windows, the design of the dwellings in considered 
relatively contemporary but appropriate. They would be of a suitably high quality 
design and though of a reasonably contemporary appearance, would not be at 
significant variance to the street scene as there are a number of dwellings along 
The Ridgeway of more modern design. The development would not appear alien 
or incongruous within the street scene but would be suitable to it, reflecting its 
high quality appearance.

         Living Conditions of Future Occupiers

9.20 The dwellings and the depth of their individual rooms would be served by large 
enough windows to ensure that they would be sufficiently well lit. There would be 
suitable distance between each of the dwellings and the trees on the boundaries 
of the site that the rooms would not be dull and gloomy but would receive 
sufficient an amount of light to ensure their usability. The dwelling sizes and their 
individual rooms are large enough to otherwise provide for a suitable level of 
accommodation for the future occupiers. Together with the generous sizes of the 
gardens for the dwellings, the dwellings would provide a suitable high quality of 
accommodation for their future occupiers.   

Impact on neighbours 
9.21 The proposed dwellings would be sited fairly centrally between the flank 

boundaries of the site. They would not impinge upon the amenities of the 
neighbouring occupiers at 34 and 38 The Ridgeway as a result of this siting and 
the boundary treatments of mature trees and vegetation. The dwellings would not 
result in loss of outlook or privacy for those dwellings.

9.22 The dwellings on plots 4, 5 and 6 would be sited sufficiently far from the 
dwellings at 11 Bradgate Close and those at 20 and 22 Coulter Close for them 
not to have an adverse impact upon the outlook from those dwellings. The 
boundary of the site with 11 Bradgate Close comprises a 1.8m fence and 
vegetation though does not form a solid visual screen. The boundary with the 
Coulter Close properties is more solid. As a consequence of these details and 
the distance between the proposed and existing dwellings, undue harm to the 
amenities of the existing occupiers would not arise. A loss of privacy would not 
result either. The back-to-back distance between the dwellings and those on 
Coulter Close would be around 27m. The back-to-flank distance between the 
dwellings and 11 Bradgate Close would be around 17.5m. The Council does not 
have specified back-to-back or back-to-flank distance requirements between new 
dwellings: the proposed distances together with the presence of the boundary 
fences and vegetation on the boundaries between the properties is considered to 
be sufficient to prevent any undue loss of privacy or amenity for the neighbouring 

Page 17



properties. There appears to be no habitable room windows in the flank elevation 
of the dwelling at 11 Bradgate Close, so loss of outlook would not be an issue. 
The other dwellings in Bradgate Close would not be unduly affected by the 
proposed development as a result of their distance from the application site. 

9.23 The use of the turning area at the bottom of the site (adjacent to dwelling 6) 
would not result in a significant amount of noise and disturbance for the 
occupiers of the surrounding dwellings as a result of the siting of dwelling 6 and 
the boundary vegetation. This would not be sufficiently intrusive to cause an 
undue loss of amenity for the occupiers of the surrounding dwellings. 

9.24 The properties along The Ridgeway either side of the site would not be affected 
by the dwellings in the rear half of the site as a consequence of the separation 
distance between them.    

Access, car parking and highway considerations

9.25 The County Highways Authority has raised no issues with the proposed 
development subject to conditions regarding the detailed engineering design and 
construction of all works within the public highway, the gradient of the access 
road, the provision of visibility splays, the provision of parking and turning space, 
the submission of a Construction Traffic Management Plan detailing on-site 
parking for construction vehicles, wheel cleaning facilities and areas for the 
storage of materials, and the set back distance for any gates to be installed in the 
development; and informatives regarding the storage of materials, obstruction of 
the highway, mud on the highway, construction standards for a new or amended 
crossover and the road within the development to remain private. It is therefore 
not considered that the proposal would have an adverse impact upon highway 
safety.  

9.26 Though it is noted that the cars leaving the individual plots would be doing so in 
reverse gear (unless they have reversed into their plots), they would be doing so 
at low speed. While visibility between these cars and any vehicles on the access 
driveway itself may not be ideal, the cars would be travelling at low speed. The 
potential incidence of accidents occurring would be very low. Objection is not 
raised in these regards.   

Landscaping Issues

9.27 The proposed scheme requires the removal of trees and groups of trees within 
the site, however these are mainly internal to the site and will have little overall 
impact on the character of the landscape in the area. The majority of the 
boundary trees and hedges are to be retained which will form a natural screen to 
and from the site. The scheme shows the retention of the majority of the high 
quality trees which will contribute and add to the appearance of the site.

9.28 The Arboricultural Report submitted with the application has provided details of 
tree protection and a preliminary Arboricultural Method Statement (with details of 
ground protection and special construction methods). Subject to the full 
adherence with the Arboricultural Method Statement and the Tree Protection 
Plan, these trees (and the others to be retained on the site) would not be harmed 
by the development. The contribution the trees make to the sylvan nature and the 
character and appearance of the site and the wider area would be retained and 
accordingly, the proposed development is considered acceptable. However, to 

Page 18



compensate for the identified loss of the trees and the groups of trees in the 
development, a detailed landscape plan should be provided.

9.29 The tree protection plan supplied is considered appropriate and sufficient to 
protect the trees during the demolition and construction process. The information 
provided is adequate to provide protection for the retained trees and must be 
adhered to at all times should the application be approved. There is no objection 
to the proposal on landscape grounds with the proviso that the Arboricultural 
Method Statement and the Tree Protection Plan are adhered to fully.

9.30 A condition requiring a scheme of enhanced and superior quality landscaping 
should be imposed upon any permission granted to mitigate the loss of the trees 
required to facilitate the development. The scheme of landscaping should consist 
of a mix of tree species to be planted at significant size that will have an instant 
impact. A high quality landscaping scheme is required in this instance in order to 
maintain the landscape quality of the site and to provide a buffer between the 
existing development to the south of the site and the Home Wood Local Wildlife 
Site to the north of the site.  

Ecology

9.31 Protected species such as great crested newts, dormice and bats benefit from 
the strictest legal protection. These species are known as European Protected 
Species (‘EPS’) and the protection afforded to them derives from the EU Habitats 
Directive, in addition to the above legislation. Water voles, badgers, reptiles, all 
wild birds, invertebrates and certain rare plants are protected to a lesser extent 
under UK domestic law (NERC Act and Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981). 

9.32 Sufficient ecological information on protected and priority species and habitats 
has been submitted with the application. It is not considered that the presence of 
such species is a constraint to the proposed development. However, 
precautionary measures are recommended for site clearance and reasonable 
biodiversity enhancements are also recommended. A condition requiring the 
ecological mitigation and enhancement measures contained in the Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey and Bat Roost Assessment (Southern Ecological 
Solutions, October 2017) is suggested. Informatives concerning bats and 
hedgehogs are also suggested. The proposed development would not have an 
adverse impact upon the ecological value of the site.

Flood Risk and SuDS

9.33 Following the receipt of the revised Surface Water Drainage Strategy (SWDS) & 
FRA Phase 1, the initial concerns over the development on flood risk grounds 
raised by the Lead Local Flood Authority have been removed subject to 
conditions regarding the development being carried out in accordance with the 
approved surface water drainage assessment and the provision of a detailed 
surface water drainage scheme for the site based on the approved drainage 
strategy and sustainable drainage principles. The Lead Local Flood Authority 
recommends that the Local Planning Authority satisfies itself that the proposed 
underground surface water attenuation features can be maintained for its lifetime 
and recommends the LPA obtains a maintenance and adoption plan from the 
applicant. This may be conditioned.

Contaminated Land

Page 19



9.34 The Council’s mapping system is showing a potential former quarry of sand and 
gravel approximately 115m away. As such, it is recommended that an 
unexpected finds condition is placed on the application, so that if any 
contamination is found, the Council is notified. 

Lifetime Homes

9.35 The dwellings would be built to Lifetime Homes standards and no objections are 
raised in these regards.

Waste and Recycling

9.36 The dwellings would be subject to the normal refuse and recycling collections. 
However, concern has been raised as to the ability of the service/ access road to 
sustain regular use by a large and very weighty refuse freighter. Notwithstanding 
this, the development could be serviced by its own, private refuse collection 
service, thereby overcoming this issue.
Planning obligations and section 106 agreement

9.37 The proposed development falls below the threshold which would trigger the 
need for planning obligations and a section 106 agreement.  

Conclusion

9.38 It is recommended that planning permission be GRANTED subject to the 
following conditions and informatives:

PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT

1. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, details of the 
glazing scheme and ventilation systems to be installed to enable the 
development to meet the internal noise levels within BS8233:2014 and the 
ventilation standards within the Noise Insulation Regulations 1975 (as amended) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be installed as so approved. 
 
REASON: To protect the amenity of the future residents of the development in 
accordance with Policy R19 & D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

2. Prior to the commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit to, for 
the approval by the Local Planning Authority details relating to noise levels in the 
external amenity areas and the conformance to the WHO Community Noise 
Guideline level. 

REASON: To protect the amenity of the future residents of the development.

3. Construction of the development hereby approved shall not commence until a 
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority in consultation with the highway authority. 
Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Plan. The Construction Traffic Management Plan 
shall include details of:

a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing; 

Page 20



b. Traffic management requirements; 

c. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car 
parking); 

d. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 

f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway; 

g. Timing of construction activities to avoid school pick up/drop off times; 

h. The management of crossings of the public highway and other public rights of 
way;

REASON: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of 
the public highway and rights of way in accordance with Policy SADM2 of the 
Emerging Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 2016. 

4. No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme 
for the site based on the approved drainage strategy and sustainable drainage 
principles, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details before the development is completed. 

The scheme shall include: 

1. Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including cross 
section drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features 
including any connecting pipe runs. 

2. Final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and 
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its 
lifetime. 

         REASON: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, both on and off site.

PRIOR TO ABOVE GROUND DEVELOPMENT

5. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in 
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority.  An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken in accordance and where remediation is 
necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared which shall be subject to the 
approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority before any work above ground 
level is begun.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 
a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing 
of the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can 
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors in accordance with Policy R2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005.

Page 21



6. No above ground development shall take place until full details on a suitably 
scaled plan of both hard and enhanced and superior quality soft landscape works 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the 
approved details.

The landscaping details to be submitted shall include:

(a)  original levels and proposed finished levels [earthworks to be carried out]

(b)  means of enclosure and boundary treatments

(c)  car parking layout and markings

(d)  vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas

(e)  hard surfacing, other hard landscape features and materials

(f)  existing trees, hedges or other soft features to be retained and a method 
statement showing tree protection measures to be implemented for the duration 
of the construction

(g)  planting plans, including specifications of species, sizes, planting centres, 
number and percentage mix, and details of seeding or turfing

  REASON: The landscaping of this site is required in order to protect and enhance 
the existing visual character of the area and to reduce the visual and 
environmental impacts of the development hereby permitted in accordance with 
Policies GBSP2, D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

7.   No above ground development shall commence on site until the following 
information has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority: (a) A full site survey showing: the datum used to calibrate the site 
levels along all site boundaries, levels across the site, floor levels of adjoining 
buildings, and full details of the proposed finished floor levels of all buildings and 
hard surfaces. 

(b) The development shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved 
details.   

REASON: To ensure that the development is completed at suitable levels with 
regard to the surrounding properties in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of 
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

8. Details relating to any external lighting scheme (including vertical lux diagrams 
which show potential light trespass into windows of nearby residential 
properties).shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and agreed in 
writing before any work above ground is begun.  This scheme must meet the 
requirements within the Institution of Lighting Professionals guidance notes for 
the reduction of obtrusive lighting. 

Reason: To protect the amenity of existing residential properties in the near 
vicinity to the development.      

PRIOR TO FIRST OCCUPATION

Page 22



9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, additional 
plans, drawn to an appropriate scale, must be submitted and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority, which 
clearly show the detailed engineering design and construction of all works within 
the public highway. These works shall be constructed and completed before first 
occupation of the development. 

REASON: To ensure the provision of an access and footway appropriate for the 
development in the interests of highway safety and convenience.

10. Before the development hereby approved is first occupied, all on site vehicular
areas shown on plan P000 Rev B shall be accessible, surfaced and marked in a 
manner to the Local Planning Authority’s approval so as to ensure satisfactory 
parking of vehicles outside highway limits. Arrangements shall be made for 
surface water from the site to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it 
does not discharge into the highway. 

REASON: In order to minimise danger, obstruction, and inconvenience to users 
of the highway and of the premises.

11. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, a Maintenance 
and Adoption Plan for the underground surface water attenuation features shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan 
shall be adhered to for the lifetime of the development.

REASON: In the interests of preventing the development from flooding.

12. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted (or Prior to
commencement of the use hereby permitted) any access gate(s), bollard, chain 
or other means of obstruction shall be hung to open inwards, set back, and 
thereafter retained a minimum distance of 6m (may be reduced to 5.5) metres 
from the near channel edge of the adjacent carriageway.

REASON: To enable vehicles to safely draw off the highway before the gate(s) or 
obstruction is opened.

POST DEVELOPMENT COMMENCING

13. The gradient of both site accesses shall not be steeper than 1:10 for the first 5 
metres from the edge of the carriageway. 

REASON: So that vehicles may enter and leave the site with the minimum of 
interference to the free flow and safety of other traffic on the highway.

14 Concurrent with the construction of both accesses, a visibility splay of 2.4 metres 
x 90 metres shall be provided in both directions. These splays shall be 
permanently maintained in each direction within which there shall be no 
obstruction to visibility between 600mm and 2m above the carriageway level. 

REASON: To provide adequate visibility for drivers entering or leaving the site.

15. All agreed landscaping comprised in the above details of landscaping shall be 
carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of 
the first building, the completion of the development, or in agreed phases 

Page 23



whichever is the sooner: and any plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged 
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species.  All landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
guidance contained in British Standards 8545: 2014.

REASON: To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details in 
the interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with Policies 
GBSP2, D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

16. The Arboricultural Method Statement and the Tree Protection Plan submitted with 
the application shall be adhered to in their entirety.  

REASON:   To protect the existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows in the interest of 
visual amenity in accordance with Policy D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005.

17. The development hereby approved shall be constructed in the materials specified 
on the approved plans. 

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests of 
visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

18. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved surface water drainage assessment carried out by Ambiental, 
reference 4143 SWDS, version Final v2, dated 11 February 2019 and the 
following mitigation measures detailed within the Flood Risk Assessment: 

1. Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the critical storm events 
so that it will not exceed the surface water run-off rate of 2.5 l/s during the 
1 in 1 year rainfall event, 6.7 l/s during the 1 in 30 year rainfall event and 
9.5 l/s during the 1 in 100 year event plus 40% of climate change event. 
2. Providing storage to ensure no increase in surface water run-off 
volumes for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + 
climate change event providing a minimum of 245 m3 (or such storage 
volume agreed with the LLFA) of total storage volume in permeable paved 
area and attenuation tank feature. 
3. Discharge of surface water from the private drain into the existing 
ordinary watercourse running along the site. 

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied 
within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in 
writing, by the local planning authority. 

REASON: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory disposal and storage 
of surface water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants. 

19. All ecological mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be 
carried out in accordance with the details contained in the Extended Phase 1 
Habitat Survey and Bat Roost Assessment (Southern Ecological Solutions, 
October 2017) as already submitted with the planning application and agreed in 
principle with the local planning authority prior to determination. In addition, 

Page 24



hedgehog and reptile friendly fencing shall be installed throughout the 
development.

REASON: In the interest of the protection of protected species and the 
biodiversity of the site in accordance with Policies R11 and R16 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

20. The development/works shall not be started or completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details:

Plan 
Number

619-02-4

619-02-05

E000

E001

E030

E040

P000

P001

P002

P003

P004

P005

P006

P007

P008

P009

P010 

P011

P012

P030

Revision 
Number

C

C

C

C

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

C

C

C

C

D

Details

Tree Removal

Tree Planting Plan

Existing Location Plan

Existing Block Plan

Existing Street Elevation

Existing Site Long Section

Proposed Location Plan

Proposed Block Plan Ground 
Floor 
Proposed Block Plan First 
Floor

Proposed Block Plan Second 
Floor 

Proposed Block Plan Roof

Proposed Top Site Ground 
Floor

Proposed Bottom Site 
Ground Floor 

Proposed Top Site First Floor

Proposed Bottom Site First 
Floor 

Proposed Top Site Second 
Floor

Proposed Bottom Site 
Second Floor 

Proposed Top Site Roof

Proposed Bottom Site Roof

Street Elevation

Received Date

07/11/18

07/11/18

19/11/18

19/11/18

19/11/18

19/11/18

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

Page 25



P040

P041

P042

D

D

C

Proposed Site Long Sections

Proposed Typical Sections

Proposed Site Short Sections

15/02/19

15/02/19

15/02/19

1. POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed on 
the Council's website or inspected at these offices).

INFORMATIVES

1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under any 
legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any permission 
required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, must be obtained 
from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety Executive, 
Environment Agency (Water interest etc. Neither does this permission negate or 
override any private covenants which may affect the land.

2. The decision notice contains conditions which require you to submit information 
to the Local Planning Authority and have it approved in writing before any 
development relating to the approval takes place. There is a formal procedure for 
applying to discharge conditions and further information can be found at 
http://www.welhat.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=834. Failure to comply with this 
type of condition may result in the development being considered unlawful and 
enforcement action could be taken. If you require any clarification or information 
please contact the section on 01707 357000.

3. Any damage to the grass verges caused by the development/works hereby 
approved is the responsibility of the applicant and must be re-instated to their 
original condition, within one month of the completion of the development/works. 
If damage to the verges are not repaired then the Council and/or Highway 
Authority will take appropriate enforcement action to remedy any harm caused.

4. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the 
construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which 
is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public 
highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 
Authority before construction works commence. Further information is available 
via the website https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/ services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-
licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.

5. It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, 
without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage 
along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the 
public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or 
partly) the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their 
permission and requirements before construction works commence. Further 
information is available via the website:  

Page 26

https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/%20services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/%20services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/%20services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx


https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx or by 
telephoning 0300 1234047.

6. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud or 
other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives the 
Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party 
responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure 
that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development are in a 
condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the 
highway. Further information is available via the website 
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-
roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.

7. All works to be undertaken on the adjoining highway shall be constructed to the 
satisfaction and specification of the Highway Authority, by an approved 
contractor and in accordance with Hertfordshire County Council’s publication 
“Roads in Hertfordshire – Highway Design Guide 126 (2011)”. Before works 
commence, the applicant will need to apply to the Highway Authority to obtain 
their permission and requirements. Further information is available via the 
website https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highways-development-management.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047.   

8. The applicant is advised that all new highways marked on the plan within the site 
will remain unadopted and the developer should put in place a permanent 
arrangement for long term maintenance. At the entrance of the new estate the
road name plate should indicate that it is a private road to inform purchasers of 
their future maintenance liabilities. Further information is available via the website
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning 0300 
1234047.

9. The removal or severe pruning of any trees or mature bushes should be avoided 
during the bird breeding season (March to August inclusive) to protect breeding 
birds, their eggs, nests and young. If this is not practicable, a wide search of the 
area should be made no more than three days in advance of the tree/ shrub 
works and if any active nests are found, works should stop until the birds have 
left the nest.

10.If bats or evidence for them is discovered during the course of any works, work 
must stop immediately and advice sought on how to proceed lawfully from Bat 
Conservation Trust - tel: 0345 1300 228 or an appropriately qualified and 
experienced ecologist.

11.To avoid killing or injuring hedgehogs it is best practice for any brash piles to be 
cleared by hand. Any trenches on site should also be covered at night or have 
ramps to prevent and avoid hedgehogs being trapped during construction. It is 
also possible to provide enhancements for hedgehogs by making small holes 
within any boundary fencing. This allows foraging hedgehogs to be able to pass 
freely throughout a site. For further information on why we should protect and 
conserve hedgehogs please read ‘The State of Britain’s Hedgehogs (2015)’ by 
the People’s Trust of Endangered Species.

Page 27

https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


12.Any external lighting scheme should be designed to minimise light spill, in 
particular directing light away from the boundary vegetation to ensure dark 
corridors remain for use by wildlife as well directing light away from potential 
roost/ nesting sites.  

13.  All efforts shall be made to reduce dust generation to a minimum.

14.  Stock piles of materials for use on the site or disposal that are likely to generate 
dust, shall be sited so as to minimise any nuisance to residents or neighbouring 
businesses. Materials for disposal shall be moved off site as quickly as possible.

15.  Water sprays shall be used, as and when necessary, to reduce dust from 
particularly "dusty" activities or stock piles.

16.  All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or at 
such other place as may be agreed with the Council, shall be carried out only 
between the hours of:

8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays

8.00am and 1.00pm Saturdays

And at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays

17.The best practicable means, as defined in section 72 of the Control of Pollution 
Act 1974, to reduce noise to a minimum shall be employed at all times.

18.All plant and machinery in use shall be properly silenced and maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions.

19.All compressors shall be sound reduced models, fitted with properly lined and 
sealed acoustic covers, which shall be kept closed whenever the machines are in 
use. All ancillary pneumatic percussive tools shall be fitted with mufflers or 
silencers of the type recommended by the manufactures.

20.All machines in intermittent use shall be shut down during intervening periods 
between work, or throttled down to a minimum. Noise emitting equipment, which 
is required to operate continuously, shall be housed in suitable acoustic 
enclosures.

21. Items of plant and equipment shall be maintained in good condition so that 
extraneous noise from mechanical vibration, squeaking or creaking is reduced to 
a minimum.

22.All pile driving shall be carried out by a recognised noise reducing system.

23.Where practical, rotary drills and bursters, actuated by hydraulic or electric power 
shall be used for excavating hard material.

24.  In general, equipment for breaking concrete and the like, shall be hydraulically 
actuated.

25. ‘BS 5228 Noise Control on Construction Sites’ should be referred to for guidance 
in respect of all work carried out by the developer, their main contractor and any 
sub contractors.

Page 28



26.Any emergency deviation from these conditions shall be notified to the Council 
without delay.

27.Any planned deviations from these conditions for special technical reasons, shall 
be negotiated with Council at least 14 days prior to the commencement of the 
specific work.

28.Permissible noise levels are not specified at this stage.

Tom Gabriel (Development Management)
Date 07 03 2019

Page 29



Page 30



             Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 MARCH 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

6/2018/2726/MAJ

THE HOLDINGS, COLE GREEN LANE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY, AL7 4AL

ERECTION OF 4 INDUSTRIAL/COMMERCIAL BULDINGS WITHIN USE CLASS B8 
WITH ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING, ACCESS AND INFRASTRUCTURE WORKS

APPLICANT: Mr K Alder-Barber

(Howlands)

1 Background

1.1 Members may recall the previous planning application for this site 
(6/2015/2416/MAJ) was reported to Committee on 26th May 2016 which was 
granted planning permission.  The approved scheme was for eight, two-storey, 
mixed B class use units with a footprint of 2,910sqm and floorspace of 5,820sqm.  
The Committee Report is attached at Appendix 1.

1.2 The approved scheme included vehicle access to the site, cycle parking, 122 car 
parking spaces and five loading bays.  The application was approved subject to a 
S106 agreement for fire hydrants, a green travel plan and monitoring fee and a 
section 278 (Highways) agreement for improved junction layout at the entrances 
to the site.

1.3 The site had been used for landfill and had become contaminated.  Remediation 
works were required by condition on the planning permission.  The applicant 
submits that the costs of the remediation work are higher than anticipated and 
that the proposed development needs to accommodate more floorspace to make 
it viable.

2 The Application Site

2.1 The application site comprises approximately 2.25 hectares in area on the 
eastern edge of Welwyn Garden City.  It has a frontage onto Cole Green Lane 
(B195), near to its junction with Black Fan Road and approximately 1km north of 
its junction with the A414. There are a number of earth bunds along the site 
frontage and several mature trees on the site’s frontage.  The site’s main vehicle 
access is from the east off Cole Green Lane and this has been closed off with 
concrete barriers and the gate is locked.  A second access at the south east 
corner of the site has also been closed.  The northern end of the site is part of 
Howells Wood.  The Cole Green Way a bridle path and cycle way (National 
Route 61) runs near to the west side (rear) of the site.

2.2 The site is currently in the Green Belt but has been included in the Emerging 
Local Plan as an Employment Site.  It is located between the eastern edge of 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



Welwyn Garden City and the proposed Birchall Garden Suburb as designated in 
the adopted East Hertfordshire Local Plan 2018.

2.3 The site to the south east is used for recycling inert waste and contains a large 
building.  This site is also in the Green Belt and is surrounded by earth bunds 
several metres high.

3 Proposal

3.1 Full planning permission is sought for the following: 

 four industrial buildings within Class B8 totalling 10,918sqm (unit size from 
2,500sqm to 2,990sqm) with small mezzanine floor areas

 ridge height 13m, internal clear height 10m, roof pitch 6 degrees, 
rooflights, grey 

 external walls in composite cladding in varying shades of green fading in 
tone to the eaves

 105 car parking spaces 

 30 cycle parking spaces, 10 motorcycle stands

 two wellness areas seating/ping pong and cycle shelters

 two vehicle access/egresses from Cole Green Lane

 separate service yard

 pedestrian access 3m wide path to north corner of site (bus stop)

 fencing 2.4m  paladin coloured green

 retaining wall to rear

 landscaping to retain existing healthy trees and hedges, semi-mature 
trees, pocket parks, pond/swale 

3.2 The application was accompanied by a Design and Access Statement, a 
Planning Statement, a Flood Risk Assessment, a Contamination Report, 
Landscape Proposals, Sustainability Assessment and a Transport Statement. 

3.3 The main changes to the proposal from the previous approval include;

 The use of the buildings for Class B8 only;

 the increase in floor area from 5,820sqm to 10,918sqm (an increase of 
5,098sqm);

 eaves height of the buildings increased from 8.7m to 11.9m (an increase 
of 3.2m);

 the width of the building would be increased from 98m to 210m; and 

Page 32



 the footprint would be trebled from 2920sqm to 10,321sqm. The 
floorspace is predominantly at ground floor with some mezzanine areas 
and a clear internal height of 10m.

(NB. All measurements are approximate.)

4 Reason for Committee Consideration

4.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because, as employment development in the Green Belt, it represents a 
departure from the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.  The application would 
need to be referred to the Secretary of State if the Committee is minded to 
approve it.

5 Relevant Planning History

5.1 Application Number: N6/1993/0244/OP
Decision: Granted    
Decision Date: 2 June 1993
Proposal:  Renewal of outline planning permission for Equestrian centre with club 
facilities, staff house and garage  

5.2 Application Number: 6/2015/2416/MAJ
Decision: Approved subject to S106 agreement (for fire hydrants, Green Travel 
Plan and Travel Plan monitoring fee)
Decision Date: 26 May 2016
Proposal:  Two storey office (B1(a)) Use and General Industrial(B2) Use and 
Storage of Distribution (B8) Use on former Equestrian land as permitted and 
commenced under planning permission N6/1993/0244/OP

5.3  The Enforcement History is summarised in the committee report for application 
reference 6/2015/2346/MAJ.  The bunding on the site remains in place to provide 
necessary security whilst the future use of the site is determined.

6 Relevant Planning Policy

6.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) 

6.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (Local Plan)

6.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan 2016)

6.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG)

5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG)

5.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 
Parking Policy)

7 Site Designation 

7.1 The application site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt and Landscape 
Character Area (Welwyn Fringes) as designated in the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005.  Bridle-way (Welwyn Garden City 069) starts on the other side of Cole 
Green Lane at the northern end of the site.  

Page 33



7.2 In the Emerging Local Plan 2016, the application site is designated as an 
Employment Area (EA11) and an Area of Archaeological Interest with Urban 
Open Land to the north and west.  Wildlife Site (WS78) is on the opposite side of 
Cole Green Lane.

8 Representations Received 

8.1 The application was advertised by means of site notice, press notice and 
neighbour notification letters.   Three representations have been received from 
Campaign for the Protection of Rural England and two from David Locke 
Associates.  These can be summarised as;

Campaign for the Protection of Rural England

 Concerns regarding this application for inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt;

 The previous permission is for smaller buildings than are proposed in this 
application; 

 The application is premature and would pre-empt the outcome of the 
ongoing examination in public of the emerging Local Plan 2016;

David Locke Associates:

 A transport assessment is needed to assess the impact of increased traffic 
on surrounding roads and proposed developments in the vicinity (Birchall 
Garden Suburb);

 Concerns that the proposal could generate a significant number of vehicle 
movements, including HGVs through the day and potentially night;

 Under provision of car parking spaces within the site could result in 
undesirable levels of fly parking on nearby roads;

 Potential for significant cumulative effects on Birchall Lane on the planned 
Birchall Garden Suburb from development on this site in combination with 
permitted waste management operations of the adjacent Highlands site;

 A holistic and co-ordinated approach to managing development proposals 
along Birchall Lane where the clear priority is to safeguard future 
neighbouring residential amenity is required; and

 Unless the Council is fully satisfied that these undesirable effects can be 
avoided through imposing appropriate conditions on any permission, the 
permission should be refused.  

9 Consultations Received

9.1 No objections subject to conditions have been received from;

 Hertfordshire Constabulary;
 Thames Water;
 Lead Local Flood Authority;
 Hertfordshire County Council Transport Programmes and Strategy;
 Hertfordshire County Council – Historic Environment Advisor;

Page 34



 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council – Public Health and Protection;
 Environment Agency; and
 Hertfordshire Ecology.

9.8 No responses were received from the following consultees:
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Client Services, Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council Landscape Department, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Parking 
Services, Hertfordshire County Council Property Services S106, East 
Hertfordshire District Council, Hertfordshire and Middlesex Wildlife Trust, Affinity 
Water, British Gas, Welwyn Hatfield Access Group, and Welwyn Garden City 
Chamber of Trade. 

10 Analysis

10.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 
application are:

1. Principle of Development within the Green Belt 
2. Quality of design 
3. Impact on the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and future 

occupiers 
4. Access, highway safety and parking
5. Landscaping
6. Biodiversity
7. Land contamination
8. Flood risk
9. Waste management, refuse and recycling, fire hydrant
10.Security
11.Representations
12.Planning Obligations
13.Environmental Impact Assessment

1. Principle of Development within the Green Belt

Whether the proposed development constitutes inappropriate development

10.2 The application site is within the Green Belt and the key policies for this proposal 
are contained in National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraphs
143-147 and Saved Policies SD1 and GBSP1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan (District Plan). These Policies make clear that new development is 
inappropriate in the Green Belt and therefore harmful to it and would only be 
considered in very special circumstances. Land surrounding the site has been 
considered for allocation for Urban Open Land and residential as part of the 
Local Plan Review Process.  However, the draft local plan document is 
undergoing Examination in Public and has not been adopted.  As such, the 
planning status of the site is Green Belt as designated in the District Plan. 

10.3 Exceptions to this are limited and are set out in paragraphs 145 and 146 of the 
NPPF. The proposed development would not qualify as any of the exceptions set 
out in those paragraphs and the proposed development would be inappropriate 
and therefore harmful to the Green Belt.  Paragraphs 143 and 144 state that 
inappropriate development should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances where other considerations clearly outweigh the harm to the 
Green Belt.

Page 35



10.4 The individual circumstances of this site need to be taken into account and 
consideration given as to whether they constitute very special circumstances that 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.  These considerations include the previous 
planning history and the interim tipping activities that took place unlawfully on the 
site.

 
10.5 Application 6/2015/2416/FULL was granted planning permission for a two storey 

office (B1(a)) Use and General Industrial (B2) Use and Storage of Distribution 
(B8) Use.  Those previously approved buildings, which had a footprint of 
2,910sqm, were similar in size and scale to the previously approved equestrian 
centre buildings.  The existing bunding, which does affect the openness of the 
site, would be replaced by fencing and enhanced tree and shrub planting and this 
was the subject of a planning condition on that permission.  While the change of 
use was considered contrary to Green Belt policy, the harm to visual openness to 
the Green Belt resulting from the proposal was not considered to be greater than 
the previously approved Equestrian Centre.  The vulnerability of the site to 
unlawful tipping constituted very special circumstances and the proposed use 
was considered to be of a nature that would be likely to prevent further unlawful 
activity on the site. These factors, together with the significant wider 
environmental benefits and the provision of employment land were considered to 
outweigh the inappropriateness of the development and other harms to the 
Green Belt.  

10.6 That decision, which is extant, is a material consideration in the determination of 
this application where there are no changes to District Plan policy and emerging 
policy.  Whilst the NPPF has been updated, those policies controlling 
development in the Green Belt have not materially altered.

10.7 The current proposal would be a larger building with almost twice the footprint 
(previously 2,980 to 5,800 equating to a 95% increase (approx.)) and be 4 or 5 m 
higher. The proposed cladding would be varying shades of green gradually 
fading in tone to the eaves level at 11.9m high.  The roof would be grey, and 
have a very low pitch and a ridge of 13.2m, which would be barely visible from 
ground level. 

Appropriateness

10.8 In regard to the proposed employment uses in the Green Belt, the guidance in 
the NPPF 2019 is consistent with the NPPF 2012, under which the previous 
application was assessed.  Consequently, the proposed use is considered to be 
inappropriate in the Green Belt and, therefore, to cause harm to it by definition.

Impact on openness

10.9 Paragraph 133 of the NPPF states that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy 
is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential 
characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. There is 
no definition of openness in the NPPF but, in the context of the Green Belt, it is 
generally held to refer to freedom from, or the absence of, development.  The 
physical presence of any above ground development would to some extent 
diminish the openness of the Green Belt regardless of whether or not it can be 
seen.  

Page 36



10.10 The proposal would result in a considerable size and scale of development, 
which would reduce the openness of the Green Belt and cause it additional harm.  
Given the increase to built form from the previous application, the harm to 
openness would increase.

 
Purpose of the Green Belt

10.11 The five purposes of the Green Belt are outlined at Paragraph 134 of the NPPF. 
The proposal would be on the edge of the settlement boundary of Welwyn 
Garden City.  Under the adopted District Plan 2005 the site is on the edge of the 
settlement and would result in the encroachment of development into the Green 
Belt.  This would be contrary to the third purpose of including land within the 
Green Belt; safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. The development 
would therefore be contrary to Paragraph 134 of the NPPF.

10.12 Welwyn Hatfield Draft Local Plan 2016 proposes excluding the site from the 
Green Belt and allocating it as an employment site (EA11).  This designation 
would overcome Green Belt objections.  However, the Draft Local Plan is 
currently undergoing examination in public and so limited weight can be given to 
it. The Welwyn Hatfield Green Belt Study Stage 3 Final Report (2018) rates the 
impact on the Green Belt of releasing the site allocation as moderate to low.

10.13 East Hertfordshire Local Plan 2018 has been found sound and has been 
adopted. Policy EWEL1 refers to the application site as potentially being included 
in a wider employment area serving Birchall Garden Suburb (subject to there 
being no adverse impact on the neighbouring residential amenity).  The Garden 
Suburb is intended to be an extension to the urban area of Welwyn Garden City 
rather than a distinct settlement.  As such the application site would not be 
positioned between two settlements and its development would not constitute the 
merging of neighbouring towns.  The proposal would not be contrary to the first 
or second reasons for including land in the Green Belt; to check the unrestricted 
sprawl of large built up areas; and prevention of neighbouring towns from 
merging into one another.

10.14 With regard to the remaining two criteria; to preserve the setting and special 
character of historic towns; and to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging 
the recycling of derelict and other urban land, the proposed development would 
not conflict with these.  Welwyn Garden City, whilst not a historic town, would be 
preserved and a planning permission for equestrian use has been implemented.

Impact on character and appearance and the visual amenity of the Green Belt

10.15 Assessment is also required of the impact (in terms of prominence, size, bulk and 
design) on the character, appearance and pattern of development of the 
surrounding countryside.

10.16 The building would have an eaves height of approximately 12m.  It would be set 
back 40m from the road and the land level would be lowered by approximately 
0.5m by the removal of surface tipping. The external walls would be finished in 
cladding, introducing an urban element to this Green Belt context. It would be 
visible from Cole Green Lane through the site accesses and, initially, above 
enhanced boundary planting. However, the mature trees along the site frontage 
would provide an effective screen, especially in the summer months.  The site is 
similarly screened by mature deciduous trees and undergrowth along the rear 

Page 37



boundary and although the building may be visible from the cycle route at the 
rear of the site it would be set back behind the canopies of these trees and not 
unduly intrusive.

10.17 The visual impact would be mitigated to some extent by careful use of materials 
and enhanced screening, which can be secured through planning conditions. The 
green paladin fence would screen the boundaries of the site.  Green cladding is 
shown in the submitted elevations to be green in colour and to fade in tone 
towards the eaves to reduce the appearance of bulk.  Enhancements to planting 
(trees and shrubs) on the boundaries of the site, where space permits, and the 
use of trees and shrubs within the site are proposed. 

10.18 The proposal has to be considered in relation to the surrounding setting including 
the site to the south, which is used as a waste recycling centre.  This site 
contains two buildings, which were recently granted permission (County Matter 
0091a/c WHBC Ref No N6/2015/0384/CD):  a workshop and a store.  The 
workshop dimensions are 40m long x 16 wide and 12.3m high.  The store 
measures 40m long x 16m wide and 6.5m high.  The workshop building is close 
to the boundary with Cole Green Lane and is finished in timber.  It is screened 
effectively by mature trees on the site frontage and although it is visible in winter 
months it is not overly intrusive in the street-scene.   The site also contains 
substantial parking areas for Heavy Goods Vehicles.  Given this context the 
proposed building of a similar height, set 40m back from the road and in colours 
to blend in with the setting is not considered to be overly intrusive in this 
particular setting.

10.19 However, the presence of built development would increase from the previous 
approval for employment on the site.  The extant equestrian centre permission 
provides a fall back position with respect to the scale of buildings on the site 
which although have a smaller footprint have a greater height.  Although the 
building has not been constructed the development has been deemed to have 
commenced and could still be implemented.  The table below demonstrates the 
scale of buildings previously allowed compared to that currently proposed.

Equestrian 
Proposal

B1, B2 and B8 
2015 proposal

B8 current 
proposal 

Footprint 3,305sqm 2,980sqm 5,800sqm
Width of main 
building

78m 96m 97m

Maximum height 9.7m 7.4m 7.5m
Depth 37m 30m 30m

10.20 The size and scale of the building currently proposed would have some impact 
upon the character, appearance and pattern of development of the surrounding 
countryside.  Some weight should therefore be afforded to this harm to the 
character of the Green Belt.  

Very Special Circumstances

10.21 The NPPF advises, when considering any planning application, local planning 
authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green 
Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the 

Page 38



Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations.

10.22 Hertfordshire Constabulary and Hertfordshire County Council had previously 
confirmed (6/2015/2416/MAJ) that the site owner has cleared the site of the 
unlawful tipping activity and installed bunds around the site.  While the site stays 
vacant it remains vulnerable to further unlawful tipping activity.  A permanent use 
is sought to resolve this issue.  

10.23 The site and surrounding area have a long history of land-fill activity.  In addition, 
as a result of the unlawful tipping activities the land became contaminated.  The 
submitted Planning Statement states that extensive ground preparation and 
remedial works are required. The remedial works include removal of material to a 
licensed site, covering and compacting, and a specialised design.  Normal 
construction would require removal of land contamination which the land 
contamination experts advise would only serve a temporary purpose as 
contaminants from surrounding sites would be likely to leach in to the site within 
a relatively short time.  The recommended design (A F Howland Associates – 
Ground Investigation Report) involves piled foundations, suspended floors and 
ventilation, which are required to make the site suitable for employment uses.  
The justification for increasing the built development on the site relates to the 
costs of undertaking the extensive decontamination and remediation works and 
the specialised design.  

10.24 The proposed B8 class development would introduce a more regular and 
frequent occupation of the land and would be more likely, than leaving the land 
as it is, to achieve the benefits of making the site secure, preventing further 
tipping and remediating contamination. The removal of the threat of tipping and 
the remediation of substantial level of contamination can be considered as wider 
environmental benefits that can be weighed against the harm to the Green Belt of 
the proposed development. 

10.25 While the employment use is contrary to current land designation, the Draft Local 
Plan aims to increase the number of jobs in the Borough.  Recently, losses of 
Class B1(a) floor-space through permitted development and redevelopment 
proposals have restricted the Council’s ability to retain existing employment land 
and meet its full anticipated requirement for employment floor-space.  The Draft 
Local Plan designates new employment areas, including green belt land such as 
the application site, to counteract the shortfall.  The current application for 
proposed B8 use would be compliant with the proposed Employment Land 
designation in the Draft Local Plan 2016.  The proposal would be likely to create 
in the region of 120-150 jobs in the warehousing and distribution sector.  This 
wider economic and social benefit can be weighed against the harm to the Green 
Belt.

Green Belt Balance

10.26 The proposal would result in harm to the Green Belt by inappropriateness, by 
loss of openness, by encroachment into the countryside and by adverse impact 
on visual openness and character of the area.  It would conflict with Policies, 
GBSP1 of the District Plan 2005, the NPPF and Policy SADM34 of the emerging 
Plan.

10.27 However, it is considered that in this case the recovery of despoiled land, 
removal of contamination, securing the site against future unlawful tipping and 

Page 39



the creation of employment opportunities are considerations which weigh 
significantly in favour of the proposal.  These can be given considerable weight 
as they achieve wider environmental and economic public benefits and therefore 
are the very special circumstances necessary to overcome the harm identified.

2. Quality of design 

10.28 District Plan Policies D1 and D2, Emerging Local Plan Policy SP9 and the 
Supplementary Design Guidance (SDG), seek to ensure a high quality of design 
which relates to the character and context of the dwelling and surrounding area. 
The policies require new buildings to not look cramped within the site in regards 
to bulk. These policies are in line with the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) in that planning should require good functional design.  

10.29 These policies are expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design 
Guidance (SDG), which requires the impact of a development to be assessed 
giving regard to the bulk, scale and design of the proposal and how it harmonises 
with the surrounding area.  In terms of appearance, the building has been 
assessed above under Green Belt considerations 

10.30 In terms of functionality required in NPPF paragraph 127 a), the proposed 
building would operate as a warehouse and distribution use.  The headroom of 
the storage areas would be approx. 9.7m high to meet industry requirements and 
mezzanine floor areas would be used for offices.  The layout and facilities of the 
buildings would meet the needs of such operations.  In addition, the proposal 
includes two open areas near to the building entrances to provide seating, and 
relaxation space (including table tennis tables).  The area to the north of the site 
is set aside for a swale (SUDS attenuation pond) and decking area for 
employees to relax on.

10.31 The proposal would represent a good quality of design in terms of functionality.  
The building would be designed with a flat roof with sensitive materials.   It would 
be acceptable to the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018, 
Policies D1 and D2 of the District Plan 2005, Emerging Local Plan Policy SP9 
and Supplementary Design Guidance 2005.

3. Impact on the residential amenity of adjoining neighbours

10.32 Policies D1 and the Supplementary Design Guidance (2005) (SDG) aim to 
preserve neighbouring amenity.  Guidance in Paragraph 127 of the NPPF seeks 
high quality design and good standards of amenity for all existing and future 
occupiers of land and buildings. Policy SADM11 of the Draft Local Plan 2016 
aims to preserve neighbouring amenity.  

10.33 Additionally policies R19 and R20 of the District Plan seek to prevent new 
development from resulting in noise and light nuisance to existing sensitive uses 
such as residential.

10.34 The nearest neighbours are the residential properties in Thistle Grove and 
Holwell Hyde; over 250m away. The proposed development would be a sufficient 
distance away to not result in an overbearing impact on or loss of sun or daylight 
or privacy to the nearest residential properties.

10.35 The potential for noise nuisance during construction is reduced by the distance 
from the nearby housing. However, some noise may travel and a condition can 

Page 40



be imposed limiting the noise from machinery used within the site and an 
informative can be added advising of the Environmental Health regulations over 
construction noise and hours. On this basis, the development is consider in 
accordance with Policy D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Pan 2005.  

10.36 There is potential for light nuisance from security lighting associated with the 
future use of the site.  Further to Policy R20 a condition can be imposed requiring 
details of any external lighting to be submitted and approved prior to their 
installation.

10.37 Having regard to the above, it is considered that, subject to conditions, the 
development would not detrimentally impact upon neighbouring amenity in terms 
of living conditions and noise and light nuisance.  The proposal would provide 
adequate amenity for future occupiers of the units.  The proposal is, therefore, 
considered to comply with Policies D1, R19 and R20 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Pan 2005, the Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 and the NPPF.

4. Highways Impacts – access, safety and parking

10.38 The existing access to the site from Cole Green Lane would be used as an all-
movement priority junction. A new access would be created at the south east 
corner of the site would.  The applicant suggests relocation of the existing 
gateway feature to further encourage reduced speeds and facilitate the safer 
operation of the access and to remove the confusion that may arise of the 
transition in local sped limits occurring at the point of access.  The applicant 
notes that revisions to the speed limit from 50mph are required onto Cole Green 
Lane which would form part of the s278 works, which will require consultation, 
and therefore require a Grampian condition in order that this is achieved.  

10.39 Hertfordshire County Council Transportation Programmes and Strategy 
(HCCTPS) has no objection to the amended access designs and would seek 
more detailed design and implementation of the new junctions via a Section 278 
Agreement. Within the s278 they would seek, as part of any new gateway 
feature, to encourage a central, keep left island within the westbound approach 
to the right hand turn lane, protecting vehicles waiting in this area and prohibiting 
vehicles seeking to overtake at this point.  

10.40 The layout of the site has been designed to accommodate HGV’s.  The site 
would provide adequate access for Refuse and Emergency Vehicles.

10.41 Site accessibility – with regard to site access for non-car modes of travel, Policy 
D5 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 requires all new development to 
make provision for pedestrian, cyclist and passenger transport facilities. The site 
is remote from the urban area of Welwyn Garden City with local footways and 
cycle-ways ceasing in the vicinity of the Cole Green Lane/Black Fan Road 
junction. The site is, therefore, currently inaccessible by non-car modes of 
transport, contrary to the NPPF and Policy D5 of the WHDP 2005.

10.42 The proposal includes a series of highway improvements including off-site works 
to provide a footpath through the north east corner of the site to link into the 
footpath on Cole Green Lane near the junction with Black Fan Road which will 
enable pedestrian movement to local bus stops and facilitation walking and 
cycling as alternative to the private car.  The off-site elements shall be secured 
by a Section 278 (under The Highway Act) and constructed to HCCTPS’s 
requirements. Cycle parking facilities are proposed (see below). Four bus stops, 

Page 41



(of which two are on Black Fan Road, Cole Green Lane and Cole Green Lane, 
Thistle Grove and Great Ganett, Terminus) do not meet standards for accessible 
bus stops (shelters and kassell (raised) kerbing). Works to bring these bus stops 
up to standard shall be secured via a Section 278 agreement further to a 
Grampian-style planning condition (Condition No 4). The details are to be 
confirmed by the HCCTPS but shall include the following headings: ghosted right 
hand turn from south bound carriageway, speed limit transition, footway and 
cycleway improvements to south side of Cole Green Lane and Kassell kerbing 
and shelters to four bus stops at Great Ganett/Little Ganett and Black Fan Road.

10.43 A Travel Plan and Travel Plan Monitoring and Support contribution of £6,000 is a 
requirement from HCCTPS for this development as a result of its type and scale.  
This can be secured by a S106 planning obligation (see below). 

Parking

10.44 The Council’s Local Plan Policy M14 and the Parking Standard Supplementary 
Planning Guidance (SPG) use maximum standards which are not consistent with 
the NPPF and are, therefore, not afforded significant weight. In light of the above 
the Council has produced an Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and 
Garage Sizes that states that parking provision will be assessed on a case by 
case basis and the existing maximum standards within the SPG should be taken 
as guidance only. 

10.45 The development proposes approximately 10,918sqm of B8 floor-space (Gross 
External Area).  The demand based parking standard for B8 uses is 1 space per 
75sqm.  The maximum parking requirement would, therefore, be 146 spaces.  
The proposed scheme would provide 92 parking spaces on the forecourt. Four of 
these would be electric car charging points and four would be disability parking 
spaces.  Cycle parking requirements are for one long term space per ten staff.  
Thus the requirement would be 23 spaces.  The site plan shows weatherproof 
parking with locking facilities for bicycles in shelters for 20 cycles and 5 
motorcycles.  Drawings show the shelters would be sufficiently secure during 
normal work hours.

10.46 The on-site provisions represent a shortfall of 54 car parking spaces based on 
the maximum standards set out in the Council’s SPG.  However, the SPG allows 
for a zonal restraint of between 75-100% resulting in between 109 to 146 spaces 
being required to comply with the Council’s SPG.  The proposal provides 92 
spaces which is below the zonal restraint and contrary to Saved Policy M14 of 
the District Plan and the SPG.  

10.47 The Council’s Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards 2014 however outlines 
that the Council has agreed to treat its existing car parking standards as 
guidelines rather than the maximums.  This means that higher or lower car 
parking standards than those set out in the SPG can be proposed on a case by 
case basis taking account of the relevant circumstances of the proposal, its size 
context and its wider surroundings, as well as the NPPF guidance.  

10.48 The reduced level of car parking is partly compensated for by the provision for 
cycle and motorcycle parking of 5 spaces together with the Staff Travel Plan, 
which will support the stated aim of promoting journeys on foot, by bike and by 
public transport.  Accordingly, subject to the completion of the Travel Plan 
through a S106, it is considered that the proposed car parking and cycle parking 
would be appropriate for this site and no objections are raised in this regard.

Page 42



5. Landscaping

10.49 Policy D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 requires all developments to 
include landscaping as an integral part of the overall design and existing 
landscape features, such as trees, to be retained and enhanced.  

10.50 The site has perimeter trees and undergrowth on the adjacent highway land.  
The existing trees around and within the site are very important as a whole and in 
their role as screening. 

10.51  The submitted Landscape report shows removal of the bunds and installation of 
a green 2.4m high paladin fence.  The submitted landscape concept scheme 
shows tree protection fencing and no dig construction in areas of footpath and 
car parking.  In addition, the perimeter planting including the mature trees on the 
eastern boundary to Cole Green Lane is to be retained and protected and 
supplemented with new native, mixed broad leaved and conifer trees new native 
trees and a hedgerow would be planted.  The boundary to the south (abutting the 
waste transfer site) would be enhanced with 2.4m high hedgerow in addition to 
the green paladin fence.  The hedgerow on the west boundary with National 
Cycle Route No 61 would be retained and a new native species planting installed 
in the 6-8m wide strip between the boundary and the buildings.  At the northern 
end of the site the deciduous woodland (Howicks Wood) would be retained and 
provide a landscape buffer to the boundary.  Standard native trees and, around 
the SUDs swale feature, marginal aquatics and wildflower/grass mix would be 
planted.  This soft landscaping helps ensure that the proposals are in line with 
the ethos and principles of the Garden City and to ensure that the development 
would integrate into its surroundings and Green Belt setting.

10.52 Internal amenity planting around the building and car park is indicated on the 
layout plans. Grass is proposed between the boundary hedgerows and the 
buildings.  Trees in the car parking areas would require structural soil pits.

10.53 Given the important role of landscaping to the character and appearance of the 
site, the implementation of the proposed Tree Protection Plan and Fencing and 
the submitted Landscaping Plan (including removal of the bunding) and planting 
schedule (using structural soils in areas of hardstanding) can be secured by 
condition.  No objections are subsequently raised with policies D1 and D8 of the 
District Plan or the NPPF.

6. Biodiversity

10.54 The site is not a Local Wildlife Site. It is nearby to Rolls and Blackthorn Woods 
and Local Wildlife sites (the Land SW of Birchall Lane/Cole Green Lane Tip and 
NE Area Pond). Herts Ecology has been consulted and they have responded that 
no protected sites or features are likely to be harmed by the proposals.   Herts 
Ecology raise no objections to the proposal provided the landscaping design 
proposals and the maintenance and management statement are adopted.

7. Land Contamination

10.55 Saved Policies R1 and R2 of the District Plan encourage the re-use of developed 
land but where this may be contaminated the Council will need to be satisfied 
that there would be no unacceptable risk to health or the environment from the 
proposed use or remediation works.  Given the site’s previous use as a landfill 
site in the 1950’s to a depth of many metres and the recent unlawful tipping and 

Page 43



storage there is contamination in the ground and extensive ground preparation 
works and remedial works that are required to make the site suitable for any 
viable built development on the site.  

10.56 The Environment Agency (EA) requires contamination on the site to be 
investigated and mitigated.  The site’s history presents a high risk of 
contamination that could be mobilised during construction to pollute controlled 
waters. Controlled waters are particularly sensitive in this location because the 
proposed development site is within Source Protection Zone (SPZ) 3 and is 
located upon Principal Aquifer. 

10.57 In addition, the Thames river basin management plan requires the restoration 
and enhancement of water bodies to prevent deterioration and promote recovery 
of water bodies. Any SUDS infiltration methods could result in a deterioration of 
groundwater quality within the Mid-Chilterns Chalk WFD groundwater body.  The 
EA, therefore, require the SUDs scheme for the site to avoid the use of infiltration 
to the ground and that development seals off the surface of the site to prevent 
further mobilisation of historic waste mass.   This can be secured via planning 
conditions.

10.58 The Public Health and Protection Department (PHP) commented that a 
contaminated land investigation has been carried out with findings showing that a 
land fill existed on site, with issues relating to ground gas and asbestos. Some 
examples of potential remediation including building mitigation measures have 
been provided, however, finalisation is yet to be confirmed on this. 

10.59 Due to requiring more detail on the remediation aspect of the development, it is 
recommended that the standard contaminated land condition is placed on the 
application, with the understanding that the first part of the condition has already 
been complied with.  This can be secured by a condition further to Policies R2 
and R7 of the WHDP2005.

8. Flood Risk

10.60 The submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) was found acceptable by the Lead 
Local Flood Authority subject to final details. They have requested a condition 
requiring implementation of the measures outlined in the FRA and a final detailed 
SUDS scheme (avoiding infiltration methods) being submitted and approved and 
a maintenance and management plan being submitted.  These can be imposed 
on any planning decision.

9. Waste management, refuse and recycling and fire hydrants

10.62 Fire hydrants were previously required by HCCTPS through the S106.  This is still 
relevant.

10.63 Hertfordshire County Council Waste Authority require that the development is 
accompanied by a Site Waste management Plan which is enforced by HCC and 
an informative can be added to any planning approval.  No objections have been 
received from the Council’s Client Services and it is considered that access to the 
site for such vehicles is acceptable.

10. Security

10.64 Policy D7 of the WHDP2005 requires new developments to be designed so as to 
contribute to safer communities and help reduce the fear of crime. Given the 

Page 44



site’s recent history, Hertfordshire Constabulary have welcomed the proposed 
security fence around the site and support the proposal from this perspective.  
Provision of the fence can be secured by planning condition.

11. Representations

10.65 A representation from David Lock Associates has been received raising concerns 
with parking and vehicle movements, which has been discussed in section 4 and 
also the impact of this development and the permitted waste management 
operations on the adjacent Highways site to the planned Birchall Garden 
Suburbs.  

10.66 Birchall Garden Suburb would be located to the south of the application site and 
is a large scale residential scheme proposed within the emerging Local Plan 
which would straddle the boundary between Welwyn Hatfield and East 
Hertfordshire.  The site is quite close to the centre of this planned scheme.  No 
planning application for this site has been submitted.  Any future application, 
would be required to design a scheme based on the characteristics of the 
surrounding area which would include this site, which as referred to above, is an 
allocated employment site in the emerging Local Plan, together with the existing 
Highlands site. East Herts Council have been consulted on this proposal and no 
comments have been received.  Accordingly, it is considered that this proposal is 
acceptable and would not give rise to any effects that would warrant a refusal of 
the scheme based on the impact that it would have to Birchall Garden Suburb.

12. Planning Obligations

10.67 Where a planning obligation is proposed for a development, the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, which came into effect from 6 April 2010 
has introduced regulation 122, which provides limitations on the use of planning 
obligations.  In summary, a planning obligation may only constitute a reason for 
granting planning permission for the development if the obligation is –

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

Regulation 123 introduces further limitations and these relate to the use of 
planning obligations for the purpose of infrastructure. Where a local authority has 
a published list for infrastructure projects, the authority may not seek 
contributions through a legal agreement through section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (S106). In this case, the authority does not have a 
published list and, therefore, it is appropriate to seek contributions through a 
S106 legal agreement. This would be in accordance with policies M4 and IM2 of 
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the Planning Obligations 
Supplementary Planning Document 2012.

10.68 The proposed development would give rise to the necessity for the following
Obligations;

i. Sustainable Transport: Green Travel Plan
ii. Monitoring of the Green Travel Plan £6,000
iii. Fire hydrants

14.  Environmental Impact Assessment

Page 45



10.69 Whilst the applicant has not submitted an Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA) screening request, the Local Planning Authority has undertaken one.  The 
development is not contained within Schedule 1 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (the 
Regulations).  The development does however fall within Schedule 2 of the 
Regulations as an Industrial Estate Development projects, as listed at 10(a) of 
Schedule 2.   

10.70 Therefore the development needs to be screened by the Local Planning Authority 
to determine whether significant effects are likely and hence whether an EIA is 
required.   

10.71 Section 1 of Schedule 3 of the EIA Regulations identifies the characteristics of 
the development that must be considered and amongst the characteristics to be 
taken into account are the size of the development, risks to human health, 
pollution and nuisances.  Section 2 of Schedule 3 requires consideration to be 
given to the environmental sensitivity of the geographical area likely to be 
affected by the development and, amongst other things, consideration should be 
given to existing land uses, densely populated areas and landscape, historical, 
cultural or archaeological significance.  Section 3 of Schedule 3 requires 
consideration of a development’s potential impact having regard to the extent of 
the impact, for example in terms of geographical area and size of the affected 
population, the nature of the impact, duration, frequency and reversibility of the 
impact, as well as the possibility of effectively reducing the impact.

10.72 The site is over 2ha in size and is contaminated.  Residential properties are 
located some distance from the site and the adjoining land use to the east and 
south is agricultural land that has previously been used for mineral extraction and 
landfill. The development is not considered to have a significant impact on the 
environment and the assessment of the above impacts is capable of being 
assessed through normal planning procedures, i.e. the consideration of the 
information expected to be submitted with the application.

10.73 Taking into account the selection criteria set out in Schedule 3 of the EIA 
Regulations, insofar as they are relevant to the proposed development, the 
scheme, subject to the normal planning controls, would not be likely to have 
significant effects on the environment because of the nature, size and location of 
the development.  Accordingly the proposed development is not considered to be 
EIA Development.

11 Conclusion

11.1 The proposal has been considered against the NPPF, relevant Development 
Plan policies of the District Plan and the emerging Local Plan. The proposal is 
considered to represent inappropriate development in the Green Belt. Additional 
harm is caused to the openness of the Green Belt and the purposes of including 
land within the greenbelt and adverse visual impact on the character and 
appearance of the area. However, other considerations include the recovery of 
despoiled land, removal of contamination, securing the site against future 
unlawful tipping and the creation of employment opportunities.  These can be 
given considerable weight as they achieve wider environmental and economic 
public benefits and are considered to warrant the very special circumstances 
necessary to set aside the identified harm to the Green Belt.

Page 46



11.2 With regard to other issues, the Local Planning Authority do not raise any 
objections to the development subject to a S106 agreement in accordance with 
paragraph 10.52 above and conditions over the following: materials to be 
submitted, car parking, cycle parking, landscaping, noise, land contamination and 
SUDS. 

12 Recommendation  

12.1 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to 

1. Completion of a S106 planning obligation on or before the 28 June 2019 for:

i. Sustainable Transport: Green Travel Plan
ii. Monitoring of the Green Travel Plan £6,000
iii. Fire hydrants

2. Referral to the Secretary of State; and 

3. Subject to the following conditions:

Conditions

No Development Shall Commence

1. The development hereby approved shall not commence until a Construction 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be 
carried out in accordance with the approved Plan.  The Construction 
Management Plan shall include details of:

a) Construction vehicle numbers, type and routing;
b) Traffic management requirements;
c) Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car 
parking);
f) Timing of construction activities;
g) Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction 
activities;
h) Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and 
temporary access to the public highway.

REASON:  To protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public 
highway and rights of way in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

2. No development other than that required to be carried out as part of an approved 
scheme of remediation shall commence until conditions (a) to (c) have been 
complied with.  If unexpected contamination is found after development has 
begun, development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority 
in writing until condition (c) has been complied with in relation to that 
contamination. 

 (a)   Submission of Remediation Scheme 

Page 47



In line with the investigation and risk assessment that has been submitted with 
this application, a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition 
suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, 
buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment must be 
prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme must include;

1. a preliminary risk assessment which has identified;
i. all previous uses; 
ii. remediation objectives and criteria including all works to be 

undertaken, 
iii. potential contaminants associated with those uses, 
iv. a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and 

receptors, potentially unacceptable risks arising from the 
contamination at the site.

v. Timetables of works and site management procedures
2. A site investigation scheme based on (1) to provide information for a 

detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, 
including those off site.

3. The results of the site investigation and the detail risk assessment 
referred to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and 
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken

The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under 
Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use 
of the land after remediation.

(b)    Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme 
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to 
carry out remediation. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks 
written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out must be produced, and if necessary identifies any 
requirements for longer term, monitoring of pollutant linkages maintenance and 
arrangements for contingency action and is subject to the approval in writing of 
the Local Planning Authority. 

(c)   Reporting of Unexpected Contamination 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in 
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
condition 1, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition 2, which is subject to 
the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 
a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing 
of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition C. 

(d)   Where indicated in the approved remediation scheme, a monitoring and 
maintenance scheme to include, monitoring the long-term effectiveness of the 
proposed remediation over the agreed period of  years, and the provision of 

Page 48



reports on the same must be prepared, both of which are subject to the approval 
in writing of the Local Planning Authority.   Following completion of the measures 
identified in that scheme and when the remediation objectives have been 
achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and 
maintenance carried out must be produced, and submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority. This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the 
Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’. 

REASON:   To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can 
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
others offsite in accordance with Policies R2 and R7 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005.

3. No development shall take place until the measures detailed in the Flood Risk 
Assessment by Hyrdrock reference 09000-HYD-xx-xx-RP-D-001 dated 1 June 
2018 have been implemented together with the following mitigation measures;

a) Limiting the surface water run-off rates to a maximum of 11l/s for all rainfall 
events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + climate change event with 
discharge into the ordinary watercourse
b) Provide attenuation to ensure no increase in surface water un-off volumes for 
all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + climate change event
c) Implement drainage strategy as indicated on the proposed drainage strategy 
drawing utilising attenuation basin and an attenuation tan.

REASON:   To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and 
future occupants in accordance with Policies R7 and R8 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005.

4. No development shall take place until a surface water drainage scheme for the 
site is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No 
infiltration to the ground is acceptable as this may mobilise existing 
contamination and change the hydrogeological risk posed by the site. The 
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details The 
surface water drainage strategy will be based on the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment carried out by Hyrdrock reference 09000-HYD-xx-xx-RP-D-001 
dated 1 June 2018.  The scheme shall also include:

a) Detailed engineering drawings of the SuDS features including their location, 
size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features including any connecting 
pipe runs and all corresponding calculations/modelling to ensure the scheme 
caters for all rainfall events upto and including the 1 in 100 year + 40% allowance 
climate change event;
b) Demonstrate an appropriate SuDS management and treatment train and 
inclusion of above ground features such as permeable paving, swales etc for the 
access road and reducing the requirements for any underground storage
c) Silt traps for protection for any residual tanked elements; and
Final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and any 
other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

REASON: The site is on top of a historic landfill located within SPZ3. It is critical 
that the development seals off the surface of the site and prevents infiltration to 

Page 49



ensure contamination in the historic waste mass is not further mobilised. To 
prevent the increased risk of groundwater and surface water contamination, both 
on-site and off-site in line with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policies R2, R7 and R8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. 

5. The protection of the retained trees shrub or hedge shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the details shown on Drawing Nos. 04 A & 05 before any 
equipment, machinery or materials are brought on to the site for the purposes of 
the development, and shall be maintained until all equipment, machinery and 
surplus materials have been removed from the site.  Nothing shall be stored or 
placed in any area fenced in accordance with this condition and the ground levels 
within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without 
the written consent of the Local Planning Authority. No fires shall be lit within 20 
metres of the retained trees and shrubs.

REASON:   The landscaping of the site is required in order to reduce the visual 
impact of the development hereby permitted in accordance with Policy D8 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

Prior to Above Ground Development

6. Prior to the commencement of the buildings hereby permitted any existing 
building on the site shall be demolished.  All the materials arising from such 
demolition shall be completely removed from the site within 1 month of the first 
occupation of the development hereby permitted.

REASON: To secure a high standard of development as the site lies outside of 
established settlement limits and within an area where permission for new 
buildings is not normally granted and in the interests of preserving the character 
and appearance of the area in accordance with Policies GBSP1, D1 and D2 of 
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

7. No above ground development shall take place until samples of materials to be 
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the building hereby permitted 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The development shall be implemented using the approved materials. 

REASON:   To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests of 
visual amenity in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005.

8. Prior to occupation of this development and upon completion of the drainage 
works, a management and maintenance plan for the SuDS features and drainage 
network must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning 
Authority.  The management and maintenance plan shall include:

a) Provision of a complete set of as built drawings including the final drainage 
layout for the site drainage network;

b) Maintenance and operational activities for the lifetime of the development; 
and

c) Arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the operation 
of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

Page 50



REASON: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants in accordance with Policies R7 and R8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005.

9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted  the following 
works shall have been completed in Coopers Green Lane; provision of ghosted 
right hand turn land (and as directed by the Highway Authority inclusion of central 
island within approach to right hand turn lane), footway/cycleway improvements 
to Coopers Green Lane (southside), and kassell kerbing to stops at Great 
Gannett/Little Ganett and Black Fan Road provided to the satisfaction of the 
Highway Authority.  Concurrent with such works, best practical endevours shall 
be taken to move the speed limit transition (50mpdh to 40mph) to the Highway 
Authority acceptance.

REASON: To ensure that the access is appropriate to the development and in 
the interest of safety and ensuring that the development is sustainable and 
accessible by all modes of travel and to comply with the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

10.Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted the vehicle access and 
HGV egress shall be provided and thereafter retained at the position shown on 
the approved plan (SK004) and constructed in accordance with details agreed 
under Condition 10 above.  Arrangement shall be made for surface water 
drainage to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not 
discharge from or onto the highway carriageway.

REASON: To ensure satisfactory development of the site and a satisfactory 
standard of highway design and construction in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

11.Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay shall 
be provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the approved plan.  
The splay shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction 
between 600mm and 2m above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.

REASON:  In the interests of highway safety and traffic movement in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework.

12.Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, a scheme for signs at 
the means of ingress and egress of the site, in compliance with Diagrams 
833/834/835/836 as set out in the Traffic Signs Regulations and General 
Directions 2002 (or any Order/Act revoking, amending or re-enacting those 
Regulations), shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The approved scheme of signs shall be installed prior to the first 
occupation of the development and thereafter retained.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety and traffic movement in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework.

13.Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted the areas set aside for 
car parking, cycle parking, servicing, loading, unloading, turning and waiting shall 
be laid out, levelled, surfaced, marked out and drained in accordance with the 
approved plans and shall be retained permanently thereafter for the free parking 
of vehicles for occupiers of the development permitted and shall not be used for 
any other purpose.

Page 51



REASON:   To ensure that the parking/manoeuvring areas are provided prior to 
the occupation of the units in the interests of highway safety in accordance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

14.Prior to the use of piling, deep foundations or other intrusive groundworks 
(investigation boreholes, tunnel shafts, ground source heating and cooling 
systems) using penetrative methods full details of such methods shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

REASON: To ensure that any proposed piling, deep foundations or other 
intrusive groundworks (investigation boreholes, tunnel shafts, ground source 
heating and cooling systems) does not harm groundwater resources in line with 
paragraph 170 of the National planning Policy Framework and Policy R2 
(Contaminated Land) of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

15.Noise from plant and equipment associated with the development hereby 
permitted, shall not exceed anything more than 10dB (LAeq) below the 
background noise level (LA90) at the nearest residential properties. 

REASON: To protect the residential amenity of residents in the nearby vicinity of 
the site in accordance with Policies D1 and R19 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

16.Prior to installation of external lighting the applicant shall submit to, for approval 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, details relating to the external lighting 
scheme (including vertical lux diagrams which show potential light trespass into 
windows of nearby residential properties). This scheme must meet the 
requirements within the Institution of Lighting Professionals guidance notes for 
the reduction of obtrusive lighting. 

REASON: To protect the amenity of residential properties in the area in 
accordance with Policies R19 and D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

Post Development

17.All agreed landscaping set out on the approved plans (1826/18-02B & 1826/18-
03B & 1826/18-RP02A & Landscape Design Statement ref 1826/18-RP01A & 
Soft Landscape Works Maintenance and Management Proposals Ref 1826/18-
RP02A) shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following 
the first occupation of the building, the completion of the development, or in 
agreed phases whichever is the sooner:  and any plants which within a period of 
10 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species.  All landscape works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards 8545: 2014.

REASON: To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details in 
the interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with Policies 
D1 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

18.Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-

Page 52



enacting that Order with or without modification), the use of the premises hereby 
permitted shall be retained in B8 Class only.

REASON:   To enable the Local Planning Authority to fully consider the effects of 
development normally permitted by that Order in the interests of ensuring that 
adequate parking is provided on site and that the proposal would not prejudice 
highway safety in accordance with Policies D1 and M14 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005, the Council's Supplementary Planning Guidance on Parking 
Standards, the Council's Interim Policy for Parking Standards and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

. 
19.The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 

accordance with the approved plans and details:
 

Plan 
Number

Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

SK001 Internal Sweep Path 
Analysis

17 October 2018

SK002 Access Strategy Swept 
Path Analysis

17 October 2018

SK003 Visibility Review 17 October 2018
SK004 Access Arrangement 17 October 2018
00050 PL2 Proposed Site Location 17 October 2018
02 C Landscape Concept 17 October 2018
03 B Landscape Sections 17 October 2018
04 A Tree Protection Plan 17 October 2018
05 Tree Protection Fence 17 October 2018
09000-HYD-
XX-XX-DR-
S-0210

P3 Drainage Strategy 17 October 2018

09000-HYD-
XX-XX-DR-
S-0201

P3 Earthworks Volumes 17 October 2018

09000-HYD-
XX-XX-DR-
S-0200

P3 Proposed Levels 17 October 2018

00050 PL3 Proposed Site Location 5 November 2018
00052 PL8 Proposed Site Layout 5 November 2018
93100 PL5 Fencing Details 5 November 2018
97001 PL5 Bicycle & Motorcycle 

Shelter Details
5 November 2018

01100 PL4 Warehouse Ground Floor 
Plan

5 November 2018

01101 PL5 Mezzanine Floor Plan 5 November 2018
01102 PL4 Roof Ga Plan 5 November 2018
02300 PL9 Elevations 5 November 2018
03500 PL5 Proposed GA Sections 5 November 2018
48100 PL5 Building External Finishes 5 November 2018
94001 PL5 External Finishes 5 November 2018

REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and details.

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT

Page 53



The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed on 
the Council's website or inspected at these offices).

INFORMATIVES

1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under any 
legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any permission 
required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, must be obtained 
from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety Executive, 
Environment Agency (Water interest etc. Neither does this permission negate or 
override any private covenants which may affect the land.

2. The applicant is advised that no development (including demolition) should 
commence until wheel-cleaning apparatus to prevent the deposit of debris, mud 
etc on the highway has been agreed with the Highway Authority. Hertfordshire 
County Council Transport Planning and Policy can be contacted on 
03001234040.

3. The decision notice contains conditions which require you to submit information 
to the Local Planning Authority and have it approved in writing before any 
development relating to the approval takes place. There is a formal procedure for 
applying to discharge conditions and further information can be found at 
http://www.welhat.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=834 . Failure to comply with this 
type of condition may result in the development being considered unlawful and 
enforcement action could be taken. If you require any clarification or information 
please contact the section on 01707 357000.

4. The granting of this permission does not convey or imply any consent to build 
upon or access from any land not within the ownership of the applicant.

5. The applicant is advised that in order to comply with this permission it will be 
necessary for the developer of the site to enter into an agreement with 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under Section 278 of the 
Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the access and 
associated road improvements. The construction of such works must be 
undertaken to   the satisfaction and specification of the Highway Authority, and 
by a contractor who is authorised to work in the public highway. Before works 
commence the applicant will need to apply to the Highway Authority to obtain 
their permission and requirements. Further information is available via the 
website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer- information/development-
management/highways-development-management.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047.

6. The applicant is advised that all new roads associated with this development will 
remain unadopted and the developer should put in place a permanent 
arrangement for long term   maintenance. At the entrance of the new estate the 
road name plate should indicate that it is a private road to inform purchasers of 
their future maintenance liabilities. Further information is available via the website 
www.hertfordshire.gov.uk./services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning 0300 
1234047.

Page 54



7. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the 
construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which 
is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public 
highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 
Authority before construction works commence. Further information is
available via the website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-
roads-and- pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-
licences/business-licences.aspxor by telephoning 0300 1234047.

8. It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, 
without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage 
along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the 
public highway or public right of way network  becoming routinely blocked (fully 
or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their 
permission and requirements before construction works commence. Further 
information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and- 
pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-
licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.

9. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud or 
other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives the 
Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party 
responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure 
that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development are in a 
condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the 
highway. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads- and-
pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047.

10.No machinery shall be operated, no process shall be carried out (except for 
office work) outside the hours of 08:00 – 18:00 Mondays to Fridays, 08:00 – 
17:00 Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

11.All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or 
at such other place as may be agreed with the Council, shall be carried out 
only between the hours of :
8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to 
Fridays 8.00am and 1.00pm Saturdays
and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays

12.The best practicable means, as defined in section 72 of the Control of 
Pollution Act 1974, to reduce noise to a minimum shall be employed at all 
times.

All plant and machinery in use shall be properly silenced and maintained 
in accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions.

All compressors shall be sound reduced models, fitted with properly lined and 
sealed acoustic covers, which shall be kept closed whenever the machines are 
in use. All ancillary pneumatic percussive tools shall be fitted with mufflers or 
silencers of the type recommended by the manufactures.

Page 55



All machines in intermittent use shall be shut down during intervening periods 
between work, or throttled down to a minimum. Noise emitting equipment, 
which is required to operate continuously, shall be housed in suitable acoustic 
enclosures.

Items of plant and equipment shall be maintained in good condition so that 
extraneous noise from mechanical vibration, squeaking or creaking is reduced 
to a minimum.

All pile driving shall be carried out by a recognised noise reducing system.

Where practical, rotary drills and bursters, actuated by hydraulic or electric 
power shall be used for excavating hard material.

In general, equipment for breaking concrete and the like, shall be 
hydraulically actuated.

‘BS 5228 Noise Control on Construction Sites’ should be referred to for guidance 
in respect of all work carried out by the developer, their main contractor and any 
sub contractors.
Any emergency deviation from these conditions shall be notified to the 
Council without delay.

Any planned deviations from these conditions for special  technical reasons, 
shall be negotiated with Council at least 14 days prior to the commencement of 
the specific work.

Permissible noise levels are not specified at this stage.

OR

It is recommended that planning permission be refused for the following reason if a 
S106 legal agreement is not completed on or before (28 June 2019) subject to the 
application not being called in by the Secretary of State:

1. The applicant has failed to satisfy the sustainability aims of the plan and to 
secure the proper planning of the area by failing to ensure that the development 
proposed would provide a sustainable form of development in mitigating the 
impact on local infrastructure and services which directly relate to the proposal 
and which is necessary for the grant of planning permission. The applicant has 
failed to provide a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). The Local Planning Authority 
considers that it would be inappropriate to secure the required financial 
contributions by any method other than a legal agreement and the proposal is, 
therefore, contrary to Policies M2 and M4 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005.

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 

Page 56



contrary to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed on 
the Council's website or inspected at these offices).

Sarah Smith & June Pagdin (Development Management)
Date 1 March 2019

Appendix 1

Page 57



Page 58



Part I
Executive Member: Councillor Perkins

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 26 MAY 2016
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR (GOVERNANCE)

6/2015/2416/MAJ

THE HOLDINGS, COLE GREEN LANE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY, AL7 

PROPOSED TWO STOREY OFFICE (B1A) USE AND GENERAL INDUSTRIAL (B2)
USE AND STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION (B8) USE ON FORMER EQUESTRIAN
LAND AS PERMITTED AND COMMENCED UNDER PLANNING PERMISSION
N6/1993/0244/OP   

APPLICANT: Mr K Alder-Barber

(Howlands)

1 Site Description

1.1 The application site comprises a parcel of land approximately 2.25 hectares in
area on the eastern edge of Welwyn Garden City.  It has a frontage onto Cole
Green Lane (B195), near to its junction with Black Fan Road and approximately
1km north of its junction with the A414.

1.2 The land is presently unused.  Landfill operations have occurred at the site in the
past but these have halted recently.   There are a number of earth bunds along
the site frontage and several mature trees on the street frontage.  The site’s
main vehicle access is from the east off Cole Green Lane and this has been
closed off with concrete barriers and the gate is locked.  A second access at the
south east corner of the site has also been closed. 

1.3 To the west the site abuts a public footpath and National Cycleway No 6.
Beyond that the land to the west is agricultural as is the land to the south of the
site.  Some of this land was previously used for mineral extraction and has
permission for a waste recycling facility (From Hertfordshire County Council).  To
the north is Howicks Wood which was a County Wildlife Site but has been down-
graded to secondary woodland since it has been cleared of vegetation in order to
remove stored materials from the site (See Planning History). 

2 The Proposal

2.1 Full planning permission is sought for a two-storey, mixed B Class use including
B1a (Office), B2 (General Industry) and B8 (Storage and Distribution).

2.2 The development would comprise one building positioned towards the rear
(western side) of the site.  The footprint would be 2,910sqm with gross
floor-space over two floors totalling approximately 5,820sqm.  The roof would be
flat with an eaves height of 7.4m, except at the two entrance points which would
be 8.7m high.

APPENDIX 1

Page 59



2.3 The floor plans show the internal space being divided internally into eight units;
four units of 455sqm and four of 846sqm. The two large and two small units on
the first floor would be offices (2,600sqm).  On the ground four one small and
one large unit would be storage (1,300sqm) and the other two would be
‘maintenance space’ (1,300sqm).

2.4 The external walls would be finished in rain-screen cladding with a corrugated
roof behind a parapet.  Indicative CGI’s show the colours as pale grey and buff.
The windows would be double glazed in light grey frames and the doors to the
main entrance would be glazed.  There would be roller shutters to the
maintenance area and secure, dark grey metal doors to the fire exits to the rear.

2.5 The eastern side of the site would contain the vehicle accesses, circulation
space, cycle parking, car parking for 122 cars and five loading bays.  The
existing two vehicle accesses would be opened.  Amended plans show the one
at the southern end of the site providing egress from the site in both directions
along Cole Green Lane, the other (the main site access) would be an access
and egress onto both directions on Cole Green Lane.

2.6 The bunds around the site perimeter also require planning permission.

3 Reason for Committee Consideration

3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee
because, as employment development in the Green Belt, it represents a
departure from the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.  The application would
need to be referred to the Secretary of State if the Committee is minded to
approve it.

4 Relevant Planning History

4.1 C6/1988/0102/OP – Equestrian Centre and related facilities.  Granted 26th July
1990 subject to a S52 agreement to vacate Mill Green Stables.

4.2 N6/1993/0244/OP – Renewal of Outline Planning Permission for an equestrian
centre with club facilities, staff house and garage.  Granted 29.12.1993.
Removed requirement for S52 agreement.

4.3 N6/1995/0393/DE – details of reserved matters (in respect of N6/1993/0244/OP)
siting, design, layout, external appearance and means of access.  Approved
7.6.1996.

4.4 N6/1995/0694 – Compaction and capping of ground with clay, including
alterations to existing ground levels in preparation for commencement of
development.  Approved 27.2.1996.

4.5 N6/1996/0496/DE - landscaping details pursuant to N6/1993/0244/OP.
Approved 26.2.1996.

4.6 N6/1996/0562/FP – Erection of detached house and double garage to be linked
to equestrian centre.  Approved 26.2.1996.

4.7  Letter dated 13.1.2000 from WHDC confirming that a material commencement of
development has occurred by virtue of the restoration works permitted under

Page 60



N6/1995/0694.  As such the equestrian centre can be commenced without the
need for a further planning application.

4.8 N6/2003/1078/FP – Garden centre to include indoor and outdoor sales area,
cafe, storage area, car parking, servicing and landscaping.  Appeal against
non-determination of the application was dismissed on 30.9.2004 for the
following reasons (in summary):

 “The need for a new garden centre does not carry sufficient weight and
there would be no significant benefits in terms of reduction in the need to
travel to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt of inappropriate development.
 The proposal would have a more detrimental visual impact on the
openness of the Green belt than the extant equestrian centre...  I find there
are no very special circumstances which would outweigh the harm I have
identified, in conflict with national and development plan policies, which
seek to protect the Green belt.”

4.9 A pre-application meeting was held with the applicant in 2015 and advice given
that the key issues relate to the Green Belt designation of the site and the history
of the site.  The proposal would be a departure from the District Plan and would
need to be referred to the Secretary of State if a positive recommendation is
reached. However, a generally positive response was provided.

Enforcement History

4.10 The site was subject of enforcement action taken by Hertfordshire County
Council in 2013.  An enforcement notice was served on 10 June 2013 alleging a
material change of use of the land from agriculture to a use for the importation,
deposit, storage, processing, sorting, recycling and transfer of waste materials.
The enforcement notice is awaiting compliance to the satisfaction of the County
Council.  However, agreement was made that this will await the submission of a
planning application. 

4.11 Welwyn Hatfield Council also took enforcement action in respect of
breaches of planning control in 2013.  Since then the unlawful uses have been
successfully stopped.  However the notice also required the removal of the
bunding which remains in place to provide necessary security whilst the owners
looked for an alternative use of the site and submission of a planning application.
 Additionally, the vehicle entrance was blocked off and site
surveillance/monitoring is carried out to prevent further breaches. 

4.12  Both enforcement notices will remain in place in perpetuity.  The application
referred to above is that being considered here.  The former owner of the site
has co-operated with the Council leading to the submission of this application.

5 Planning Policy

5.1  National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF2012) (paragraphs 79-91 Green Belt)

5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005

5.3  Supplementary Design Guidance, February 2005

Page 61



5.4  Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards (January 2004) and
Interim Parking Standards 2014

6 Site Designation

6.1 The site lies within the Green Belt and Landscape Character Area (Welwyn
Fringes) as designated in the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. Bridleway
(Welwyn Garden City 069) starts on the other side of Cole Green Lane at the
northern end of the site

7 Representations Received

7.1 The application was advertised by means of site notices and press notices.  No
responses have been at the time of completion of this report.  The consultation
period expires on the 25th May.  If comments are received, these will be
reported to Committee.

8 Consultations 

8.1 No responses were received from the following consultees:
Hertfordshire County Council - Property Services S106, Hertfordshire County
Council – Historic Environment Advisor, Hertfordshire and Middlesex Wildlife
Trust, Affinity Water, British Gas, Welwyn Hatfield Access Group, Welwyn
Garden City Chamber of Trade, BT Openreach, Welwyn Hatfield Borough
Council – Client Services, East Hertfordshire District Council.

Responses from other consultees are set out below.
. 

8.2 Hertfordshire County Council - Transport Programmes and Strategy – No
objection to amended proposals - subject to a S106 (securing a Travel Plan and
Contribution of £6,000 towards its monitoring), a Grampian condition over works
to junctions onto/from Cole Green Lane and other conditions over egress,
access, signs, visibility splays and layout of parking.

8.3 Lead Local Flood Authority (Hertfordshire County Council) –No objection
subject to implementation of the submitted FRA by Entran (Rev 1.1
January2016). Two conditions recommended: limiting surface water run-off and
requiring a more detailed SUDS scheme.

8.4 Environment Agency – No objection - subject to contamination being dealt with
to protect underlying groundwater (in addition to Environmental Health concerns
over human health).  Advises SUDS should avoid infiltration systems in areas of
contamination and foundations that cause contaminants to pollute groundwater.
Contamination Assessment should be carried out by a suitably qualified person.

8.5 Thames Water – No objection - subject to surface water flows being attenuated.
Discharge to a public sewer requires prior approval from Thames Water
Developer Services. 

8.6 Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service – No objection to the development -
subject to the provision of fire hydrants in accordance with BS750 and water
supplies in accordance with BS9999.  The site does not have adequate hydrant
provisions at present.

Page 62



8.7 Hertfordshire County Council - Waste Management – No objection to the
development.  Advise that the development will require a Site Waste
Management Plan.  The site is adjacent to an operative allocated waste site off
Birchall Lane.  The application site was the subject of Waste enforcement action
in 2013.  The enforcement notice was complied with and remains in place on the
land.  The site was a landfill site and may be contaminated with leachates and
landfill gases

8.8 Hertfordshire County Council - Ecology/Biological Records Centre – No
objection - subject to a condition requiring a Risk Avoidance Measures Method
Statement (RAMMS) and an informative over timing of site clearance or requiring
a search by qualified ecologist.  No protected sites or features are expected to
be harmed by these proposals.  The site does not lie within a LWS or other
protected area.  However, it is in an area of high priority for habitat creation. 

8.9 Hertfordshire County Council - Constabulary – Comments that the site is
isolated and has been the subject of multiple unlawful incidents.  No objection to
the development subject to conditions over security standard doors and shutters
and gates to the site entrances.

8.10 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council – Environmental Health – No objection -
subject to condition requiring thorough contamination investigation and
remediation.  Other conditions also required over noise and vibration, noise
attenuation and external lighting.

 8.11 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council – Landscape Department – No objection -
subject to landscaping scheme that enhances perimeter planting and uses
shrubs to cover ground within the site and structural soils within hardstanding
areas.  Also requires a Tree Survey and Tree Protection Plan.  

9 Analysis

9.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this
application are:

1. Whether the proposal is appropriate development within the Green
Belt or very special circumstances exist which outweigh the harm
(Local Plan Policies GBSP2, NPPF paragraphs 86-89)

2. Whether the proposal respects and relates to the character and
context of the area, (D1, D2)

3. Impact on living conditions and residential amenity of neighbouring
properties (D1, R19, R20, SPD)

4. Other material planning considerations
(i) Access, highway safety and parking (NPPF, D5, M14, SPG and

interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes)
(ii) Landscaping (D8)
(iii) Biodiversity (NPPF) (R11)
(iv) Land Contamination  (R2)
(v) Flood Risk (R7)
(vi) Waste Management, Refuse and Recycling, Fire Hyrdrant (R5,

D1, D5)
(vii) Security (D7)

Page 63



1. Whether the proposal is appropriate development within the
Green Belt or very special circumstances exist which outweigh
the harm

9.2 The application site is within the Green Belt and the key policies for this proposal
are contained in National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2012) Paragraphs
86-89 and Saved Policies SD1 and GBSP2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan
2005.  These Policies direct new development towards existing towns and
settlements outside the Green Belt.  They make clear that new development is
inappropriate in the Green Belt and therefore harmful to it and would only be
considered in very special circumstances.  Land surrounding the site has been
considered for allocation for housing as part of the Local Plan Review Process.
However, the draft local plan document for final consultation has not been
published and the Local Plan has further stages to go through before it can be
adopted.  As such, the planning status of the site is as designated in the District
Plan 2005.

9.3 Exceptions to this are limited and are set out in paragraph 89 of the NPPF.  The
proposed development would not qualify as any of the exceptions relating to
extensions or replacement buildings as there are no buildings of this scale on the
site.  Nor would it qualify as an infill development as it is on the edge of Welwyn
Garden City with open land around.  It would not qualify as an exception under
Paragraph 90 of the NPPF (mineral extraction, engineering works, local transport
infrastructure, or development under the Community Right to build).

9.4 Consequently the proposed development would not be considered an exception
under the normal policies and would be inappropriate and therefore harmful to
the Green Belt.  Paragraph 87 of the NPPF states that inappropriate
development should not be approved except in very special circumstances,
where other considerations clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.

9.5 The individual circumstances of this site need to be taken into account and
consideration given as to whether they constitute very special circumstances that
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.  These considerations include

 the previous planning history and
 the interim tipping activities that took place unlawfully on the site. 

Previous Planning History – Extant Permission for Equestrian Centre
9.6 The site has a history of permissions for an equestrian centre

(N6/1993/0244/OP).  The development is considered to have lawfully
commenced and the permissions (outline, reserved matters and discharge of
conditions) are extant.  As such they can be considered to be a reasonable
fall-back position and, therefore, a material consideration in the determination of
the current application.  The current submission cannot be considered as a
replacement building as the previously approved scheme has not been
completed.  However, it has been accepted that the previously permitted building
could be completed (having been lawfully commenced in the past).  It may,
therefore, be regarded as a legitimate fallback development. 

9.7 For the purposes of comparison, had the building been built the requirements in
Paragraph 89 for a replacement building are that it should
 be in the same use and
 not be materially larger than the one it replaces (in size and scale)
 would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt. 

Page 64



Proposed Use
9.8 The proposed employment building would not be in the same use as the

previously approved equestrian centre so would not meet this criterion.  The
proposed use of the employment building would represent a change of use from
the approved equestrian centre.  It would introduce a more urban character to
the site in terms of building style and parking patterns.  Consequently the
proposal would be inappropriate and by definition cause harm to the Green Belt.
The other two criteria (size and openness) are considered below.

Size and Scale
9.9 The extant permission provides a fall–back position with respect to the scale of

building that could lawfully result on the site.   The equestrian centre; including
an indoor arena, stables, a club house, a detached house and a garage, would
have a cumulative footprint of approximately 3,305sqm.  The stables and garage
would be single storey but the largest building, the arena, would be 78m wide,
have an eaves height of 5m and ridge height of 9.7m. Although the building has
not been constructed the development has been deemed to have commenced
and could still be completed. 

Equestrian Proposal B1, B2 & B8 Proposal
Footprint 3,305 sqm 2,980 sqm
Width of main building 78 m 96 m
Height 9.7 m 7.4 m
Depth 37 m 30 m

9.10 The proposed employment building in the current submission would be very
similar in footprint to the extant scheme; 2,980sqm (2,910sqm B Class plus
20sqm cycle stores and 50sqm bin stores).  The proposed footprint would not be
materially or disproportionately larger than the approved equestrian centre and,
consequently, it could be argued that it would not result in additional significant
harm to the Green Belt in this location than would the extant permission.

9.11 With regard to bulk of the building, it would be 19m longer but 7m less deep than
the approved equestrian arena.  The floor-space would be approximately
6,000sqm in total and it could be occupied as eight separate units with a
commensurate amount of parking on the front of the site.

9.12   However, the size and scale of the currently proposed building would be similar
to the previously approved equestrian centre buildings and, on their own, it is
considered would not cause significantly more harm to the Green Belt.  

Visual Openness
9.13 The equestrian centre would have a ridged roof (9.7m high) with pitches to the

front and rear down to an eaves height of 5m.  The current proposal would have
a flat roof 7.4m high for the majority of the building which would be less visually
intrusive in the Green Belt than the roof of the equestrian centre.  While the style
of building would differ from the equestrian centre proposal it would be lower in
height. The bunding around the site has affected the visual openness of the site
and is visually dominant compared to its condition before the unlawful tipping
commenced and compared to the boundaries of the sites around.  Its removal
was required in the Enforcement Notice.  However, it has been retained pending
the future use of the site being determined, in order to prevent further tipping.  It

Page 65



is considered that in the event of a secure use being introduced on the site, the
bunding would be an inappropriate boundary treatment for the site and should be
removed prior to the site being occupied.  More appropriate boundary treatment
would be a boundary fence in appropriate colour and density with much
enhanced tree and shrub planting.  This combined with the existing highway
vegetation would constitute a more suitable form of screening for the site.

9.14 When viewed from the public highway on Cole Green Lane the proposed
building would be screened by the agreed boundary treatment and landscaping
and the mature trees growing around the site.  When viewed from the National
Cycle Route behind the site the building would also be visually screened by the
boundary fences and vegetation.  The eastern side of the site towards Cole
Green Lane would be used for car parking, which can be visually intrusive. The
parking of cars and horse boxes would have occurred with the equestrian use
but would in all likelihood be less regular or frequent than parking at an
employment site.   While most of the site frontage would be screened, some of
the parking area would be visible through the vehicle accesses at the south and
north ends of the site and this may be slightly more intrusive than the parking
associated with the equestrian centre and consequently any landscaping scheme
will need to include planting that reduces the visual impact of the car parking.

9.15 A key part of that consideration of whether the extant permission represents a
potential fall-back position is the likelihood of the approved scheme being
implemented and it has been confirmed that the equestrian development was
commenced and could still be lawfully built.

9.16 The current planning application proposal is comparable to the previous approval
but has a less bulky roof-scape.  Consequently, it would not be materially larger
than the previously approved scheme and would not result in significantly more
harm to the visual openness of the Green Belt than the approved equestrian
scheme.  Due to the design and positioning of the proposed building it is
considered that it would not substantially reduce the visual openness of the
Green Belt in this location over and above the existing approved situation. It also
offers the potential to remove the bunding from the site perimeter and enhance
the openness of the Green Belt.

9.17 Because of the change of use the proposed development cannot be considered
an exception to the principles of the NPPF 2012 and the policies of the Local
Plan.  It would, therefore, be contrary to the Policy in NPPF 2012 and to Saved
Policies GBSP2 and RA4 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. 

Very Special Circumstances – Previous Unlawful Use of the Land
9.18 However, consideration also needs to be given to other factors that may

constitute very special circumstances to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt
that would result from the change of use.   Paragraph 91 of the NPPF indicates
that wider environmental benefits may constitute very special circumstances

9.19    Since the approval was given for the equestrian centre and the land was
prepared for that development, the site became used for storage of skips, waste
materials, plant and machinery by a lessee of the site as well as the construction
of the bunding.  Both Hertfordshire County Council and Welwyn Hatfield Borough
took enforcement action against these activities and development in 2013.  The
site owner cleared the site of these activities and originally employed security

Page 66



staff to protect the site round the clock to prevent repeat breaches of the site’s
security. In addition, bunds have been installed around the site and across the
accesses remain in place. Hertfordshire Constabulary and Hertfordshire County
Council Minerals and Waste Team have confirmed these events. 

9.20 While the site stays vacant it remains vulnerable to further unlawful tipping
activity.  A permanent use is sought to resolve this issue.  The proposed mixed B
Class use, by virtue of its more regular and frequent occupation of the land,
would be likely to achieve the benefits of making the site secure, preventing
further tipping and, in addition, remediating any contamination on the land.  It is
considered more likely to achieve these benefits than leaving the land.   The
removal of the threat of tipping and remediation of contamination (resulting from
the previous unauthorised storage of waste on the site) can be considered as
wider environmental benefits that can be weighed against the harm to the Green
Belt of the proposed development.

Conclusion on Green Belt terms.
9.21    The proposed change of use would be contrary to Green Belt Policies of the

NPPF 2012 and the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.  However, the approved
equestrian scheme can be considered to be a reasonable fall-back position for
the amended submission.  The proposed buildings would not be materially larger
than the permitted scheme and the openness of the Green Belt would not be
significantly affected by them.  In addition, the more recent history and
vulnerability of the site to unlawful waste tipping, in this particular case, constitute
very special circumstances.  The proposed use would be of a nature that would
be likely to prevent further unlawful activity on the site.  These factors, together
with the significant wider environmental benefits of the scheme are, therefore
considered to outweigh the inappropriateness of the development and any harm
to the Green Belt. 

2. Whether the proposal respects and relates to the character and
context of the area. (D1, D2, D8, SDG and NPPF)

9.22 Local Plan Policies D1 (Quality of Design) and D2 (Character and Context) aim
to ensure a high quality of design and that new development respects and
relates to the character and context of the area in which it is proposed.  These
policies are expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design Guidance
(SDG) which requires the impact of a development to be assessed with regard to
its bulk, scale and design and how it harmonises with the existing buildings and
surrounding area. NPPF paragraph 64 emphasises the importance of good
design in context that improves the character and quality of an area and the way
it functions.

9.23 The site is beyond the eastern edge of Welwyn Garden City.  It is separated by
treed bunds from houses 250m away to the north and west and from a landfill
site to the south.  To the east lies open countryside and the boundary with East
Hertfordshire District. 

9.24 The area is in the Green Belt and there are no substantial buildings along this
stretch of Cole Green Lane, although there is a building on the adjoining Tarmac
land.  The application site has been the subject of unlawful storage of waste and
associated activities.  As part of measures to prevent the unlawful activities 4m
high bunds were installed around the site perimeter and these, in turn, are
screened by mature trees and undergrowth outside the site on the Highway
verge.  Views into and across the site have been reduced by the bunds.  It is

Page 67



considered  appropriate to remove the bunds and to replace them with
alternative secure boundary treatment with fences and enhanced planting.

9.25 The proposed buildings would be positioned on the western side of the site away
from the road.  The submitted plans show the site would have two points of
access from Cole Green Lane.  The concrete blocks outside the northern site
access would be removed and Hertfordshire Constabulary has requested that
secure gates be installed at both site accesses.  The replacement of the
concrete blocks with secure gates would represent an improvement to the
appearance of the site.

 9.26   The proposed building would be 7m high and set back 47m from the road.  The
external walls would be finished in cladding, introducing an urban element to this
Green Belt context.  It would be visible to some extent through the site accesses
and boundary planting. The visual impact could be mitigated by careful use of
materials and screening.  Enhancements to planting on the boundary of the site
and the use of shrubs within the site, rather than low grass are recommended
(both for their contribution to screening and their resilience within car parks).

9.27    In terms of the character and context of the area, subject to mitigation of the
building’s appearance by use of materials and screening, the proposed scheme
is considered to have an impact very similar to the extant equestrian scheme.

3. Impact on living conditions and residential amenity of
neighbouring properties (D1, R19, R20, SDG and NPPF)

9.28 Policies D1 and the Supplementary Design Guidance (2005) (SDG) aim to
preserve neighbouring amenity.  The SDG sets out the Council’s guidelines with
regard to residential development for the provision of adequate amenity for
future occupants and the protection of neighbouring residential amenity.
Guidance in Paragraph 17 of the NPPF seeks high quality design and good
standards of amenity for all existing and future occupiers of land and buildings.

9.29 Policies R19 and R20 seek to prevent new development from resulting in noise
and light nuisance to existing sensitive uses such as residential.

9.30 The nearest neighbours are the residential properties in Thistle Grove and
Holwell Hyde over 250m away.  The proposed development would be a sufficient
distance away to not result in an overbearing impact on or loss of sun or daylight
or privacy to the nearest residential properties. 

9.31 The potential for noise nuisance during construction is reduced by the distance
from the nearby housing.  However, some noise may travel and a condition can
be imposed regarding limiting the noise from machinery used within the site and
an informative can be added advising of the Environmental Health regulations
over construction noise and hours.

9.32 There is potential for light nuisance from security lighting associated with the
future use of the site.  Further to Policy R20 a condition is recommended is
imposed requiring details of any external lighting to be submitted and approved
prior to their installation.

9.33 Having regard to the above, it is considered, that subject to conditions, the
development would not detrimentally impact upon neighbouring amenity in terms
living conditions and noise and light nuisance.  The proposal would provide

Page 68



adequate amenity for future occupiers of the units.  The proposal is, therefore,
considered to comply with Policies D1, R19 and R20 of the Welwyn Hatfield
District Plan 2005, the Supplementary Design Guidance (2005) and Section 7 of
the NPPF.

4. Other Material Planning Considerations

(i) Highway Safety and Parking
9.34    The existing access to the site from Cole Green Lane would be used as an

all-movement priority junction.  The new access to be created at the south east
corner of the site would allow egress only.  The access arrangements have been
subject to a Stage 1 Safety Audit and would provide adequate visibility splays
(160m in each direction) and reserve capacity at the junctions during the morning
peak and for HGV’s during the day. Hertfordshire County Council Transport
Programmes and Strategy (HCCTPS) has no objection to the amended access
designs and would seek more detailed design and implementation of the new
junctions via a Section 278 Agreement

 9.35 The layout of the site has been revised with regard to HGV site access and
circulation and could accommodate five HGV’s at one time.  Consequently, the
site would provide adequate access for Refuse and Emergency Vehicles.

Site Accessibility
 9.36   With regard to site access for non-car modes of travel, Policy D5 of the Welwyn

Hatfield District Plan 2005 requires all new development to make provision for
pedestrian, cyclist and passenger transport facilities. 

9.37 The site is remote from the urban area of Welwyn Garden City with local
footways and cycle-ways ceasing in the vicinity of the Cole Green Lane/Black
Fan Road junction.  The site is, therefore, currently inaccessible by non-car
modes of transport, contrary to the NPPF and Policy D5 of the WHDP 2005.

9.38 The proposal now includes off-site works to provide a 2m wide foot and cycle
way into the site’s northern access from the junction with Black Fan Road. The
off-site elements shall be secured by a Section 278 (under The Highway Act)
and constructed to HCCTPS’s requirements.  Cycle parking facilities are
proposed (see below).   Bus stops on Black Fan Road and Little Gannet
currently do not meet standards for accessible bus stops (shelters and kassell
(raised) kerbing).  Works to bring these bus stops up to standard shall be
secured via a Section 278 agreement further to a Grampian-style planning
condition (Condition No 4).  The details are to be confirmed by the HCCTPS but
shall include the following headings:  ghosted right hand turn from south bound
carriageway, speed limit transition, footway and cycleway improvements to south
side of Cole Green Lane and Kassell kerbing to bus stops at Great Ganett/Little
Ganett and Black Fan Road.

9.39 A Travel Plan Statement forms part of the Transport Statement submitted with
the application.  A travel plan is a requirement of the Highway Authority for
developments of this type and scale and a Travel Plan Monitoring and Support
contribution of £6,000 is sought.   This shall be secured by a S106 planning
obligation (see below).  The applicant has indicated their agreement to make this
contribution.

Page 69



Parking
9.40    The Council’s Local Plan Policy M14 and the Parking Standard Supplementary

Planning Guidance (SPG) use maximum standards which are not consistent with
the NPPF and are, therefore, not afforded significant weight. In light of the above
the Council has produced an Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and
Garage Sizes that states that parking provision will be assessed on a case by
case basis and the existing maximum standards within the SPG should be taken
as guidance only.

9.41    The development proposes 2,600sqm B1(a) and 1,300sqm B8 and 1,300sqm of
B2 General Industry.  The demand based parking standard for B1 uses is 1 car
space per 30-35sqm, for B8 is 1 space per 75 sqm and for B2 is 1 space per
50sqm.  The parking requirement, therefore, would be:

B1(a) 74-87 spaces

B8 17 spaces

B2 26 spaces

 Total 117- 130 spaces.

   The proposed scheme would provide 122 parking spaces in the forecourt.  This
would be sufficient to meet the guidelines set out in the SPG. The SPG Parking
Standards require spaces to be designed for people with mobility disabilities
(wider spaces).  The level of provision for a development of this size is 2 spaces
plus 5% of total capacity, which totals eight spaces.  These would need to be
accommodated near to the building entrances.  Revisions to the parking plan to
include these spaces can be secured by condition.

9.42    Cycle parking requirements are for one long term space per 500sqm and 1 long
term space per 10 staff.  The floor-space of 5,400sqm would generate a demand
for 10-11 spaces.  As the development is not occupied, staffing levels are not
established.  However, using average floor-space requirements for the different
uses based on the floor-space, the site could accommodate up to 130
employees with cycle parking demand for 13 spaces.  A total of 23 spaces would
need to be provided on the site.  A cycle store for 16 bicycles in the car park is
shown on the site layout.  There is space around it for further provision to be
made without affecting car parking levels or planting.  Drawings show it would be
weatherproof and sufficiently secure during normal work hours.  The number of
spaces to be provided for shall be increased to 23 and the installation and
maintenance of this parking shall be secured by a condition.

9.43    The proposal would provide adequate parking for the future users of the site. It is
considered, therefore, that the proposal is acceptable in term of parking
provision and in accord with Saved Policy M14 of Welwyn Hatfield District Plan
2005, the Supplementary Planning Guidance Parking Standards (2004), Interim
Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 and Paragraph 39 of
the NPPF.

(ii) Landscaping
9.44 Policy D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 requires all developments to

include landscaping as an integral part of the overall design and existing
landscape features, such as trees, to be retained and enhanced.

Page 70



9.45 The site has perimeter trees and undergrowth on the adjacent highway land.
The existing trees around and within the site are very important as a whole and
in their role as screening.  The Landscape Department has commented that the
perimeter planting should be supplemented with new native, mixed broad leaved
and conifer trees.  Internal amenity planting around the building and car park is
indicated on the layout plans.  The Landscape Department has commented that
this should be shrubs rather than grass, may be non-native and should include a
range of plants.  Trees in the car parking areas would require structural soil pits. 

9.46 Given the important role of landscaping to the character and appearance of the
site, a Tree Survey and Tree Protection Plan shall be required by condition.  A
Landscaping Plan (including removal of the bunding) and planting schedule
(using structural soils in areas of hardstanding) will also be required.

(iii) Biodiversity
9.47    The existing site and development is such that there is not a reasonable

likelihood of European Protected Species (EPS) being present on site nor would
an EPS offence be likely to occur, as defined within the Conservation
Regulations.  It is therefore not necessary to consider the Conservation
Regulations 2010 or (Amendment) Regulations 2012, National Planning Policy
Framework (paragraphs 118-119), Natural Environment & Rural Communities
(NERC) Act 2006 (section 40), Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 as well as
Circular 06/05. 

9.48   The presence of protected species is a material consideration, in accordance
with the above legislation and guidance.  The site is not a Local Wildlife Site.  It
is nearby to Rolls and Blackthorn Woods and Local Wildlife sites (the Land SW
of Birchall Lane/Cole Green Lane Tip and NE Area Pond). Herts Ecology has
been consulted and they have responded that no protected sites or features are
likely to be harmed by the proposals.  However, the protection of nearby habitats
is required during construction and there are opportunities for ecological gain on
the site. These measures can be secured by a condition requiring a Risk
Avoidance Measures Method Statement as described in Section 6 of the
submitted Ecological Report by Seasons Ecology (January 2016).

9.50 Herts Ecology has also commented that the bare ground on the site may
become a site for nesting of wild birds.  A precautionary approach is
recommended and an  informative advising the site owner of their responsibilities
towards wild birds can be added to any planning approval. 

 (iv) Land Contamination
9.51    Saved Policies R1 and R2 of the WHDP 2005 encourage the re-use of

developed land but where this may be contaminated the Council will need to be
satisfied that there would be no unacceptable risk to health or the environment
from the proposed use or remediation works.

9.52 Given the site’s previous use as a landfill site and the recent unlawful tipping and
storage there is potential for contamination on the land, including the bunds.
Both the Environment Agency (with regard to groundwater) and Environmental
Health Department (with regard to human living conditions) require
contamination on the site to be investigated and mitigated.  This can be secured
by a condition further to Policies R2 and R7 of the WHDP2005. 

 (v) Flood Risk and Drainage

Page 71



9.53 The submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) was found acceptable by the Lead
Local Flood Authority subject to final details.  They have requested a condition
requiring implementation of the measures outlined in the FRA and that further
details be submitted prior to commencement of development.  These can be
imposed on any planning decision.

(vi) Waste Management, Refuse and Recycling, Fire Hydrant
9.54 Hertfordshire County Council Waste Authority has required that the development

is accompanied by a Site Waste Management Plan.  This is enforced by HCC
and an informative can be added to any planning decision.  The County
Council’sFire and Rescue service have requested the provision of fire hydrants
at the site.  These can be secured by S106 (see below).

(vii) Security
9.55 Policy D7 of the WHDP2005 requires new developments to be designed so as to

contribute to safer communities and help reduce the fear of crime.  Given the
site’s recent history, Hertfordshire Constabulary have requested that the site and
buildings be made secure.  The requested condition over the standard of doors,
shutters and gates to be installed can be imposed on any planning decision.

(viii) Planning Obligations
9.56 Where a planning obligation is proposed for a development, The Community

Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, which came into effect from 6 April
2010,has introduced regulation 122, which provides limitations on the use of
planning obligations.  In summary, a planning obligation may only constitute a
reason for granting planning permission for the development if the obligation is –

 (a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

 (b) directly related to the development; and

 (c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

 Regulation 123 introduces further limitations and these relate to the use of
planning obligations for the purpose of infrastructure.  Where a local authority
has a published list for infrastructure projects, the authority may not seek
contributions through a legal agreement through section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 (S106).  In this case, the authority does not have a
published list and, therefore, it is appropriate to seek contributions through a
S106 legal agreement.  This would be in accordance with policies M4 and IM2 of
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the Planning Obligations
Supplementary Planning Document 2012.

9.57 The proposed development would give rise to the necessity for the following
obligations:

 1. Sustainable Transport:  Green Travel Plan

 2. Monitoring of the Green Travel Plan £6,000

 3. Fire hydrants

Conditions
9.58    The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) governs the use of conditions

in planning and the power to impose conditions when granting planning
permission is very wide.  If used properly, conditions can enhance the quality of

Page 72



development and enable many development proposals to proceed where it
would otherwise have been necessary to refuse planning permission.  The
objectives of planning, however, are best served when that power is exercised in
such a way that conditions are clearly seen to be fair, reasonable and
practicable.  Conditions should only be imposed where they are necessary and
reasonable, as well as enforceable, precise and relevant both to planning and to
the development to be permitted. In considering whether a particular condition is
necessary, both officers and members should ask themselves whether planning
permission would have to be refused if that condition were not to be imposed. If
it would not, then the condition needs special and precise justification.

10. Conclusion

10.1 The proposed development is not considered to be in accordance with policies of
the NPPF in relation to the Green Belt, and Saved Policies GBSP1, GBSP2 of
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.  However, the scale and size of the
proposed building would reflect the previously approved development scheme
(N6/1993/0244/OP) sufficiently for that scheme to be considered a reasonable
fall-back position reflective of the scale of building likely to result on the site.  The
proposed buildings would not be materially larger than the permitted scheme and
the openness of the Green Belt would not be significantly affected by them.  This
combined with the more recent history and vulnerability of the site to unlawful
waste tipping constitute very special circumstances.  The proposed use would be
of a nature that would be likely to prevent further unlawful activity on the site and
the significant wider environmental benefits of the scheme are, therefore
considered to outweigh the inappropriateness of the development in the Green
Belt. 

10.2 In terms of the character and context of the area, subject to mitigation of the
building’s appearance by use of materials and screening, the proposed scheme
is considered to be in accordance with Saved Policies D1, and D2 of the Welwyn
Hatfield District Plan 2005 and Section 7 of the NPPF.  Subject to conditions, the
development would not detrimentally impact upon neighbouring amenity in terms
living conditions and noise and light nuisance.  The proposal would provide
adequate amenity for future occupiers of the units. For these reasons the
application is recommended for approval subject to conditions.

10.3 The impacts of the proposal have also been considered in relation to the impacts
on the character of the area, the amenity of future occupants and the amenity of
neighbouring dwellings and other relevant material considerations.  It is
concluded that the proposal is on balance acceptable and, as such, is in
accordance with the relevant policies of the adopted Welwyn Hatfield District
Plan 2005, adopted Supplementary Planning and Design Guidance and with the
NPPF.

11 Recommendation

11.1 It is recommended that planning permission be approved subject to

Referral to the Secretary of State and

1. Completion of a S106 planning obligation for

(a) Fire hydrants
(b) Sustainable Transport Green Travel Plan

Page 73



(c) Travel Plan Monitoring £6,000

On or before 26th August 2016 unless the application is called in

And the following conditions:

1. C.30.1 – The development/works shall not be started
and completed other than in accordance with the
approved plans and details: 

Site Location Plan @ scale 1:1250 & 15/355/P10 &15/355/P11 & 15/355/P12
& 15/355/P14/RevB & 15/355/P15RevA & 15/355/P17 & 15/355/P18
received and dated 4.12.2015 and 15/355/P13/RevB received and dated
14.4.2016.

REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with
the approved plans and details.

Pre-development

2. C.6.1 – Samples of materials.  No development shall
take place until samples of materials to be used in the
construction of the external surfaces of the building
hereby permitted have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be implemented using the
approved materials.

REASON:   To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests
of visual amenity in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn
Hatfield District Plan 2005.

3. Prior to the commencement of development hereby
permitted any existing building on the site shall be
demolished.  All the materials arising from such
demolition shall be completely removed from the site
within 1 month of the first occupation of the
development hereby permitted.

REASON:   To secure a high standard of development as the site lies
outside of established settlement limits and within an area where permission
for new buildings is not normally granted and in the interests of preserving
the character and appearance of the area in accordance with Policies
GBSP2, D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

4. No development shall commence until the following
works have been completed in Cole Green Lane:

(a)provision of ghosted right hand turn lane,

(b) speed limit transition (40mph to 50mph) relocated in accordance with a
plan that has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority inclusion of a central island within the approach to the
right hand turn lane) and the associated Traffic Regulation Order sealed,

Page 74



(c)footway/cycleway improvements to Cole Green Lane (southside), and

 (d)Kassell kerbing to bus stops at Great Ganett/Little Ganett and Black Fan
Road provided to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

REASON:  To ensure that the access is appropriate to the development and
in the interests of safety and ensuring that the development is sustainable
and accessible by all modes of travel and to ensure the development
complies with paragraphs 32 and 35 of the National Planning Policy
Framework 2012, enabling access to the site for all people by modes other
than the private motor car.

2. The development hereby approved shall not commence until a Construction
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the construction of the development
shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved Plan.  The
Construction Management Plan shall include details of:

a) construction vehicle numbers, type and routing;

b) traffic management requirements;

c) construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car
parking);

d) siting and details of wheel washing facilities;

e) cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;

f) timing of construction activities to avoid school pick up/drop off times;

g) provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of
construction activities;

h) post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and
temporary access to the public highway.

REASON:  To protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the
public highway and rights of way.

3. Not withstanding the approved site layout plan no development shall take
place until full details on a suitably scaled plan of both hard and soft
landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  The development shall not be carried out other
than in accordance with the approved details.

The landscaping details to be submitted shall include:

(a) original levels and proposed finished levels of any earthworks to be
carried out including removal of bunding

(b)  means of enclosure and boundary treatments including boundary fences
and enhanced planting

(c)  car parking layout and markings

Page 75



(d)  vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas

(e)  hard surfacing, other hard landscape features and materials

(f)  existing trees, hedges or other soft features to be retained

(g)  planting plans, including specifications of species, sizes, planting
centres, number and percentage mix, and details of seeding or turfing

h) details of cellular confinement systems or structural soil tree planting pits
for trees in car park areas

(i)  details of planting or features to be provided to enhance the value of the
development for biodiversity and wildlife

 (j)  location of service runs

(k)  management and maintenance details

REASON:   The landscaping of this site is required in order to protect and
enhance the existing visual character of the area and to reduce the visual
and environmental impacts of the development hereby permitted in
accordance with Policies GBSP2, D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District
Plan 2005.

4. The plans and particulars submitted in accordance with condition 6 above
shall include:

(a)  a plan showing (i) the location of, and allocating a reference number to,
each existing tree on the site which has a stem with a diameter, measured
over the bark at a point 1.5 m above ground level exceeding 75 mm, showing
which trees are to be retained and the crown spread of each retained tree
and (ii) the location of hedges to be retained and details of species in each
hedge.

(b)  details of the species, diameter (measured in accordance with paragraph
(a) above), and the approximate height, and an assessment of the general
state of health and stability, of each retained tree and of each tree which is
on land adjacent to the site and to which paragraphs (c) and (d) below apply.

(c)  details of any proposed topping or lopping of any retained tree or of any
tree on land adjacent to the site.

(d)  details of any proposed alterations in existing ground levels, and of the
position of any proposed excavation, within the crown spread of any retained
tree or of any tree on land adjacent to the site/within a distance from any
retained tree, or any tree on land adjacent to the site, equivalent to half the
height of that tree.

(e)  details of the specification and position of fencing and of any other
measures to be taken for the protection of any retained tree or hedge from
damage before or during the course of development.

Page 76



In this condition, retained tree or hedge, means an existing tree or hedge
which is to be retained in accordance with the plans referred to in paragraph
(a) above.

REASON:   The landscaping of the site is required in order to reduce the
visual impact of the development hereby permitted in accordance with Policy
D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

5. No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works,
site clearance) until a method statement describing Risk Avoidance and
Ecological Enhancement Measures (described in S6 of the Ecological
Report (Seasons Ecology, January 2016) has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The method statement
shall include the following:

a) purpose and objectives for the proposed works;

b) detailed design(s) and/or working methods necessary to achieve stated
objectives (including where relevant, type and source of materials to be
used);

c) extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale maps
and plans;

d) timetable for implementation;

e) means of disposal of any waste arising from the works.

The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved
details and shall be maintained in that manner thereafter.

REASON:  To ensure that adjacent habitats are not adversely affected by
the proposed development and to provide ecological gain.

6. No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage
scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles, and an
assessment of the hydrological and hydro-geological context of the
development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.  The drainage strategy should demonstrate the surface
water run-off generated up to and including the 1 in 100 year +30% for
climate change critical storm will not exceed the run-off from the
undeveloped site following the corresponding rainfall event.  The scheme
shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details
before the development is completed.

The scheme shall also include:

a) Infiltration tests conducted to BRE Digest 365 Standards if infiltration is
proposed;

b) Provision of a fully detailed drainage plan  showing pipe diameters, pipe
runs, outlet points and location of Sustainable Urban Drainange Systems
features and supporting calculations;

c) Detailed surface water run-off and volume calculations for 1:100 year
(+20%CC) are required within the surface water drainage assessment, which

Page 77



ensures that the site has the capacity to accommodate all rainfall events up
to 1:100 year (=20%CC);

d) A timetable for its implementation;

e) A management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development
which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or
statutory undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of
the sustainable urban drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.

REASON:   To protect the surrounding environment from pollution in
accordance with Policies R7 and R8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan
2005.

7. No development other than that required to be carried out as part of an
approved scheme of remediation shall commence until conditions (a) to (d)
have been complied with.  If unexpected contamination is found after
development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site
affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the
Local Planning Authority in writing until condition (d) has been complied with
in relation to that contamination.

(a)   Site Characterisation

An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment
provided with the planning application, must be completed in accordance
with a scheme to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the
site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report
of the findings must be produced.  The contents of the scheme and the
written report are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning
Authority. The report of the findings must include:

(i)   a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination

(ii)   an assessment of the potential risks to:

•   human health

•   property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,
woodland and service lines and pipes

•   adjoining land

•  groundwaters and surface waters

•   ecological systems

•   archaeological sites and ancient monuments 

(iii)   an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred
option(s).

Page 78



This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment
Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination,
CLR 11’.

(b)   Submission of Remediation Scheme

A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the
intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and
other property and the natural and historical environment must be prepared,
and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management
procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990
in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.

(c)    Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme

The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with
its terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required
to carry out remediation. The Local Planning Authority must be given two
weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme
works.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation
scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the
remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the approval in
writing of the Local Planning Authority.

(d)   Reporting of Unexpected Contamination

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported
in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and
risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of
condition 1, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must
be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition 2, which is
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation
scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the
approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with
condition C.

(e)   Where indicated in the approved remediation scheme, a monitoring and
maintenance scheme to include, monitoring the long-term effectiveness of
the proposed remediation over the agreed  period of  years, and the
provision of reports on the same must be prepared, both of which are subject
to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.   Following
completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the
remediation objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the
effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out must be
produced, and submitted to the Local Planning Authority. This must be

Page 79



conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’.

REASON:   To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers,
neighbours and others offsite in accordance with Policies R2 and R7 of the
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

8. Details of any external lighting proposed in connection with the development
hereby approved, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development. The
development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the
approved details.  All fixed lights shall be fitted with fully adjustable hoods to
minimise glare and light pollution. 

REASON:   In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and the
protection of residential amenity of neighbouring properties in accordance
with Policies D1 and R20 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

Prior to occupation

9. Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted the HGV egress
shall be provided and thereafter retained at the position shown on the
approved plan (in principle plan 15/355/P13/RevB) and constructed in
accordance with details agreed under Condition 3 above.  Arrangement
shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposed of
separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway
carriageway.

REASON: To ensure satisfactory development of the site and a satisfactory
standard of highway design and construction.

10.Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted the vehicle access
shall be provided and thereafter retained at the position shown on the
approved plan (in principle plan SK06 26-4-16) and constructed in
accordance with details agreed under Condition 3 above.  Arrangement
shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposed of
separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway
carriageway.

REASON:  To ensure satisfactory development of the site and a satisfactory
standard of highway design and construction.

11.Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay
shall be provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the
approved plan.  The splay shall thereafter be maintained at all times free
from any obstruction between 600mm and 2m above the level of the
adjacent highway carriageway.

REASON:  In the interests of highway safety and traffic movement.

12.Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, a scheme for
signs at the means of ingress and egress of the site, in compliance with
Diagrams 833/834/835/836 as set out in the Traffic Signs Regulations and

Page 80



General Directions 2002 (or any Order/Act revoking, amending or
re-enacting those Regulations), shall be submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority.  The approved scheme of signs shall be installed
prior to the first occupation of the development and thereafter retained.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety and traffic movement.

13.Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted the areas set
aside for car parking for 122 cars (including 8 disabled spaces), cycle
parking for 23 bicycles, servicing, loading, unloading, turning and waiting
shall be laid out, levelled, surfaced, marked out and drained in accordance
with the approved plans (and for the cycle parking in accordance with a plan
to be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority)
and shall be retained permanently thereafter for the free parking of vehicles
for occupiers of the development permitted and shall not be used for any
other purpose.

REASON:   To ensure that the parking/manoeuvring areas are provided prior
to the occupation of the units in the interests of highway safety in accordance
with the National Planning Policy Framework.

14.  All agreed landscaping comprised in the above details of landscaping shall
be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the first
occupation of the building, the completion of the development, or in agreed
phases whichever is the sooner:  and any plants which within a period of 5
years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species.  All landscape works shall be
carried out in accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards
8545: 2014.

REASON: To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details
in the interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with
Policies GBSP2, D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

15.Before the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the
following security features shall be installed at the site:

a) all doors to be of a minimum security standard such as LPS1175sr2;

b) all ground floor glazing to be of a minimum security standard such as
PAS24 and fitted with laminated glass to all panels;

c) shutters to be installed should be to a minimum security standard such as
LPS1175sr2;

d) gates to the site accesses to prevent vehicles entering the site when it is
not occupied/outside of operational hours.

These features shall be maintained thereafter.

REASON:  To ensure adequate security of the site and development further
to Policies of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Policy D7 of
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

Page 81



Post Development

16.Noise resulting from the use of the plant, machinery or equipment shall not
exceed a level of 5dBA below the existing background level (or 10dBA
below if there is a tonal quality) when measured according to BS4142:2014,
at a point one metre external to the nearest noise sensitive building.

REASON:   To protect the residential amenity of adjoining occupiers in
accordance with Policy R19 & D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

Positive and Proactive Statement
The decision has also been made taking into account, where practicable and
appropriate the requirements of paragraphs 186-187 of the National
Planning Policy Framework and material planning considerations do not
justify a decision contrary to the development.

Informatives

1. The applicant is advised that in order to comply with this permission it will
be necessary for the developer of the site to enter into an agreement with
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under Section 278 of
the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the
access and associated road improvements.  The construction of such
works must be undertaken to the satisfaction and specification of the
Highway Authority, and by a contractor who is authorised to work in the
public highway.  Before works commence the applicant will need to apply
to the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements.
Further information is available via the website
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning
0300 1234047.

2. The applicant is advised that all new roads associated with this
development will remain unadopted and the developer should put in place
a permanent arrangement for long term maintenance.  At the entrance of
the site the road name plate should indicate that it is a private road to
inform purchasers of their future maintenance liabilities.  Further
information is available via the website
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning
0300 1234047.

3. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the
construction of development should be provided within the site on land
which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere
with the public highway.  If this is not possible, authorisation should be
sought from the Highway Authority before construction works commence.
Further information is available via the website
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning
0300 1234047.

4. It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any
person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct
the free passage along a highway or public right of way.  If this
development is likely to result in the public highway or public right of way
network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must
contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements

Page 82

http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/


before construction works commence.  Further information is available via
the website http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by
telephoning 0300 1234047.

5. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit
mud or other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same
Act gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the
expense of the party responsible.  Therefore, the best practical means
shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during
construction of the development are in a condition such as not to emit
dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway.  Further
information is available via the website
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning
0300 1234047.

6. In order to protect breeding birds, their nests, eggs and young, site
clearance should only be carried out during the period October to
February.  If this is not possible then a pre-development (same-day)
search of the area should be made by a suitably experienced ecologist.  If
active nests are found, then clearance work must be delayed until any
juvenile birds have left the nest and have become fully independent, or
professional ecological advice has been taken on how best to proceed.

7. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required
under any legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts.
Any permission required under the Building Regulations or under any
other Act, must be obtained from the relevant authority or body e.g.
Hertfordshire County Council for works to kerbs, Fire Officer, Health and
Safety Executive, Environment Agency (Water interest etc. Neither does
this permission negate or override any private covenants which may affect
the land.

8. The decision notice contains conditions which require you to submit
information to the Local Planning Authority and have it approved in writing
before any development relating to the approval takes place. There is a
formal procedure for applying to discharge conditions and further
information can be found at
http://www.welhat.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=834. Failure to comply with
this type of condition may result in the development being considered
unlawful and enforcement action could be taken. If you require any
clarification or information please contact the section on 01707 35700.

9. You are advised that connections to a public sewer require prior approval
from Thames Water Development Services who can be contacted on
0800 009 3921.

10.  You are advised that, because of the scale of the development, you will
be required to submit a Sustainable Waste Management Plan for
approval by the Local Waste and Minerals Authority.  The sustainable
Waste Management Plan shall include details of waste arising from
demolition and construction, the volumes of waste and identify methods to
re-use, recycle or recover materials to minimise waste and the volume of
waste to be disposed of off-site.  Further information is available from
spatialplanning@hertfordshire.gov.uk.

Page 83

mailto:spatialplanning@hertfordshire.gov.uk


11.The development will involve the numbering of properties and naming
new streets. The applicant MUST contact Welwyn Hatfield Borough
Council, Transportation (Patrycja Kowalczuk 01707 357546 before any
name or number is proposed. This is a requirement of the Public Health
Act 1875 and Public Health (Amendment) Act 1907.

12.Construction Noise and Dust Control

Noise
1. All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary,
or at such other place as may be agreed with the Council, shall be carried
out only between the hours of : 8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays
8.00am and 1.00pm Saturdays and at no time on Sundays and Bank
Holidays.
2. The best practicable means, as defined in section 72 of the Control of
Pollution Act 1974, to reduce noise to a minimum shall be employed at all
times.

3. All plant and machinery in use shall be properly silenced and maintained
in accordance with the manufacturers' instructions.

4. All compressors shall be sound reduced models, fitted with properly lined
and sealed acoustic covers, which shall be kept closed whenever the
machines are in use. All ancillary pneumatic percussive tools shall be fitted
with mufflers or silencers of the type recommended by the manufactures.

5. All machines in intermittent use shall be shut down during intervening
periods between work, or throttled down to a minimum. Noise emitting
equipment, which is required to operate continuously, shall be housed in
suitable acoustic enclosures.

6. Items of plant and equipment shall be maintained in good condition so that
extraneous noise from mechanical vibration, squeaking or creaking is
reduced to a minimum.

7. All pile driving shall be carried out by a recognised noise reducing system.

8. Where practical, rotary drills and bursters, actuated by hydraulic or electric
power shall be used for excavating hard material.

9. In general, equipment for breaking concrete and the like, shall be
hydraulically actuated.

10. 'BS 5228 Noise Control on Construction Sites' should be referred to for
guidance in respect of all work carried out by the developer, their main
contractor and any sub contractors.

11. Any emergency deviation from these conditions shall be notified to the
Council without delay.

12. Any planned deviations from these conditions for special technical
reasons, shall be negotiated with Council at least 14 days prior to the
commencement of the specific work.

13. Permissible noise levels are not specified at this stage.

Page 84



Dust control 
1. All efforts shall be made to reduce dust generation to a minimum.
2. Stock piles of materials for use on the site or disposal, that are likely to
generate dust, shall be sited so as to minimise any nuisance to residents or
neighbouring businesses. Materials for disposal shall be moved off site as
quickly as possible.

3. Water sprays shall be used, as and when necessary, to reduce dust from
particularly "dusty" activities or stock piles.

OR

11.2 It is recommended that planning permission be refused for the following reason if
a S106 legal agreement is not completed on or before 26th August 2016 subject
to the application not being called in by the Secretary of State:

1. The applicant has failed to satisfy the sustainability aims of the plan and to
secure the proper planning of the area by failing to ensure that the development
proposed would provide a sustainable form of development in mitigating the
impact on local infrastructure and services which directly relate to the proposal
and which is necessary for the grant of planning permission.  The applicant has
failed to provide a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  The Local Planning Authority
considers that it would be inappropriate to secure the required financial
contributions by any method other than a legal agreement and the proposal is,
therefore, contrary to Policies M2 and M4 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan
2005.

2. REFUSED DRAWING NUMBERS:

Site Location Plan @ scale 1:1250 & 15/355/P10 &15/355/P11 &
15/355/P12 & 15/355/P14/RevB & 15/355/P15RevA & 15/355/P17 &
15/355/P18 received and dated 4.12.2015 and 15/355/P13/RevB received
and dated 14.4.2016.

Positive and Proactive Statement

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and
appropriate the requirements of paragraphs 186-187 of the National Planning
Policy Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision
contrary to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed on
the Council’s website or inspected at these offices)

June Pagdin, (Strategy and Development)
Date 12.5.2016
Expiry Date: TBC

Page 85



Page 86



Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 MARCH 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)
 
6/2019/0075/FULL

61 LONDON ROAD WOOLMER GREEN KNEBWORTH SG3 6JE

ALTERATIONS TO APPROVED PARKING & TRANSPORT ARRANGEMENTS AND 
ADDITION OF TURNING HEAD FOR HGV'S  

APPLICANT: MS. LUDER – LESSITER’S

(Welwyn)

1 Site Description

1.1 The application premise comprises a factory unit and associated land on the 
extreme northern edge of the built up area of Woolmer Green.  It is located on the 
eastern side of London Road with neighbouring commercial premises to the south, 
open land to the east and north and on the opposite side of the road a single 
dwelling house (36 London Road) and the Entech site.

2 The Proposal

2.1 It is proposed to construct a vehicle turning area and car parking spaces on open 
land at the rear of and adjacent to the existing factory building on its east side, and 
also to construct a revised and extended car park fronting London Road.  

2.2 In front of the factory an existing low grassed bank would be levelled, the space 
would be surfaced and car parking spaces formed behind a new hedge.  An 
additional area of parking is proposed to the north of the factory building.

2.3 A total of 16 parking spaces including 2 disabled spaces will be created at the site 
frontage for use by visitors to the site.  

2.4 The extended access and area of hard-surfacing to the east of the factory would 
when combined with existing parking south of the building, provide a total of 28 
parking spaces for use only by members of staff and for delivery and service 
vehicles.  

2.5 The resulting development would if permitted provide a visitor only area of parking 
to the west and north of the factory and a workers only parking and vehicle turning 
and delivery area to the south and east of the building.

3 Reason for Committee Consideration

Page 87

Agenda Item 8



3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because it proposes inappropriate development in the Green Belt but is 
recommended for permission on the basis of very special circumstances.

4 Relevant Planning History

4.1 An application for a certificate of lawfulness for the erection of a two storey factory 
extension with glazed staircase link to existing chocolate factory, containing staff 
canteen and extension and improvements to the parking area was granted in 
October 2018 (6/2018/0737/FULL) and in September 2018 planning permission 
was granted for the erection of front and side extensions to the existing industrial 
building to incorporate an extended retail area and café and engineering works to 
form internal access road, car park and turning area (2018/0737/FULL).

4.2 This planning permission included conditions which included condition 5

Before any works above ground level are begun a Delivery and Servicing 
Plan for the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  This plan shall specify proposed times for factory 
deliveries and collections which shall avoid peak traffic times and shall 
specify arrangements for managing the manoeuvring of heavy vehicles into 
and out of the site safely which shall always involve use of a banks man.  

Once approved all deliveries/collections shall be undertake in accordance 
with the approved Plan.

REASON:  To improve safety for all road users at the junction of the site 
and the B197 in accordance with the requirements of Policy D5 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

5 Relevant Planning Policy

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) 

5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 – Policies GBSP2, D1, D2, D5, D8, R2, R7, R8, 
M14

5.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 – Policies SADM10, ,EA10, SP8, 
SP9, SADM12, SADM14, SADM16, SADM27, SADM34, 

5.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (Statement of Council Policy) (SDG) 

6 Site Designation 

6.1 The site lies partly within and partly outside of the settlement boundary of Woolmer 
Green and partly within and partly outside of the Green Belt in the parish of 
Woolmer green.  It is within the Datchworth Settled Slopes Landscape Character 
Area, all as designated in the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.  

6.2 Land at the rear of the existing factory building is a proposed allocation EA10 for 
employment use in Class B and land further eastwards behind the factory is a 
proposed allocation for housing HS15 (WGr1) in the Welwyn Hatfield Draft Local 
Plan Submission version August 2016.

7 Representations Received 

Page 88



7.1 The application was advertised by means of neighbour notification letters and a 
site notice. 

7.2 No responses have been received.

8 Consultations Received

8.1 Woolmer Green Parish Council – Lessiter’s chocolate factory is an asset to the 
village in that it provides local job opportunities, a small café which is to be 
expanded and chocolate shop. As Woolmer Green has few facilities, retaining 
Lessiter’s in the village is important to the community.

Lessiter’s has already had planning application 6/2018/0737/FULL passed to 
increase the café, retail and storage areas but Condition 5 restricts the times of 
deliveries and this will have a detrimental effect on the business and would be 
impossible to implement. If this Condition is not removed Lessiter’s will consider 
re-locating.

This application proposes a solution by creating a turning area for HGVs to the 
rear of the main building which means vehicles would not have to reverse out onto 
the B197. This turning area would be constructed on land designated as Green 
Belt.

Woolmer Green Parish Council supports this application for the following reasons:

• Removing previously recommended Condition 5 would ensure Lessiter’s can 
remain in their present location in Woolmer Green and continue to be an asset to 
the village. Highways will assess this application but indications are that Condition 
5 will not be required if this application is granted.

• The construction on Green Belt land is minimal as grasscrete will be laid to create 
the turning area. Once the grass has re-established it will not be visible. The Parish 
Council considers that “very special circumstances” (NPPF 143) have been 
demonstrated as the benefits of retaining Lessiter’s in the village and the continued 
success of the business far outweighs any insignificant harm to the Green Belt.

• Additional parking spaces are to be incorporated as required by planning 
regulations although no significant increase in parked vehicles is envisaged. Any 
parking is also restricted to normal working hours. Parked cars will be obscured by 
hedge planting on the south boundary.

• There will be no increase in HGV’s visits to Lessiter’s which also take place during 
weekday working hours.

• Creating a turning area to enable HGV’s to drive forwards onto the B197 improves 
safety in Woolmer Green.

Woolmer Green Parish Council asks that this application is granted and that 
previously recommended Condition 5 on application 6/2018/0737/FULL is 
removed.

If the officer’s recommendation is for refusal our Borough Councillors will call in 
this application for consideration by the Planning Committee.

8.2 Herts Transport Programmes and Strategy – 

Page 89



The B197 serves as a Secondary Distributor within the hierarchy of the 
Hertfordshire road network. Rural secondary distributors connect the important 
rural settlements to each other and to the Main Distributor network.  The Highway 
Authority require vehicles to be able to exit onto such roads in a forward gear, in 
the interest of highway safety noting that traffic volumes are such that the need to 
emerge in a safe manner requires full visibility. 

B197 is subject to posted speed limit of 40mph, and presence of safety camera’s 
indicate a history of accidents within a defined period involving speed as a main 
contributory factor in collisions. HCCs concerns to the earlier application were that 
development proposals further compromised an already poor situation, and 
completely prevented any opportunity for manoeuvring delivery vehicles internally 
to enable exit in forward motion. Whilst no accidents are observed in the last five 
years a serious accident occurred in close proximity to the site in 2012.
  
It is understood that the applicant suggests the previously recommended 
condition, which sought to mitigate the potential harm of the development on 
vehicle access, is significantly restrictive to their operation, and submits the current 
application in terms of a revised parking / delivery layout in order to address the 
above concerns. It is understood that the size of the extension is unchanged, and 
approved under the above consent. All changes are to parking and servicing layout 
only.

The application to alter the parking layout is submitted accompanied by a 
Transport Statement prepared by the Transportation Consultancy (January 2019). 

The proposals have revised the access, with the effect that the crossing width is 
now 1.2m narrower at its’ junction. Swept path for Articulated HGV (drawing 
210267-02 rev C) demonstrates that the access is appropriate in terms of width at 
back edge, and provided with appropriate radii for the needs of the site. Access 
improvements include provision of tactile paving. Off-site highway works include 
the provision of footway within limits of highway, providing a continuation of the 2m 
footway around the bellmouth. Tactile provision and pedestrian dropped kerb is 
provided at the back of the highway and reduces the width of crossing to circa 
6.8m in width. Such improvements would be beneficial and support pedestrian 
safety along this section of London Road. Whilst such movement is reasonably 
low (predominantly being employment / visitors to the application site and 
pedestrian movement between Knebworth and Woolmer Green, it is recognised 
that the draft emerging Local Plan for Welwyn Hatfield does include site 
HS15(WGr1) which may change movements in this area).

The provision of the footway link and tactile at this location is supported by the 
Highway Authority. Drawing COM817/201 (and confirmed against County Council 
own Highway Boundary details) identifies the limits of the highway boundary. 
Attendance on site suggests that some of this area has been encroached by 
parking associated with the adjacent land occupier (Cardor Stone Gallery) and has 
been provided with low boundary restraint and grasscrete (or similar) surfacing 
and provides parking for staff / visitors. The back edge of highway fronting the 
Stone Factory may be measured as 6.3m from front of the building, and therefore 
follows the line of the constructed area of hardstanding. Parking between this point 
and back edge of footway is within an area maintainable at public expense.

The Highway Authority consider that the off-site works submitted within this 
application are appropriate to support pedestrian safety and efficiency, and advise 

Page 90



as part of the necessary s278 agreement for the works, shall enact its’ Powers to 
protect and assert the rights of all users of the Highway as enabled by the Highway 
Act, and that such matters may require any unauthorised use of any part of land 
considered Highway maintainable at public expense to cease, and the land return 
to the purpose under which it is dedicated to facilitate the works.

Internal arrangements provide staff only access to loading and staff parking, with 
visitor parking along site frontage. Drawing 210267-02 rev C identifies that a 
turning head is provided for Articulated HGV (16.48m in length) and demonstrates 
that space is provided within the site such that a vehicle may manoeuvre to exit in 
forward gear.

Turning (swept path) parking to the front of the site (customer parking) is shown 
as adequate. Width of access drive along the front of the site limits movement to 
single direction, across a length of 36m, however such area serves 16 parking 
spaces only, and Walk routes within the site (advisory only) are provided.

I recognise that the area provided in terms of the turning facility is considered 
development within the greenbelt, however such a matter is not a highway 
consideration. The area is shown to be constructed from grasscrete or similar, laid 
to accommodate laden weights of 40 tonnes, and such an arrangement would be 
deemed acceptable for the servicing needs of the site.

The Highway Authority identify that the ability to turn large vehicles within the site 
in order that they may emerge onto a 40mph Secondary Distributor is of significant 
highway benefit, improving conditions for road safety as well as reducing the 
likelihood of turning movements interfering with highway capacity, and therefore 
we support this application on such grounds and - does not wish to restrict the 
grant of permission subject to the following conditions:

1) Prior to the use hereby permitted the vehicular access (indicated for 
improvement on drawing number (COM817/201)) shall be reduced in width to 
5.5m and provided with kerb radii of 6 metres in accordance with the Hertfordshire 
County Council residential/industrial access construction specification. Such 
works to include provision of footways to both sides, provided with appropriate 
pedestrian facilities. 

Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and in the interests of 
highway safety, traffic movement and amenity in accordance with Policy 5 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018).

2) Prior to the use of the development hereby permitted the proposed on site car 
parking /servicing / loading, unloading / turning areas shall be laid out, demarcated, 
levelled,surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved plan and retained 
thereafter available for that specific use. 

Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests 
of highway safety in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport 
Plan (adopted 2018).  HCC as Highway Authority recommends inclusion of the 
following Advisory Note (AN) to ensure that any works within the highway are 
carried out in accordance with the provisions of the Highway Act 1980 

8.3 The Lead Local Flood Authority – 

Page 91



We note that the applicant intends to use soakaways to manage any run-off from 
the proposed development. Where infiltration is proposed as the main means to 
discharge surface water run-off we would advise the LPA that as a minimum the 
permeability on the site to be confirmed with permeability tests to establish at the 
outset the feasibility of the proposed drainage strategy. Tests should be conducted 
to BRE Digest 365 Standards. If infiltration is not feasible on site then an alternative 
scheme based should be provided.

8.4 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council - Landscapes Department – No 
comments received

8.5 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council - Parking Services – No comments received

9 Analysis

9.1 The main planning issues to be considered are:

1. Background

2. The Principle of development in the Green Belt

3. The relevance of the Emerging Local Plan (Draft Local Plan Proposed 
Submission (August 2016)

4. Are Very Speical Circumstances Provided Sufficient to outweigh harm 
to the Green Belt?

Public and Highway Safety Benefits

Employment retention and creation

That the loss of the site resulting from relocation would most likely result in it 
being subject to housing development plans.

5. The Design of the Development

6. Impact on neighbours

7. Access, car parking and highway considerations

8. Landscaping Issues

9. Flood Risk and SuDS

Background

9.2 Planning permission reference 6/2018/0737/FULL dated September 2018 allows 
for front and side extensions to the existing factory building to incorporate an 
extended retail area and café and for engineering works to form internal access 
road, car park and turning area to the north of the factory building.

9.3 Discussions with the applicant however have revealed that conditions attached to 
the 2018 permission relating to delivery vehicle movements, and specifically to 
turning arrangements and delivery times, necessary in the interests of highway 
safety, will prove a significant constraint on the free and continuing operation of 
the business. 

Page 92



9.4 This has led the applicant to consider an alternative approach to the internal 
movement of delivery vehicles and to seek a means of separating customer 
vehicles and pedestrian movements from staff and delivery movements in the 
interests of safety.

9.5 The main difference now proposed is the formation of a turning area on land within 
the company ownership to the rear of the building.  This would enable staff and 
delivery vehicles to turn clear of the highway and always leave the site in forward 
gear and if permitted, would provide the company with sufficient confidence to 
proceed with factory expansion plans, securing the future of the business and 
potentially providing more employment on the site.

The Principle of development in the Green Belt

9.6 Planning permission to extend the building and create an additional area of car 
parking to the north of the factory has been established by a grant of planning 
permission in September 2018 (reference 6/2018/0737/FULL).

9.7 The current application does not affect the approved extensions and proposes a 
reduced area of engineering works associated with the formation of car parking 
areas to the west and north of the factory.

9.8 The additional/alternative development now proposed however is the formation of 
the turning and parking area to the east (rear) of the building on land owned by the 
applicant company but outside of its current operational limits on open land that is 
currently within the Green Belt.

9.9 It is therefore necessary to consider whether the proposed turning and car parking 
area in the countryside to the east of the building is appropriate development in 
the Green Belt?

9.10 NPPF Paragraph 146 identifies forms of development that are not inappropriate in 
the Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the 
purposes of including land within it. These include; b) engineering operations and 
e) material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport 
or recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds).

9.11 The creation of the turning area and parking spaces involves an engineering 
operation and so would be regarded as an exception if it preserves openness and 
does not conflict with the purposes of the green belt.

9.12 The proposed engineering works generally involve a reduction in ground levels 
with a maximum cut of 550mm.  This means that the new surface will be largely 
screened from view, hidden by adjoining higher ground levels and furthermore the 
plans show new hedgerow planting to the south boundary of the applicant’s 
ownership.  Once completed therefore the turning and parking surface will except 
for very limited views have very little impact upon the openness of the Green Belt 
in this location.

9.13 The use of the land (currently appearing as agricultural land) will be subsumed into 
the operational commercial use of the factory and the purpose of the development 
is to provide parking facilities for staff and turning space for service vehicles.  This 
commercial use (para 146 (e)) will therefore have a visual impact upon the 
openness of the Green Belt as vehicles will potentially be parked on the land 
throughout the working day where presently the land appears empty.  A limited 

Page 93



number of larger vehicles will be seen manoeuvring on the land also, albeit that 
this activity will be of limited duration each time it occurs.  

9.14 It is therefore considered that the proposed use of the land when combined with 
the engineering operations is inappropriate development within the Green Belt and 
therefore is harmful to the Green Belt.  There is a need for very special 
circumstances to be considered that might outweigh this harm if permission is to 
be granted.

The relevance of the Emerging Local Plan (Draft Local Plan Proposed 
Submission (August 2016)

9.15 Draft Policy SADM 10 seeks to designate the application site (the existing factory 
and land to the rear/east) as part of employment area EA10 which would 
necessitate the removal of the land to the rear of the factory from the Green Belt.  
Within the designated sites the draft policy SADM10 seeks to prevent the loss of 
land from Class B uses to another use and if approved through the local plan 
process additional land to the rear of the factory (including the site of the turning 
head and parking now proposed) may be developed for employment uses and the 
proposal would not in those circumstances be in conflict with the emerging Local 
Plan policies.

9.16 Also proposed for removal from the green belt is further land to the east of the site 
for housing development with an estimated capacity of 150 homes (site HS15).  
Again if approved through the Local Plan process the new green belt boundary 
would be relocated approximately 300 metres eastwards with many new homes 
built between the site and the new edge of the Green Belt.

9.17 The appeal Inspector dealing with a housing application opposite the application 
site in October 2018 (Entech) concluded that “taking all the stages that the eLP 
has yet to pass, including possible intervention by the Secretary of State and the 
Courts, I consider that adoption of the eLP towards the back end of 2019 or early 
2020 is a more realistic conclusion. For these reasons, I conclude that the eLP is 
not at an advanced stage”.

9.18 The Examination into the new Local Plan has not materially advanced in the 
months since, the hearing session on the Woolmer Green proposals has not yet 
taken place, the future designation of each of these sites for new development and 
removal from the Green Belt therefore is not certain and so significant weight 
cannot yet be attributed to the Local Plan emerging policies.  

9.19 It therefore remains the case that the development plan policies against which the 
application should be considered are the 2005 District Plan Policies and this plan 
shows the site clearly within the Green Belt and as such very special 
circumstances sufficient to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt must be provided.

Are Very Special Circumstances Provided Sufficient to outweigh harm to the 
Green Belt?

9.20 The applicant has identified a number of factors to be considered as very special 
circumstances.  These are:

• The existing operations within the site are sub-optimal in highway terms and 
represent a risk to users of the site and the public highway

Page 94



• It is not currently possible to turn an HGV around on the site, which represents 
and ongoing risk to road users of the B197

• That the current site does not meet the current business requirements of 
Lessiter’s and they cannot accommodate Condition 5 of the previous planning 
consent

• That without the previously approved extensions and a safe site operation 
Lessiter’s have to consider relocation out of this area

• Relocation of Lessiter’s would result in significant local job losses and a 
significant loss of economic support of surrounding local businesses

• That the sale of the site would most likely result in it being subject to housing 
development plans.

• That the approval of this application will result in additional employment and 
additional support of surrounding local businesses.

• The full development of the site including the previously approved extensions and 
these proposals represents sustainable development and regeneration of an 
existing facility

9.21 When looking at the potential harm against these other considerations objectively, 
we respectfully suggest that any minimal harm is clearly outweighed by these 
considerations and that these would then represent Very Special Circumstances 
in accordance with the NPPF.

Public and Highway Safety Benefits

9.22 It is the case that presently large lorries are unable to turn within the site and whilst 
this is a historic short-coming of the present site layout it does present a risk to 
staff and visitors to the site and to other road users who are impacted by vehicle 
movements on the B197.  Whilst to date it appears that relatively few accidents 
have arisen in the vicinity of the junction the risk remains and the proposed 
development, if permitted would improve safety measures associated with large 
vehicle movements.  The Highway Authority is clear in its support for the 
development and considers the existing and recently approved access 
arrangements to be much less than satisfactory, particularly with the possibility 
that more homes and businesses will operate in the immediate area as a result of 
the recent grant of planning permission for 70+ dwellings at Entech House and 
potentially 150 homes to the rear of the application site and additional commercial 
development.  The area already has speed cameras present to discourage unsafe 
driving and has a history of accidents that justified the speed camera controls).  
The creation of a safe access and turning facility that improves upon the current 
sub-standard access and turning arrangements is judged to be a Very Special 
Circumstance particular to this site, this would be a benefit of the development that 
should carry significant weight in favour of the proposed development.

Employment retention and creation

9.23 Without the factory extensions previously permitted and a safe access for all users 
the applicant has advised that the future of the factory in this location is not assured 
and that other premises outside of the village and Borough have been identified 
which do provide space to expand and also a safer environment for staff and 

Page 95



visitors alike.  If the business is unable to expand with confidence on this site then 
an alternative site will be identified.  

9.24 There is therefore a risk that the business may relocate, placing at risk local jobs 
(approximately 35), and new jobs that would have resulted from the business 
expansion plans would be lost also.  The economic benefits of the development, 
in maintaining and creating jobs in the Borough and investment in the Borough’s 
buildings and economic base whilst not amounting to a very special circumstance 
in itself is judged to represent a cumulative benefit of the development that should 
carry some weight in favour of the development. 

That the loss of the site resulting from relocation would most likely result in it being 
subject to housing development plans.

9.25 If the business were to relocate and the site became vacant there may well be 
interest and pressure to develop for housing however such an application would 
be considered on its merits in the context of the council’s adopted and emerging 
policies and national policies and guidance.  This scenario would not be 
considered a very special circumstance to which weight should be given in 
determining the application.

9.26 The applicant maintains that these very special circumstances should outweigh 
the harm to the Green Belt arising from the inappropriate development.  

9.27 Whilst there are therefore benefits arising from the proposed development which 
would see this established local business expanding, providing to operate within 
the Borough for years to come and with an improved car park and access to ensure 
the safety of all users the question to answer is whether these factors are 
individually or cumulatively ‘very special circumstances’ sufficient to outweigh the 
harm to the Green Belt?  

The Design of the Development

9.28 The proposed parking and turning area to the east of the building is designed to 
appear ‘low-impact’ on its relatively open setting.  The ground levels area generally 
lower than those around them, the surfacing materials are designed to allow the 
appearance of the surface to remain discrete.  The main visual effects fo the 
development will be apparent when vehicles are parked upon it and when larger 
vehicles are turning upon it.  Its general impact upon the character and appearance 
of the area is considered to be in keeping with the surroundings and can be 
improved still further by the planting of a sensitive scheme of landscaping which 
could be secured by planning condition.

9.29 The proposed parking area to the north and west of the building affects a smaller 
area than the previous scheme (2018/0737/FULL) which was considered 
acceptable in terms of visual impact and design and can again be controlled by 
conditions.

9.30 The proposed development is considered to have an acceptable visual impact that 
takes account of its surroundings.  Any adverse effects and enhancements can be 
adequately controlled by conditions and thus the design is of a suitably high 
standard and meets the objectives of the adopted policies D1 and D2 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

Impact on neighbours 

Page 96



9.31 The proposed works are similar to previously approved development.  The main 
changes relate to the creation of the car park/turning area to the east of the building 
and its nearest neighbour comprise commercial premises.  It is not considered the 
works or its future use would have a significant effect upon the adjoining premises.

Access, car parking and highway considerations

9.32 The County Highways Authority supports the application on the basis of highway 
safety improvements for all road users.

Landscaping Issues

9.33 The proposed works will impact upon several areas of the site however it is 
considered that suitable new planting as shown indicatively on the submitted plans 
will secure visual enhancements to the site.

9.34 A condition requiring a scheme of enhanced and superior quality landscaping 
could be imposed upon any permission granted.  A high quality landscaping 
scheme is required in this instance in order to maintain and enhance the landscape 
quality of the site and surrounding open country.  

Flood Risk and SuDS

9.35 The Lead Local Flood Authority is content with the proposals for drainage which 
can also be controlled by conditions. 

Conclusion

9.36 It is recommended that very special circumstances sufficient to justify a grant of 
planning permission for inappropriate development in the Green Belt do exist and 
that planning permission should be GRANTED subject to the following conditions 
and informatives.

PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT

1. Before work is begun upon the construction of the car parking areas hereby 
permitted the results of a percolation test to demonstrate the suitability of ground 
conditions for the sustainable urban drainage scheme proposed for the car 
parking/turning area shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the drainage scheme specified on drawing number 
COM817/203 dated 18.12.2018 including the proposed management and 
maintenance plan shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved plan.

REASON:   To protect the surrounding environment from pollution in accordance 
with Policies R7 and R8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

PRIOR TO ABOVE GROUND DEVELOPMENT 

2. Details of any external lighting proposed in connection with the development hereby 
approved, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any development above ground level takes place. Once approved 
the lighting scheme shall be implemented as approved before the first use of the car 
parking/turning areas hereby permitted is begun.  The development shall not be 
carried out other than in accordance with the approved details.

Page 97



REASON:   In the interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with 
Policy D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

3. No development above ground shall take place until details of the surfacing 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the access, 
parking and turning areas hereby granted have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be implemented 
using the approved materials and subsequently, the approved materials shall not be 
changed.

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests of 
visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

BEFORE USE COMMENCES

4. All approved car parking shall be provided on site and made available for use prior 
to the parking/turning areas hereby permitted being used for the first time. The car 
parking spaces shall be retained permanently thereafter. 
 
REASON:   To ensure that the spaces are provided upon the completion of the 
development in the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy M14 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

4. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment 
must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of condition 1, and where 
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of condition 2, which is subject to the approval in writing of 
the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of 
the Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition C. 

REASON:   To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and others offsite in 
accordance with Policies R2 and R7 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

5. All agreed landscaping comprised in the details of landscaping shown on drawing 
number COM817/202 dated 18.12.2018 shall be carried out in the first planting and 
seeding seasons following the completion of the development and any plants which 
within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed 
or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species.  All landscape works shall be carried 
out in accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards 8545: 2014.

REASON: To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details in the 
interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with Policies 
GBSP2, D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

Page 98



6. Prior to the use hereby permitted the vehicular access (indicated for improvement 
on drawing number (COM817/201)) shall be reduced in width to 5.5m and provided 
with kerb radii of 6 metres in accordance with the Hertfordshire County Council 
residential/industrial access construction specification. Such works to include 
provision of footways to both sides, provided with appropriate pedestrian facilities. 

REASON:  To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and in the interests of 
highway safety, traffic movement and amenity in accordance with Policy 5 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018) and with the requirements of 
Policy D5 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

7. Prior to the use of the development hereby permitted the proposed onsite car 
parking/servicing / loading, unloading / turning areas shall be laid out, demarcated, 
levelled, surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved plan and retained 
thereafter available for that specific use. 

REASON:To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests 
of highway safety in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport 
Plan (adopted 2018) and with the requirements of Policy D5 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005.

DRAWING NUMBERS

The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in accordance with 
the approved plans and details:
 

Plan Number Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

COM817/200
COM817/201

Location and Existing Site Plan
Proposed Site Plan

16 January 2019
16 January 2019

COM817/202 Proposed Landscaping 16 January 2019
COM817/203     A Proposed Drainage and Levels 1 16 January 2019
COM817/204 A Sections 16 January 2019
COM817/205 A Proposed Drainage and Levels 2 16 January 2019

REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and details.

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and appropriate 
the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework and 
material planning considerations do not justify a decision contrary to the 
development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed on the Council's 
website or inspected at these offices).

INFORMATIVES

1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under any 
legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any permission required 
under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, must be obtained from the 
relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety Executive, 
Environment Agency (Water interest etc. Neither does this permission negate or 
override any private covenants which may affect the land.

Page 99



2. The decision notice contains conditions which require you to submit information to 
the Local Planning Authority and have it approved in writing before any development 
relating to the approval takes place. There is a formal procedure for applying to 
discharge conditions and further information can be found at 
http://www.welhat.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=834. Failure to comply with this type 
of condition may result in the development being considered unlawful and 
enforcement action could be taken. If you require any clarification or information 
please contact the section on 01707 357000.

3. Any damage to the grass verges caused by the development/works hereby 
approved is the responsibility of the applicant and must be re-instated to their 
original condition, within one month of the completion of the development/works. If 
damage to the verges are not repaired then the Council and/or Highway Authority 
will take appropriate enforcement action to remedy any harm caused.

4. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the 
construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which is 
not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public 
highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 
Authority before construction works commence. Further information is available via 
the website https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/ services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-
licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.

5. It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without 
lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a 
highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the public 
highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) 
the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements before construction works commence. Further information is available 
via the website:  https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-
licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.

6. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud or other 
debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway 
Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. 
Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles 
leaving the site during construction of the development are in a condition such as 
not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further 
information is available via the website 
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-
roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.

7. All works to be undertaken on the adjoining highway shall be constructed to the 
satisfaction and specification of the Highway Authority, by an approved contractor 
and in accordance with Hertfordshire County Council’s publication “Roads in 
Hertfordshire – Highway Design Guide 126 (2011)”. Before works commence, the 
applicant will need to apply to the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements. Further information is available via the website 
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-
management.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.   

8. All efforts shall be made to reduce dust generation to a minimum.

Page 100

https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/%20services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/%20services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/%20services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


9.  Stock piles of materials for use on the site or disposal that are likely to generate 
dust, shall be sited so as to minimise any nuisance to residents or neighbouring 
businesses. Materials for disposal shall be moved off site as quickly as possible.

10.  Water sprays shall be used, as and when necessary, to reduce dust from 
particularly "dusty" activities or stock piles.

11.  All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or at such 
other place as may be agreed with the Council, shall be carried out only between 
the hours of:

8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays

8.00am and 1.00pm Saturdays

And at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays

12. The best practicable means, as defined in section 72 of the Control of Pollution Act 
1974, to reduce noise to a minimum shall be employed at all times.

13. All plant and machinery in use shall be properly silenced and maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions.

14. All compressors shall be sound reduced models, fitted with properly lined and 
sealed acoustic covers, which shall be kept closed whenever the machines are in 
use. All ancillary pneumatic percussive tools shall be fitted with mufflers or silencers 
of the type recommended by the manufactures.

15. All machines in intermittent use shall be shut down during intervening periods 
between work, or throttled down to a minimum. Noise emitting equipment, which is 
required to operate continuously, shall be housed in suitable acoustic enclosures.

16. Items of plant and equipment shall be maintained in good condition so that 
extraneous noise from mechanical vibration, squeaking or creaking is reduced to a 
minimum.

17. Where practical, rotary drills and bursters, actuated by hydraulic or electric power 
shall be used for excavating hard material.

18.  In general, equipment for breaking concrete and the like, shall be hydraulically 
actuated.

19. ‘BS 5228 Noise Control on Construction Sites’ should be referred to for guidance in 
respect of all work carried out by the developer, their main contractor and any sub 
contractors.

20. Any emergency deviation from these conditions shall be notified to the Council 
without delay.

Michael Robinson (Development Management)
Date 11 03 2019

Page 101



Page 102



                                                                          Part I
                                                                          Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 MARCH 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)
 

6/2019/0271/FULL

7 STRAWMEAD HATFIELD AL10 0JG

ERECTION OF PART SINGLE, PART TWO STOREY FRONT EXTENSION AND TWO 
SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSIONS TO FACILITATE CONVERSION OF 
EXISTING 4-BEDROOM HOUSE IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION (C4) INTO 2 X 1-BED 
FLATS AND 1 X 2-BED FLAT

APPLICANT: Mr S Lordan 

      (Hatfield East)

1 Site Description

1.1 The application site is situated on the north east side of Strawmead and adjoins 
an open pedestrian access to the front and side.  The immediate area is 
characterised by linear formed residential cul-de-sacs which contain dwellings 
similar in respect of both size and appearance. 

1.2 The site comprises a two storey four bedroom semi-detached dwelling which is 
constructed of buff brick and brown concrete tiles.  The site benefits from an 
existing rear conservatory and private rear garden.  There is no on-site car 
parking provision associated the site. 

2 The Proposal

2.1 The application seeks planning permission for the conversion of existing four 
bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (use class C4) into three self-
contained flats which would include two 1-bedroom flats and one 2-bedroom flat.

2.2 The proposal includes the erection of a part single, part two storey front 
extension and two single storey rear extensions.  Planning permission has been 
granted on site for the erection of a two storey front infill extension under 
reference 6/2018/0766/HOUSE and a Certificate of lawfulness has been granted 
under reference 6/2018/1921/LAWP for the erection of two single storey rear 
extensions.  

2.3 Flat 1 would comprise a 1-bedroom 1 person ground floor flat to the front of the 
site which would contain an open plan kitchen, dining and lounge area, single 
space bedroom and shower room.  Flat 2 would comprise a 1-bedroom 2 person 
ground floor flat to the rear of the site which would contain an open plan kitchen, 
dining and lounge area, double bedroom and a bathroom.  This flat would benefit 
from an enclosed entrance yard and a separate garden space.  Flat 3 would 
comprise a 2-bedroom 3 person first floor flat which would contain an open plan 
kitchen, dining and lounge area, double bedroom, single bedroom and bathroom. 

Page 103

Agenda Item 9



Flat 1 and 3 would benefit from a communal garden/yard area which would 
include an area set aside for the storage of bins and bikes.

2.4 In terms of parking, the existing site does not benefit from any existing on-site car 
parking and no additional car parking provision is proposed.  As a result of the 
layout of the planned estate, it would not be possible to provide any on-site car 
parking for the site. 

3 Reason for Committee Consideration

3.1 The application is presented to Development Management Committee because 
Hatfield Town Council have responded with a major objection.

4 Relevant Planning History

4.1 Application Number: 6/2018/1921/LAWP
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 12 September 2018
Proposal: Certificate of lawfulness for the erection of two single storey rear 
extensions

4.2 Application Number: 6/2018/0757/LAWP
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 15 May 2018
Proposal: Certificate of lawfulness for loft conversion including installation of rear 
dormer

4.3 Application Number: 6/2018/0796/HOUSE
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 11 May 2018
Proposal: Erection of a two storey front infill extension

4.4 Application Number: 6/2017/2564/HOUSE
Decision: Refused
Decision Date: 02 January 2018
Proposal: Erection of single storey rear extension, two storey front and rear 
extension, loft conversion to include two rear dormers and alterations to existing 
openings

5 Relevant Planning Policy

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF)

5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (District Plan)

5.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan)

5.4 Supplementary Design Guidance, February 2005 (SDG)

5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards, January 2004 (SPG)

5.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes, August 2014 (Interim 
Parking Policy)

5.7 Houses in Multiple Occupation Supplementary Planning Document February 
2012

Page 104



6 Site Designation 

6.1 The site lies within the town of Hatfield as designated in the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005. 

7 Representations Received 

7.1 Neighbouring occupiers were consulted by way of letter. A reply has been 
received from 18 Sandpiper Close located within a different ward; Hatfield West. 
The comment is summarised below:

 Additional pressures on rubbish, anti-social behaviour and parking as a 
result of the development 

8 Town Council Representations 

8.1 Major objection stated as follows:

8.2 “The proposed creation of flats would result in harm to the character of the area 
by virtue of the change in intensity of use of this narrow crescent as well as 
detrimentally impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties. The proposal 
is therefore contrary to policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005.  Members further consider this overdevelopment of the site with insufficient 
outdoor amenity space for the occupants of the proposed flats.”

9 Consultations Received 

9.1 Hertfordshire County Council Transport Programmes and Strategy – No 
objection 

9.2 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Public Health & Protection Team – No 
objection 

9.3 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Client Services Team – No objection 

9.4      Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Parking Services Team – No provision of car 
parking has been made. This area already struggles with parking congestion to 
the number of vehicles belonging to existing residents. Additional vehicles are 
only going to make this worse

10 Analysis

10.1 The issues to be considered are as follows:

1. The principle of the development 
2. Quality of design and impact on the character and appearance of the 

area 
3. Quality of design with regard to the residential amenity and living 

conditions of neighbouring occupiers and future occupiers 
4. Access, impact on the highway network and parking provision 
5. Other material planning considerations

i) Refuse and recycling storage  
ii) Landscaping 

6.   Overall balance and conclusion 

Page 105



1. The principle of the development 

10.2 District Plan Policy SD1 states that development proposals will be permitted 
where it can be demonstrated that the principles of sustainable development are 
satisfied and that they will accord with the objectives and policies of the Plan.  
Policy R1 requires development to take place on previously developed land and 
Policy GBSP2 directs new development into the existing towns and specified 
settlements within the district.  These objectives are consistent with the Council’s 
Emerging Local Plan.  

10.3 The NPPF promotes an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes, 
while safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and 
healthy living conditions.  Also, as outlined in paragraph 2.7 above, when there is 
a shortage of land for meeting identified housing needs, it is especially important 
that decisions avoid homes being built at low densities, and ensure that 
developments make the optimal use of the potential of each site.

10.4 Policy H3 deals with loss of residential accommodation and states that planning 
permission will not be granted for redevelopment which would result in the net 
reduction in the number of dwellings within the district.  The policy does not deal 
specifically with the loss of ‘family homes’.  In this case, the proposed conversion 
of the existing single dwelling to form three self-contained flats would result in a 
net increase of two dwellings and therefore accords with Policy H3 of the District 
Plan.

10.5 Policy H4 outlines that the Council will generally support applications for the 
conversion of large residential units to provide smaller self-contained units 
provided that it does not result in a development that is detrimental to the 
appearance of the application building and the visual amenity of the area; would 
not adversely affect the amenity of neighbouring residential properties; and would 
provide appropriate amenity space.  These issues are discussed below.  

10.6 The application site currently hosts a two storey 4-bedroom semi-detached 
dwelling located within the Town of Hatfield.  The application site is also located 
within an area which is accessible by non-car modes of transport and where 
there are services and facilities available within walking distance of the site.  
Furthermore, there are no known physical or environmental constraints at this 
site.  Based on the above, the proposal would not be in conflict with District Plan 
Polices SD1, R1, GBSP2, H2, H4; Emerging Local Plan Policies SP1 and SP3; 
or the NPPF subject to an assessment of the scheme against the principles of 
sustainable development governing residential development which are 
considered below.

2. Quality of design and impact on the character and appearance of the 
area

10.7 In addition to Policy GBSP2, H2 and H4 outlined above, District Plan Policies D1 
and D2 aim to ensure a high quality of design and to ensure that development 
respects and relates to the character and context of the locality, maintaining and 
where possible enhancing the character of the existing area.  These policies are 
expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design Guidance (SDG) which 
requires the impact of a development to be assessed giving regard to the bulk, 
scale and design of the proposal and how it harmonises with the existing building 
and area. These policies are broadly consistent with Policy SP9 of the Emerging 
Local Plan.

Page 106



10.8 The NPPF places a clear emphasis on high quality design and states in 
paragraph 130 that planning permission should be refused for development of 
poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way in functions, taking into account any 
local design standards or style guides in plans or supplementary planning 
documents.  

10.9 The proposal includes extensions to the existing dwelling.  As outlined above, the 
proposed two storey front extension has already benefits from planning 
permission, granted in May last year under reference 6/2018/0796/HOUSE.  The 
extension would remain subordinate in scale and would respect the design of the 
existing dwelling in terms of roof pitch, matching materials and fenestration 
detailing.  The extension would reflect the character and appearance of the 
dwelling and surrounding area.  

10.10 In addition, two single storey rear extensions are included within the proposal. 
These extensions have been confirmed as permitted development under Part 1 
Class A of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended).

10.11 As reasoned above, the development would be compatible with the character of 
this part of Hatfield, and therefore there would be no conflict with either the Local 
or national planning policies.

3. Quality of design with regard to the residential amenity and living 
conditions of neighbouring occupiers and future occupiers

10.12 As the acceptability of the extensions has been established through granted 
planning permission and formal confirmation of compliance with permitted 
development rights, it is concluded that this proposal would result in no greater 
impact upon the living conditions or residential amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties in terms of overlooking, loss of light or overbearing 
impact. 

10.13 In terms of the potential for the proposal to result in additional noise disturbance 
to the occupiers of the adjoining property, whilst the use may intensify to some 
degree due to the separate units, it is notable that the number of bedrooms within 
the building would remain the same, albeit across three separate dwellings.  This 
proposal would not result in additional noise generation beyond what would be 
expected as reasonable noise within a residential environment.  Furthermore, it is 
noted from the proposed floor plans that in regard to Flat 2, a bedroom, bathroom 
and landing adjoin the party wall of No.8 Strawmead. The noise from these 
rooms is not anticipated to be materially different to a single dwelling and 
therefore presents a potential betterment over the existing situation whereby the 
property is occupied as a HMO.

10.14 In addition, the potential for a small increase in the total number of car journeys 
and the associated noise from vehicles would be relatively minor in comparison 
to the total amount of vehicles which use Strawmead and the surrounding estate. 
Therefore, the increase in visitors is unlikely to have any material impact on 
neighbour amenity in comparison to the existing situation.  A concern has been 
raised by a resident, albeit in a different part of Hatfield, in regard to the 
disturbance of anti-social behaviour as a result of the development.  It should be 
noted that noise disturbance from anti-social behaviour is covered by other 

Page 107



legislation and therefore can only be given very limited weight in the 
consideration of this planning application. 

10.15 The resultant increased density of dwellings at the site is not considered to be 
substantial and the potential for additional noise or disturbance as a result would 
not be sufficient to justify a refusal on this basis alone.  In this respect, no 
objections are raised with regard to District Plan Policies H4, D1 and R19 or 
Emerging Local Plan Policies SP9, SADM11 and SADM18.

10.16 Turning to the amenity of future occupiers of the proposed flats, Paragraph 127 
NPPF outlines that decisions should always seek to secure high quality design 
and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and 
buildings.  Policy SADM11 of the Emerging Local Plan 2016, requires as a 
minimum, for all proposals for C3 dwellings will be required to meet the 
Nationally Described Space Standard, unless it can be robustly demonstrated 
that this would not be feasible or viable.  The Standards outline the minimum 
requirements floor space and storage for new dwellings.  The proposed Floor 
Plans demonstrate that the three resultant flats at the site would comply with 
Nationally Described Space Standards for internal spaces in accordance with 
Policy SADM11 of the Emerging Local Plan.

10.17 Policies H4 and D1 and the Supplementary Design Guidance requires all 
residential development to incorporate private amenity space for the use of 
residents.  The Council does not apply rigid standard sizes but space should be 
functional and usable in terms of its orientation, width, depth and shape. 

10.18 Hatfield Town Council have expressed concern regarding insufficient outdoor 
amenity space for the occupants of the proposed flats.  The proposed ground 
floor plan outlines that Flat 2 would benefit from a private rear garden which 
would be accessed through the open plan lounge, dining and kitchen area.  This 
flat would also benefit from a private entrance yard with space for bin and bike 
storage.  In addition, there would be a communal garden/yard area for Flats 1 
and 3 to the rear of the site accessed through a separate side gate.  Given the 
limited size of space, it is anticipated that it would largely be used for refuse and 
cycle storage, however, this would not necessarily provide unacceptable living 
conditions for occupiers who are content with this type of accommodation.  It is 
noted that there are public recreational areas within close walking distance from 
the application site, including St Albans Road East Recreational Ground.  Whilst 
the concerns raised by Hatfield Town Council are noted, the NPPF does not 
stipulate the requirement for outdoor amenity space but does state that a high 
standard of amenity should be provided for future occupiers.  For the above 
reasons, there would be no conflict with national policy.

4. Access, impact on the highway network and parking provision

10.19 Hertfordshire Highways have been consulted on this application and consider 
that the level of development proposed is unlikely to generate any significant 
additional vehicular movements which would lead to demonstrable harm to the 
highway network in terms of free flow and capacity.

10.20 Car parking standards are set out within the Council’s SPG.  In August 2014 the 
Cabinet Housing and Planning Panel approved the Interim Parking Policy.  This 
document identifies the car parking standards set out in the SPG Parking 
Standards as guidelines rather than maximums and states that parking provision 
will be assessed on a case by case basis.

Page 108



10.21 The site is located within Zone 2 where the Council’s SPG recommends 0.75 off 
street space for a 1-bedroom flat and 1 off street space for a 2-bedroom flat.  On 
this basis, 2.5 spaces would typically be required for the proposed conversion, 
which can be rounded up to 3 spaces.  A comparison with the existing situation is 
a material consideration.  In this regard, the existing use of the property as a 4-
bedroom HMO has a requirement for 2 spaces.  However, the existing internal 
layout together with extant permissions for extensions would allow for an 
additional bedroom and tenant, resulting in a 5-bedroom 5 occupant HMO.  In 
this case, 3 car parking spaces would be required which is the same as the 
proposed development. 

10.22 The existing site does not benefit from on-site car parking provision.  Communal 
parking is provided within a parking court immediately to the rear of the site. The 
proposal does not include any amendments to car parking provision and, due to 
the layout of the estate, it would not be possible to incorporate any on-site car 
parking.  The wider area benefits from unrestricted off-street parking which is 
unallocated. Whilst comments have been received from Parking Services with 
concern regarding existing congestion in the area and additional vehicles on the 
road, clarification has been made that the proposal would not result in a material 
requirement of additional parking provision in comparison to the existing 
requirement of a HMO. The impact of the proposal on parking provision would be 
broadly neutral.  The proposal therefore accords with Council’s Parking 
Standards and Policy M14 of District Plan, and Policy SADM12 of the Emerging 
Local Plan.

10.23 In terms of cycle storage, the SPG identifies a requirement for one long term 
secure cycle storage space per residential unit. The location of the cycle store is 
shown on the proposed Ground Floor Plan. A planning condition requiring further 
details with regard to the design of the cycle store is required and can be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
accordance with Policies M14, D1 and D2 of the District Plan; and Policy 
SADM12 of the Emerging Local Plan.

5. Other material planning considerations  

i) Refuse and recycling storage  

10.24 The proliferation of bins can create a considerable amount clutter which in turn 
has a harmful impact upon the visual amenity of the streetscene and the 
character of the area contrary to District Policies D1 and D2 and Policies SP9 
and SADM12 of the Emerging Local Plan.  Inappropriate storage of bins on the 
highway can also disrupt pedestrian and the traffic movements.  

10.25 The Council’s Client Services team have been consulted for this application and 
have advised that the development can be incorporated into the Council’s 
existing Alternate Refuse and Recycling Scheme. 

10.26 The Ground Floor Plan shows the storage of bins to the rear of the site within the 
site boundary.  The proposed area set aside for bins would be screened by an 
existing boundary fence which would protect the visual amenity of the area from 
the clutter of the additional bins on site and there would be enough space to 
provide a storage enclosure.  This would be an improvement on the existing 
situation where following a site visit, the bins were stored to the front of the site 
and were visible within the streetscene.  It would be reasonable to condition the 
provision of a bin store to encourage the occupants to return the bins to the 

Page 109



designated area and maintain a satisfactory communal space for the occupiers of 
both flats.  A planning condition is therefore suggested requiring details of the 
design of a bin store to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in accordance with D1 and D2 of the District Plan; and Policies SP9 
and SADM12 of the Emerging Local Plan.

ii) Landscaping 

10.27 District Plan Policy D8 requires landscaping to form an integral part of the overall 
design, and in this respect the high quality design required by Policy D1 and D2 
would again be relevant.  Landscaping is important in order to protect and 
maintain, or ideally enhance, the existing character of the area and to reduce the 
visual and environmental impacts of the development.  

10.28 In terms of landscaping, there is an existing landscaped buffer to the front of the 
site separating the dwelling from the pedestrian footpath.  This area is currently 
used to store bins and provides only a limited contribution to the visual amenity of 
the area.  The proposed ground floor plan provides only limited landscaping 
details, therefore, conditions are suggested requiring these details to be 
approved and implemented for the benefit of future occupiers and visual amenity 
of the immediate area in accordance with GBSP2, D1, D2 and D8 of the District 
Plan; and Policy SADM1 of the Emerging Local Plan.

11 Overall balance and conclusion 

11.1 The proposed development would provide a satisfactory level of accommodation 
for its future occupants, would maintain the character and context of the area, 
respects the amenity of the occupiers of adjoining premises and provides 
sufficient parking while also promoting sustainable methods of transportation.  

11.2 The proposal would make a small contribution of two additional units towards the 
Council’s supply of housing and makes optimal use of the application site.  This 
is especially important given the Council cannot show a five year supply of 
deliverable housing site and that that the scale of supply falls considerably well 
short of five years. 

12 Recommendation

12.1 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions: 

1. No above ground development shall take place until details of the design and 
specification of a store for the refuse and recycling bins to serve the 
residential units shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Subsequently the refuse and recycling store shall be 
constructed, equipped and made available for use, in accordance with the 
approved details, prior to first occupation and retained in that form thereafter.

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of refuse and recycling 
provision and to protect the visual amenity of the streetscene in accordance 
with Policies GBPS2, D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, 
Policies SP9 and SADM12 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Draft 
Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2019.

Page 110



2. No above ground development shall take place until a scheme for the 
provision of secure cycle parking on site has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Subsequently the secure cycle 
parking shall be constructed, equipped and made available for use, in 
accordance with the approved details, prior to first occupation and retained in 
that form thereafter

REASON:  In order to ensure that there is adequate provision for secure cycle 
accommodation within the application site, encouraging alternative modes of 
transport in accordance with Policies GBSP2, M14, D1 and D2 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policies SP9 and SADM12 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

3. No development above ground level in any phase of the development shall 
take place until full details on a suitably scaled plan of both hard and soft 
landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development shall not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved details.  The landscaping details to be 
submitted shall include:

(a) means of enclosure and boundary treatments;
(b) hard surfacing, other hard landscape features and materials; and
(c) planting plans, including specifications of species, sizes, planting 

centres, number and percentage mix, and details of seeding or turfing.

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interest of 
visual amenity, to provide usable private amenity space for the benefit of the 
future occupiers, and to enable acceptable privacy between the private rear 
gardens in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005, Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (Statement of 
Council Policy), Policies SP9 and SADM11 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019.

4. The brickwork, roof tile, bond, mortar, detailing, guttering, soffits and other 
external decorations of the approved extension/alterations must match the 
existing dwelling/building in relation to colour and texture.

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests 
of visual amenity in accordance with and Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005, Policy SP9 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019.

5. Any upper floor window located in a wall or roof slope forming a side elevation 
of the extension hereby approved must be obscure-glazed and non-opening 
unless the parts of the window which can be opened are more than 1.7 
metres above the floor of the room in which the window is installed, and shall 
be retained in that form thereafter.

REASON: To protect the residential amenity and living conditions of adjoining 
occupiers in accordance with Policy D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005,  Policy SADM11 of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Draft Local 

Page 111



Plan Proposed Submission August 2016 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019.

DRAWING NUMBERS

6. The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details:

 
Plan Number Revision 

Number
Details Received Date

4260-OS2-P02 A Block Plan 6 Feb 2019
4260-P02 J Plans and Elevations as Proposed 6 Feb 2019
4260-E01 B Plans and Elevations as Existing 6 Feb 2019
4260-OS1-P02 Site Location Plan 6 Feb 2019

REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans and details.

1. POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed 
on the Council's website or inspected at these offices).

Informatives:

1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under 
any legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any 
permission required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, 
must be obtained from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health 
and Safety Executive, Environment Agency (Water interest etc. Neither does 
this permission negate or override any private covenants which may affect 
the land.

2. The applicant is advised to take account the provisions of The Party Wall Act 
1996 insofar as the carrying out of development affecting or in close 
proximity to a shared boundary. 

3. The granting of this permission does not convey or imply any consent to 
build upon or access from any land not within the ownership of the applicant.

4. The development will involve the numbering of properties and naming new 
streets. The applicant MUST contact Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, 
Transportation (Lorraine Davis 01707 357546 before any name or number is 
proposed. This is a requirement of the Public Health Act 1875 and Public 
Health (Amendment) Act 1907.

5. Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 
to deposit mud or other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the 
same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the 
expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be 

Page 112



taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during 
construction of the development are in a condition such as not to emit dust or 
deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is 
available via the website: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roadsand- 
pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx 

6. Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials 
associated with the construction of this development should be provided 
within the site on land which is not public highway, and the use of such areas 
must not interfere with the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation 
should be sought from the Highway Authority before construction works 
commence. Further information is available via the website 
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning 
0300 1234047.

7. Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the 
Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any 
way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or public right of 
way. If this development is likely to result in the public highway or public right 
of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must 
contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements 
before construction works commence. Further information is available via the 
website http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by 
telephoning 0300 1234047.

Lucy Hale (Development Management)
Date: 11/03/2019
Expiry date: 03/04/2019

Page 113

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roadsand-%20pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roadsand-%20pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/


Page 114



Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 MARCH 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

6/2018/2850/HOUSE

84 HIGH DELLS HATFIELD AL10 9HU

RETENTION OF EXISTING OUTBUILDING

APPLICANT: Mr M Dur

(Hatfield South West)

1 Site Description

1.1 The application site comprises an end terrace property located on the east side 
of High Dells in a row of five dwellings. The street scene is residential in 
character, comprising two storey terraced houses and semi-detached houses of 
similar size and appearance. 

1.2 The application property is finished with facing brickwork and features a shallow 
pitched roof design. The dwelling has recently benefitted from a single storey 
side and rear extension; a modest front porch; and an outbuilding to the rear of 
the site.

1.3 The rear garden measures approximately 74sqm. An outbuilding has been built 
at the end of the garden, in close proximity to the site boundaries. 

2 The Proposal

2.1 This application seeks retrospective planning permission for the erection of the 
outbuilding. 

2.2 The footprint of the outbuilding amounts to approximately 30sqm and it features a 
flat roof with a ridge height of approximately 2.4 metres. The outbuilding is in 
close proximity to the site boundaries with 64, 66 and 82 High Dells; and at its 
closest point, is approximately 900mm from the boundary with 41 Chantry Lane. 
A distance of approximately 7.5 metres separates the outbuilding from the rear 
wall of the host dwelling. 

2.3 The building would be used for storage incidental to the host dwelling. 

Page 115

Agenda Item 10



3 Reason for Committee Consideration

3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because Hatfield Town Council have submitted a major objection:

“Members are concerned that the location plan fails to show Chantry Lane 
Hatfield which is most affected by this development. We object to this 
development as it overdevelops the site, is overdevelopment in its own right 
being overbearing in its placement and location right up to the boundary 
fence and therefore has an adverse impact on neighbouring properties”

4 Relevant Planning History

4.1 Application Number: 6/2018/2006/LAWE
Decision: Refused
Decision Date: 29 October 2018
Proposal: Certificate of lawfulness for existing erection of outbuilding

4.2 Application Number: 6/2018/1455/LAWP
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 02 August 2018
Proposal: Certificate of lawfulness for erection of a front porch

4.3 Application Number: 6/2018/1566/HOUSE
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 07 August 2018
Proposal: Erection of single storey side and rear extension

4.4 Application Number: 6/2016/0884/HOUSE
Decision: Refused
Decision Date: 20 July 2016
Proposal: Erection of two storey side extension

4.5 Application Number: 6/2018/1226/LAWP
Decision: Refused
Decision Date: 12 July 2018
Proposal: Certificate of lawfulness for the erection of an outbuilding

4.6 Application Number: 6/2016/0354/PN8
Decision: Prior Approval Not Required
Decision Date: 13 April 2016
Proposal: Prior approval for the erection of a single storey rear extension 
measuring 6m deep, 2.5m high and 2.5m to the eaves

5 Relevant Planning Policy

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) 

5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (District Plan)

5.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan)

Page 116



5.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG)

6 Site Designation 

6.1 The site lies within the Town of Hatfield as designated in the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005.

7 Representations Received 

7.1 The application was advertised by means of neighbour notification letters. 
One objection was received from the neighbour at 39 Chantry Lane, which is 
summarised below.

 The excavation of the ground may have caused subsidence to the rear 
gardens of the occupants of 64 High Dells and 41 Chantry Lane.

 The boundary hedge with 41 Chantry Lane was removed with no 
consultation.

 The boundary fence is higher than before.
 There is a minimal amount of the garden left and the rest is covered by 

roofing.
 The size of the building and its finish with services laid indicates it is 

intended to be used for more than just storage.

8 Consultations

8.1 Hatfield Town Council: Major objection.

9 Analysis

9.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 
application are:

1. Principle of the proposed use of the outbuilding
2. Quality of design and impact on the character and appearance of the area 
3. Impact on the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and future occupiers 

1. Principle of the proposed use of the outbuilding

9.2 Class E of Part 1, Schedule 2 of The Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order (2015) states that an outbuilding would not be 
permitted development if the total area of ground covered by buildings, 
enclosures and containers within the curtilage (other than the original 
dwellinghouse) exceeds 50% of the total area of the curtilage (excluding the 
ground area of the original dwellinghouse). 

9.3 In this case, a certificate of lawfulness application was submitted in July 2018 to 
confirm that the existing outbuilding would be classed as permitted development. 
The submitted plans did not take into account a front porch which had been 
granted under a proposed certificate of lawfulness application in August 2018, 
measuring approximately 2.3 square metres. The cumulative area of ground 

Page 117



covered by the existing side and rear extensions, together with the proposed 
porch and the outbuilding, resulted in just over 50% of the curtilage. For this 
reason alone, the certificate of lawfulness was refused and planning permission 
is required. In all other respects, the outbuilding falls within the limitations of 
permitted development rights.  

9.4 Comments have been raised which refer to the proposed use of the 
outbuilding. Supporting documents and plans note that the use of the building 
is for storage, including a small room for keeping linen. At the time a site visit 
was undertaken, the building was being used for this purpose. 

9.5 The rear garden and outbuilding are only accessible through the main house due 
to the side extension being built up to the splayed site boundary. Whilst the plans 
show a gate, this serves only a small area between the side extension and the 
splayed site boundary.

9.6 The proposed use of the outbuilding for storage; its shared access point; and 
shared utilities with the host dwelling, all support the conclusion that the use of 
the outbuilding is incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse. 

2. Quality of design and impact on the character and appearance of the 
area

9.7 District Plan Policies D1 and D2 and the Emerging Local Plan Policy SP9 
seek to ensure a high quality of design which relates to the character and 
context of the dwelling and surrounding area. These policies are in line with 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which places a clear 
emphasis on high quality design.

9.8 The policies are expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design 
Guidance (SDG), which requires the impact of a development to be assessed 
giving regard to the bulk, scale and design of the proposal and how it harmonises 
with the existing buildings and surrounding area. Paragraph 5.2 i) of Section 5 of 
the Supplementary Design Guidance states that extensions should be designed 
to complement and reflect the design and character of the dwelling and be 
subordinate in scale. The courts have held that a domestic outbuilding can also 
be regarded as part of the dwellingi.  

9.9 There are various outbuildings visible in the rear gardens of neighbouring 
properties. These include modest sheds (smaller than the development 
proposal), but also consist of considerably larger buildings. Two examples 
comprise a garage at 39 Chantry Lane which shares a common boundary with 
the application site, and an outbuilding in the rear garden of 76 High Dells. 

9.10 Notwithstanding the relatively large footprint of the outbuilding, it is just 2.4m in 
height and therefore subordinate in scale when compared to the two-storey host 
property. Furthermore, the outbuilding is located within the rear garden, which is 
at a lower ground level than the surrounding gardens and is screened by a 
retaining wall and boundary fence. It is finished with facing brickwork, with 
detailing and fenestration which match that of the host property. By virtue of the 
modest height of the outbuilding and its materials, which are of high quality, it is 

Page 118



considered that the outbuilding adequately respects the design and appearance 
of the host property. The outbuilding is not visible from the street scene due to its 
siting within the rear garden and consequently, it would not be detrimental to the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area and street scene. 

9.11 The occupants of 39 Chantry Lane have raised an objection relating to the 
balance between buildings and garden amenity land on the application site. 
Although the existing outbuilding increases the amount of built form on the plot, a 
reasonable area of outdoor amenity space has been retained. The outbuilding 
would not appear dominant in its setting nor compromise the functionality and 
usability of the retained garden. 

3. Impact on living conditions and the residential amenity of adjoining 
neighbours

9.12 With regard to the impact on the amenity of adjoining neighbours, Policy D1 and 
the SDG states that any extension should not cause loss of light or appear 
unduly dominant from an adjoining property. Policy SADM11 aims to preserve 
neighbouring amenity. Furthermore, guidance in paragraph 124 of the NPPF 
says that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to work and live and helps make development acceptable to 
communities. 

9.13 The Design and Access Statement notes that the rear garden of the application 
site has been lowered by 1.2 metres to minimise the impact of the structure on 
adjoining occupiers. The boundary treatment consists of a retaining wall and with 
a fence above, amounting to approximately the same height as the outbuilding 
(2.4 metres). Taking this into consideration, the outbuilding is almost entirely 
screened from neighbouring properties by the existing boundary treatment. 

9.14 Additionally it is noted that the maximum height of a fence erected or constructed 
under Class A of Part 2, Schedule 2 of The Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order (2015) is 2 metres above ground level. “Ground 
level” is measured from the highest part of the ground adjacent to the fence. As 
the original ground levels have been retained outside of the application site, the 
fence is likely to fall within permitted development rights despite exceeding 2m in 
height when viewed from within the application site. 

9.15 It is acknowledged that there are windows and doors in the front elevation of the 
outbuilding which face towards the application dwelling. Given the positioning 
and height of the existing boundary screening, it is unlikely that these openings 
result in any undue overlooking of the neighbouring properties or their residential 
gardens.

9.16 Additionally it is noted that although the outbuilding in question does not benefit 
from permitted development rights due to the reasons outlined in paragraph 9.2, 
a building of this scale and height meets the other requirements and limitations of 
Class E. 

9.17 In summary, giving consideration to the positioning and scale of the proposal, 
along with existing boundary screening, it is considered that the proposal does 

Page 119



not have an unreasonable impact on light amenity or the level of privacy afforded 
to the neighbouring residencies and it does not appear visually overbearing.  
Overall it is considered that the amenity of the adjoining occupiers is maintained 
to an acceptable level. 

9.18 It is noted that concerns have been raised regarding subsidence and the removal 
of a hedge. Planning permission is not required for the removal of a boundary 
hedge, and if the hedge was in the ownership of an adjoining neighbour it would 
be considered as a civil matter between the relevant parties. Subsidence is not a 
material planning consideration either, but an informative has been suggested 
advising the applicant of consent which may be required under legislation other 
than the Town and Country Planning Acts. 

10 Conclusion

10.1 The development has been assessed against the policies of the Local Plan, 
Emerging Local Plan and NPPF. It has been found to be acceptable in all 
planning respects in terms of impact on the character of the area and the living 
conditions of neighbouring occupiers.

11 Recommendation  

11.1 It is recommended that planning permission be approved subject to the 
following conditions:

DRAWING NUMBERS

The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details:

 
Plan Number Revision 

Number
Details Received Date

HD387289 Location Plan 5 November 2018
FV-2018-04 Proposed Sections 6 March 2019
FV-2018-02     A Proposed Elevations As Built 6 March 2019
FV-2018-01 A Floor Plan Existing and As Built 6 March 2019
FV-2018-03 A Block Plan Existing and As Built 16 November 2018

REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and details.

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT
The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed on 
the Council's website or inspected at these offices).

Page 120



Informatives

1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under 
any legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any 
permission required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, 
must be obtained from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health 
and Safety Executive, Environment Agency (Water interest etc. Neither does 
this permission negate or override any private covenants which may affect the 
land.

2. The granting of this permission does not convey or imply any consent to build 
upon or access from any land not within the ownership of the applicant.

3. The applicant is advised to take account the provisions of The Party Wall Act 
1996 insofar as the carrying out of development affecting or in close proximity 
to a shared boundary.

4. The applicant should be aware that the use of the outbuilding as a separate 
dwelling would require a separate grant of planning permission.

Emily Stainer (Development Management)
Date: 06/03/2018
Expiry Date: 29/03/2018

Page 121



i Sevenoaks District Council v SSE and Dawe [1997]

Page 122



Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 28 MARCH 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

Appeal Decisions 13/02/2019 to 14/03/2019

6/2017/1524/FULL

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3197991
Appeal By: Mr A Newland

Site: Nyn Manor Vineyards Road Northaw Potters Bar EN6 4PQ
Proposal: Demolition of the existing Dutch barn following alteration to the existing barn to 

include a new roof, an extension to the east of the building, new windows and 
openings following its part demolition and laying of hard surfacing to facilitate the 
storage of hay.

Decision: Appeal Dismissed

Decision Date: 19/02/2019
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Delegated

Summary: The main issues are whether or not the proposal is inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt, effects on Green Belt openness, whether or not the appeal building 
is curtilage listed or a non-designated heritage asset, heritage considerations, 
ecology and biodiversity and if the development is inappropriate, whether the 
identified harm is clearly outweighed by other factors so as to amount to very 
special circumstances. The Inspector found that the site was in agricultural use 
and that therefore, notwithstanding the proposed changes to the building, it would 
comply with the exception set out in para 145 of the NPPF in relation to agricultural 
buildings and would therefore not be inappropriate. With regard to the heritage 
status of the building it was established that, whilst it appeared that there had been 
a building on the site since before 1948, there was no substantive evidence to 
demonstrate that the current building dated from that time. The Inspector 
considered therefore that the building was neither curtilage listed nor a non-
designated heritage asset. However, the Inspector did find that the appeal building, 
in its current form, did contribute very positively to the character and appearance of 
the area and made a significant contribution to the significance of the main 
farmyard listed buildings. The Inspector considered that very little of the character 
and form of the original building would be retained and that the proposals would be 
a step to far in the evolution of the building. In conclusion, the appeal was 
dismissed on the basis of the less than substantial harm that would be caused to 
the setting of the listed buildings and that this harm would be at the higher end of 
less than substantial. The benefits identified were not considered sufficient to 
outweigh this harm and the appeal was dismissed.

Page 123

Agenda Item 11



6/2018/0756/FULL

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3206058
Appeal By: Mr T Bui

Site: 11A Bradmore Green Brookmans Park Hatfield AL9 7QW
Proposal: Change of Use from A1 (Post Office) to Sui Generis (Proposed Nail Bar).

Decision: Appeal Allowed with Conditions

Decision Date: 27/02/2019
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Delegated

Summary: The main issues is the effect of the proposed change of use on the vitality and 
viability of Bradmore Green Village Centre. The Inspector noted that around 60% 
of the existing units are in non-A1 use. The Inspector found that a nail bar would 
complement the existing ‘health and beauty’ offer in the centre and that the 
evidence did not indicate the prospect of the appeal unit being taken up by an A1 
use. It was also considered that the proposal would revitalise a vacant unit and 
bring footfall to the village centre, contributing to its vitality and viability. The 
Inspector acknowledged the Council’s concerns regarding the overall proportion of 
the units that would be in non-A1 use but found the policy requirement of 60% of 
units to be in A1 use too restrictive, particularly given that the number of A1 units is 
already significantly below this target figure. The appeal was allowed subject to 
conditions.

6/2017/1902/FULL

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3203353
Appeal By: Templewood Securities Ltd

Site: 36 Salisbury Square Hatfield AL9 5AF
Proposal: Change of use of ground floor from sui-generis to residential (C3) to include the 

creation of 2 x 1-bedroom and 3 x 2-bedroom flats with external alterations 
including new fenestration, associated cycle & bin stores, car parking and 
landscaping

Decision: Appeal Allowed with Conditions

Decision Date: 27/02/2019
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Committee

Summary: The main issue is the effect of the proposed development on the vitality and 
viability of Old Hatfield Neighbourhood Centre. The Inspector acknowledged the 
planning history of the building, in particular the application for change of use of 
the offices at first and second floor level to 16 one bedroom flats, approved in 
2017, and a further four flats approved at roof level in 2018. The Inspector noted 
that the proposal would result in the loss of commercial floor space, with 
associated loss of spending power of staff and clients using the Job Centre. 
However, it was considered that the proposed flats would, in their own right, 
generate potential users of local shops and services. The Inspector also noted that 
the site is not within a designated town centre or primary or secondary shopping 
frontage. Taking these factors together, it was considered that the proposed 

Page 124



change of use would not harm the neighbourhood centre’s vitality. The appeal was 
allowed subject to a number of conditions.

6/2017/1139/FULL

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3202077
Appeal By: Mr M Dunton

Site: Dellcott Tennis Club Dognell Green Welwyn Garden City AL8 7BL
Proposal: Erection of 12x floodlighting columns (6.7 metre high) to Courts 2 and 3

Decision: Appeal Dismissed

Decision Date: 07/03/2019
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Delegated

Summary: The main issue is whether the proposals would preserve or enhance the character 
or appearance of the Welwyn Garden City Conservation Area with regard to the 
visual effect of artificial lighting on the night sky. The Inspector considered the 
tennis club  to be a valued recreational facility as well as for its openness which 
makes a positive contribution to this residential part of the Conservation Area. The 
Inspector noted that the proposed floodlights would be slender in their appearance 
and that views of them would be obscured by boundary vegetation. In this respect 
it was found that the visual impact of the columns themselves would be minimal 
and would preserve the character and appearance of the conservation area. 
However, noting paragraph 180 part C of the NPPF considered that the proposal 
for high level lighting would significantly increase the amount of artificial lighting 
into what is currently an inherently dark environment and thus would have a 
greater impact upon the night sky. The Inspector considered that, in winter months 
in particular, the artificial lighting would be harmful to the character of the area and 
so would fail to preserve or enhance the character of the Conservation Area. The 
Inspector considered the identified harm to be ‘less than substantial’ in NPPF 
terms and proceeded to weigh this harm against the public benefits of the 
proposal. The improvement in access to and enjoyment of an existing sporting and 
recreational facility, promoting healthy living, was acknowledged. However the 
Inspector was not persuaded that the harm identified was outweighed by these 
benefits. Whilst the Inspector did not find that any harm to the living conditions of 
neighbours as a result of light spillage, the appeal was dismissed.  

6/2018/1305/FULL

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3208142
Appeal By: Mr Lesley

Site: 58 St Albans Road East Hatfield AL10 0EH
Proposal: Erection of three flats including change of use from D1 (Non-residential institution) 

to C3 (Dwellinghouses) following the demolition of existing building
Decision: Appeal Allowed with Conditions

Decision Date: 11/03/2019
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Delegated

Page 125



Summary: The main issues are the effect of the proposal on the availability of community 
facilities, the character and appearance of the area, including the setting of St 
Luke’s Church and the cemetery wall which are both listed at Grade II and highway 
safety, in particular the access arrangements. The Inspector noted that the site is 
occupied by a building that comprises a meeting hall which is in a state of 
disrepair. The building has been vacant for more than five years and the Inspector 
considered that this demonstrated a lack of demand and thus no need for the 
community building. As such the Inspector considered that its loss would comply 
with local plan policies. With regard to design, the Inspector acknowledged that the 
development would be of a high density but found the form of the roof to be 
acceptable and the projecting gable to be reflective of the church. Subject to tree 
protection measures, the Inspector found that there would be no adverse effect on 
the character and appearance of the area or the setting of the designated heritage 
assets. In terms of the access, the main issue was whether the Council’s refuse 
collection vehicles could serve the site. The Inspector acknowledged that a private 
collection service could be provided, but also considered it not unreasonable for 
the Council vehicle to have to stop on the highway to service the site, as it must for 
other nearby properties. The Inspector considered visibility to be good on the 
approach to the roundabout and that traffic speeds are likely to be low and that 
therefore there would not be any significant potential for hazard to highway safety. 
The appeal was allowed subject to conditions.

6/2018/2010/HOUSE

DCLG No: APP/C1950/D/19/3219719
Appeal By: Mr & Mrs Mags

Site: 41 The Avenue Welwyn AL6 0PW
Proposal: Erection of single storey front/side extension and raise roof height to facilitate 

conversion of loft to habitable space including alterations to openings
Decision: Appeal Dismissed

Decision Date: 11/03/2019
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Delegated

Summary: The main issues are whether or not the proposal would be inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt, effects on the openness of the Green Belt and 
whether, if it is inappropriate, whether any identified harm is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations so as to amount to very special circumstances. The Inspector 
acknowledged that the property is a detached bungalow which has not been 
extended since it was first built. The Inspector noted that the ground floor 
extension would be relatively modest, but that the proposed roof alterations would 
substantially increase the building’s eaves and ridge heights. The resulting 
increase in floor area of 153% was considered to represent a disproportionate 
addition. The Inspector also found that the proposed extensions would result in a 
building that is highly visible from the road and so there would also be a harmful 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt. No very special circumstances were 
found to exist and the appeal was dismissed.

Page 126



6/2018/0523/FULL

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3212114
Appeal By: Mrs B Gavin

Site: Land to the rear of 5 Moor Cottages Mimram Walk Welwyn AL6 9EZ
Proposal: Retention of change of use of existing outbuilding to a self-contained one bedroom 

dwelling
Decision: Appeal Dismissed

Decision Date: 11/03/2019
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Delegated

Summary: The main issues were the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance 
of the conservation area, highway safety (parking) and the living conditions of 
future occupiers. The Inspector noted the unorthodox form of access to the 
property but considered that as the building already exists and the prevailing 
character of this part of the conservation area is of a close knit form of buildings, 
the proposal would be reflective of the surrounding area and would not have an 
adverse impact on, and would thus preserve, the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. With regard to car parking, the Inspector noted that the 
proposed dwelling would be unlikely to be suitable for a family and so the demand 
for car parking spaces would be limited. They also acknowledged the presence of 
nearby public car parks which could adequately serve the development. On this 
basis, no objection was raised on this ground. Turning to living conditions, the 
Inspector found that the proposed dwelling would fall well below the Nationally 
Described Space Standards and, whilst the new Local Plan policy requiring this is 
not yet adopted, this is a good guide for new dwellings. The Inspector considered 
the accommodation provided to be cramped and uncomfortable and that it would 
result in unacceptable living conditions for future occupiers. The Inspector noted 
the Council’s lack of 5-year housing land supply, but considered that this did not 
outweigh the identified harm. The appeal was dismissed.

Costs Decision in relation to the appeal at Nyn Manor, Vineyards Road, Northaw

A partial award of costs was made against the Council for pursuing a line of argument 
related to the agricultural use of the site, which the Inspector found to be unsubstantiated 
and to have resulted in the appellant having been put to unnecessary expense as part of 
the appeal process. The monetary figure is yet to be agreed by the Council.

Costs Decision in relation to the appeal at 36 Salisbury Square, Hatfield

Whilst noting that Council Members are not duty bound to follow the recommendation of 
Officers, the Inspector considered that, given that the site is not located within a 
designated town centre or primary or secondary shopping frontage, the citation of 
paragraph 23 of the NPPF in the reason for decision, which relates specifically to 
‘ensuring the vitality of town centres’ was not appropriate and did not demonstrate a 
thorough enough assessment of the impact of the proposal. Further, it was considered 
that the Council did not provide evidence to substantiate the part of the reason for refusal 

Page 127



related to the vitality and viability of Old Hatfield Neighbourhood Centre. As a result it was 
considered that the Council behaved unreasonably and a partial award of costs was 
made against the Council. These costs have now been agreed as being £3,773.70.

Costs Decision in relation to the appeal at 32 Upland Drive, Brookmans Park (Appeal 
decision reported last month)

A summary of the Inspectors consideration of the main appeal was given last month. The 
appellant made a subsequent application for an aware of costs to be made against the 
Council, and this summary reflects the outcome of that application.

The Inspector noted that, whilst the application had been recommended for approval by 
Officers, Council Members are not duty bound to follow the advice of Officers. The 
Inspector considered that the Committee did give due consideration to other comparable 
schemes along Upland Drive and that a clear and specific reason for the refusal was 
given. Whilst the planning appeal was subsequently allowed, the Inspector considered 
that it could not be shown, conclusively, that the Council had acted unreasonably with 
regard to the consistency of decision making.

Page 128



Part I
Main author: Chris Carter
Executive Member: Councillor S.Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE - 28 MARCH 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

PLANNING UPDATE – FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS

1          Introduction

1.1      This report is for the Development Management Committee to provide a summary of 
applications that might be presented to Committee over the coming months.  If the call-in 
or application is withdrawn, the item will not be presented.

1.2      The applications should not be debated as part of this agenda, however any Councillor 
wishing to raise specific points about the proposal – such as a need for planning 
obligations or issue(s) that might not readily be apparent from the proposal or any other 
matter, may do so and the case officer will consider, where they are planning 
considerations, these matters raised as part of the future Committee report.

1.3      Appendix 1 comprises all applications that have been called-in or objected to by Town or 
Parish Councils.  Appendix 2 comprises those that are a departure from the Local Plan, 
Officers consider should be determined by Development Management Committee, the 
applicant is the Borough Council or it has an interest in the land and an objection has 
been received.

2          Recommendation

2.1      That members note this report.

Name of author              Chris Carter
Title                                Development Management Service Manager

 

Page 129

Agenda Item 12



Appendix 1 - Applications called-in or objected to
ward description

6/2016/0270/VAR
Address Four Oaks 1-4 Great North Road Welwyn AL6 0PL
Proposal Variation of conditions 1 (occupants) and 2 (number of caravans) of 

Planning Permission N6/2010/0211/S73B to increase the number of 
caravans from 10 to 20 of which no more than 5 shall be static caravans or 
mobile homes.

Applicant Mr J Connors
Ward Welwyn West
Agent Mr M Green

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Julie Cragg, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

Please can we call this in due to the fact that this raises a lot of issues of 
concern for the residents.
There is uneasiness about the fact that the number of caravans fluctuates 
wildly and that they residents do not appear to adhere to the planing that 
they do have.
The restrictions regarding children is there as this was not intended to be a 
permanent site but only to give stability to the children to enable them to 
attend school.
Are they planning to use caravans as an office sutie and run business's from 
there? [sic]

Call-In/Objection 
from

Caroline Williams, Welwyn Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

15/03/2016 21:43 - Welwyn Parish Council at its Planning & Licensing 
Committee of the 15 March 2016 agreed to submit Major Objection.  We are 
unclear why the existing conditions have not been enforced.  We understand 
that the site was permitted as a temporary location linked to the schooling of 
the children which have now grown up and not as a permanent site.  We are 
concerned that the number of caravans has continued to increase overtime 
both with, and without, permission and Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
have previously stated that 10 is the maximum that can be accommodated.  
The existing conditions include that the land should be restored in 
accordance with the scheme previously submitted and approved by the 
planning authority as the residents may have already changed.

Case Officer Mrs Sarah Smith
Summary This application has not yet been presented to DMC as it is related to the 

adoption of the Local Plan

Page 130



6/2016/1493/VAR
Address Thunderbridge Yard Bulls Lane Hatfield AL9 7BB
Proposal Variation of condition 1 to extend the temporary permission; condition 3 to 

permit eight caravans of which no more than five would be static caravans; 
condition 4 to vary the approved drawings; and condition 5 to vary the site 
development scheme; of planning permission S6/2011/0116/FP

Applicant Mr J Robb
Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South
Agent Mrs A Heine

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Paul Zukowskyj, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I would like to formally 'call in ' this applicaiton as it meets at least two of the 
key criteria for a call in, namely 1. The application is of an unusually 
sensitive nature as the current use of the site has led to significant adverse 
impact on neighbours amenity and that development beyond that permitted 
had occurred at the site. 2. The wider ramifications are the potential impact 
of permitting this development may have on setting precedent for permitting 
neighbouring sites in the forthcoming local plan examination in public. There 
is also the precedent that would be set of permitting such developments, 
even for a limited period, in flood zones.

Call-In/Objection 
from

Sue Chudleigh, North Mymms Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

NMPC OBJECT as this is clearly a new application. The name of the 
applicants is not the name to whom the extant  Permission was originally 
given.

The Government Planning Policy for traveller sites Policy E, in its 
introduction, states that making and decision taking should protect the Green 
Belt from inappropriate development - Item 4d and Item 16 state that 
inappropriate development is harmful to the Green Belt except in exceptional 
circumstances. None have been indicated. 

Item 4f - further states the local planning authority should aim to reduce the 
number of unauthorised developments and encampments.  This site has 
consistently exceeded the numbers stated in the original Permission and it is 
too small a site to be abused in this way.

Item 4k - states the local planning authority have to have due regard to the 
protection of local amenities and local environment.
There  have also been sanitary issues arising from the over-use of the site.
One or more travelling caravans have also been let to itinerant workers in 
contravention to the terms of the licence.  This has caused considerable 
problems to the neighbourhood.

Item 13 of the Planning Policy for traveller sites states the local planning 
authority should ensure that their policies:

Page 131



a)  promote peaceful and integrated co-existence between the site and the 
local community 

f)  avoid placing undue pressure on local infrastructure and services 

g)  do not locate sites in areas at high risk of flooding, including functional 
floodplains, given the particular vulnerability of caravans

Policy E, Item 24 addresses local provision and it is the case that WHBC do 
not have a firm policy on Gypsy and Traveller sites in the Borough but there 
are existing sites in Welham Green – including a long term Showmans site 
which causes no trouble – however the Foxes Lane site also is also over 
used as the numbers of caravans exceeds the permitted numbers.
Item 27 states that if a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an up to 
date 5 year supply of  deliverable sites this should be a material 
consideration and in this case the existing sites result in  over supply in 
Welham Green therefore any expansion is unwarranted.

Item 25 states that the local planning authority should very strictly limit 
traveller site development  in the Green Belt and further ….”sites in rural 
areas do not dominate the nearest settled  community.” Expansion of this 
site would cause stress on services and neighbours.

Item 16 Inappropriate development is harmful to the Green Belt and should 
not be approved, except in very special circumstances. Traveller sites 
(temporary or permanent) in the Green Belt are inappropriate development.  
Subject to the best interests of the child, personal circumstances and unmet 
need are unlikely to clearly outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other 
harm so as to establish very special circumstances, none of which have 
been indicated in this case.

Item 24(a) The Local Planning Authority has to take into account the existing 
level of local provision and Welham Green currently has provision.  Indeed, 
even this is exceeded unlawfully – see report from Dennis Pennyfather, 
Licensing Technical Officer, dated 24 August 2016.

Item 25 This further states the Local Planning Authority should very strictly 
limit …. sites in rural areas should not dominate the nearest settled 
community.  Of late the activities at Thunderbridge Yard have caused 
extreme concern and disturbance to the neighbourhood.  Police and other 
authorities are aware of this, which seems to arise from the subletting of the 
excessive on-site accommodation to persons other than gypsies or 
travellers.

Footnote 9 States there is no presumption that a temporary grant of 
Planning Permission should be granted permanently, therefore North 
Mymms Parish Council consider, taking into account comments by Licensing 
Technical Officer that the site is not big enough, there are fire safety issues 
and this is a known flood plain with previous flooding issues, caravans on 
this Green Belt site are inappropriate development.

Page 132



Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock
Summary This application has not yet been presented to DMC as it is related to the 

adoption of the Local Plan

6/2017/0225/FULL
Address Welwyn Rugby Football Club Hobbs Way Welwyn Garden City AL8 6HX
Proposal Retention of 4x 15 metre high floodlight columns and lamps measuring a 

further 0.5 metres
Applicant Mr M Elliott
Ward Handside
Agent Mr M Elliott

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Helen Bromley, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I would like to call this in as the new floodlights are significantly higher and 
brighter than those which they replaced, by some 7 meters,  and they are 
also in different positions to the original lights.
This has caused significant harm to the residents and the general amenity of 
the area.
The original application did not mention the floodlights being in different 
positions.
This is impacting on the conservation and EMS area.
There is substantial visual intrusion day and night.
At night, the light spill is far worse than previously, despite the rugby club 
saying it would be less. This is not the case.
The club also seems to be contravening the permission given as to when 
they may be used.

Case Officer Mr Tom Gabriel
Summary This application is likely to be presented to DMC in April 2019

6/2017/0606/MAJ
Address 1-9 Town Centre Hatfield AL10 0JZ
Proposal Erection of 2 buildings to provide 1,194m2 (GEA) commercial floor space 

(A1 & A3), 70 flats (15 x 1 bedroom, 7 x 2 bedroom, three person and 48 x 2 
bedroom, four person) with associated car/bicycle parking, plant and refuse 
storage and including the improvement of public realm, following the 
demolition of existing buildings.

Page 133



Applicant Mr P Brimley
Ward Hatfield Cent.
Agent Mr P Wellings-Longmore

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

Object: The Town Council is concerned at the impact of parking from new 
residential units on the retail parking spaces available.  The Council has 
repeatedly asked that design of new structures in the Town is sympathetic to 
existing Hatfield designs but again we see another architect imposing their 
design on our Town making it an uncoordinated mismatch of urban design 
from different decades with no empathy to the historic nature of the Town.  
Members are concerned at the impact of the level 7 building on the Grade 1 
listed building of Hatfield House.  Members consider that a community 
facility needs to be included within the design.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock
Summary This application has been held in abeyance pending further work on the 

wider Hatfield town centre regeneration project

6/2018/1354/OUTLINE
Address Land South of Cromer Hyde Welwyn Garden City
Proposal Outline permission for the change of use of land to airfield with runway and 

support facilities including a clubhouse, hangar and car park with all matters 
except access and layout reserved

Applicant Mr C Fitch
Ward Hatfield Villages
Agent Mr A Bardett

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Duncan Bell, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

As one of the ward councillors for Hatfield Villages, I would like to 
conditionally call-in the above application.

This call-in is conditional, in that I would only request it's consideration by 
the Development Management Committee in the event that Planning 
Department recommend approval of the application.

My grounds for calling this application in are:

  *   The flying training circuit indicated within the Feasibility Study raises 
potential environmental (noise) concerns impacting many properties in 
Hatfield Garden Village and Salisbury Village, as well as properties within 
the proposed Local Plan sites of HAT1 and Symondshyde Village.  This 

Page 134



potential environmental impact goes well beyond the addresses contacted 
as immediate neighbours.

  *   The Feasibility Study appears to envisage that construction of the airfield 
could be at least partly funded by S106 monies generated from the 
Panshanger site housing development.  In reality, S106 or CIL commitments 
generated from Local Plan developments will be finite, and there will be 
many competing claims upon their deployment.  They will need to be 
deployed where the infrastructure needs are greatest, as assessed by the 
public authorities involved.  The idea that these essentially public resources 
could be pre-empted for use on a private proposal for a new airfield seems 
questionable at best.

Given the above, I believe that this application is of sufficient interest to merit 
consideration by Development Management Committee if the Planning 
Officer recommends approval.

I have copied the three town councillors for the ward, as Hatfield Town 
Council is one of the consultees.

I will almost certainly submit a more detailed representation in a few days 
time.

Thanks for accepting this call-in.
Kind Regards,
Duncan Bell.

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

22/06/2018 15:47 - The application is in the Green Belt and no special 
circumstances have been shown to divert from Green Belt Policy.  Members 
are concerned at the effect of noise and air pollution on the quality of life on 
residents of Salisbury Village and the Hatfield Garden Village.  HAT1 & 
HAT2 (if built) will be very close to this application site causing further 
distress to residential development.  50 cars will see a great increase in 
vehicular movements in this area.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock
Summary This application is awaiting consideration of the need for an EIA

Page 135



6/2018/1635/OUTLINE
Address Historic De Havilland Grass Runway

Ellenbrook fields Hatfield Buisness park
Hatfield Herts

Proposal Outline permission for the change of use of land to airfield with runway and 
support facilities including a clubhouse, hangar and car park with all matters 
except layout reserved

Applicant Mr C Fitch
Ward Hatfield Villages
Agent Mr C Fitch

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Duncan Bell, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

i would like to conditionally call in the above planning application, which 
appears to be for an airfield within Ellenbrook Fields.

This will, as for 6/2018/1354, be a conditional call-in, in that it will only need 
to come to DMC if Planning Department recommend approval.

My ground for calling this in are:

• There is a considerable potential for noise nuisance over a wide area of 
Ellenbrook, Salisbury Village, and Hatfield Garden Village.
• Just as for application 6/2018/1354, the applicant seems to envisage that 
S106 monies can be used to help finance the project.  S106 monies will be a 
scarce resource in the context of the WHBC Local Plan.  They are 
essentially public resources infrastructure needs associated with Local Plan 
development.  This should not include private flying facilities.
• There is no airfield at Panshanger to "replace".
• My understanding is that there is an entirely separate S106 commitment 
associated with a 2017 mineral extraction application to restore Ellenbrook 
Fields as a country park.  It is unclear how this application would fit with this 
prior commitment. 

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock
Summary This application is awaiting consideration of the need for an EIA

6/2018/2129/FULL
Address 111 The Ryde Hatfield AL9 5DP
Proposal Retrospective change of use from single dwelling (Use Class C3) to small 

HMO for up to three to six persons (Use Class C4)
Applicant Mr I Kabala

Page 136



Ward Hatfield East
Agent Mr A Huseyin

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Caroline Gillett, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I wish to call in the application 6/2018/2129 Full in respect of the 
retrospective change of use from
single dwelling (Use Class C3) to small HMO for up to three to six persons 
(Use Class C4). 111 The
Ryde.

The main reason for calling in is the lack of parking in lines with policy and I 
draw the officers’ attention to the actual crossover and depth of in-curtilage 
as opposed to that drawn on the architect’s submission. Parking of 5.25 cars 
would be required as a minimum and using the cross over only space for

 3. Also, the depth of the in-curtilage is 5.3m and not 6m as stated.

Whilst calling this in I would like to draw your attention to the following in 
connection with the submission (1325/PL/AH)

In 
Section 2 – The Proposal reference is made to the conversion of the garage 
into a store for bins. This was advised to be happening by March 2018 in a 
previous application, and I am presuming the garage was built under 
previous planning granted in 2008 with a 3 year time frame, as this garage 
was refused in January this year.

Section 4.2 – the submission has failed to highlight bedroom 3

I note the kitchen is 6.7 sqm which is within HMO requirements for up to 5 
rooms. I question why 2 kitchens are needed to share between 3 rooms 
when only one shower/bathroom between 3 rooms. The additional kitchen is 
shown as in the lounge/diner/kitchen which is currently used as a bedsit.

Section 4.4 – advises that the front door is the main entrance for all 
occupants. It is know that the garage door is an entrance currently used by 
at least one occupant.

The garage is “being converted to a storage facility” – this has been on-
going for 8 months.

Section 6 – parking

6.1 refers to 3 bedsits at 1.25 spaces equating to 4 and 3 HMO bedrooms 
giving rise to 1 space which does not comply with 0.5 per room. Parking 
should therefore be 5.25 spaces which equates to 6 rounded up.

6.2 The depth of the property is advised as 6m when in fact 2/3 of the 
frontage is 5.3 up to the front brickwork. This means that cars would be 

Page 137



parking directly under the window of bedsit 3

Section 7 – refuse.

The existing bins 3 in total and capacity within the garage.  There are at 
least 4 bins, often overflowing (photographic evidence from residents) and 
are stored on the front left of the property.

Section 8 – landscaping

The statement in the submission is misleading. The frontage had indeed 
been altered to increase the
hard standing across the width of the site. The property has 100% hard 
standing and the trees that were at the side of the property have been 
removed.

The house has been extended to the maximum at each boundary and is not 
typical of The Ryde where other houses have at least one side access and 
all have a fair proportion of soft landscaping as well as open carparking. I am 
not aware of any that have parking across the full width or the full depth of 
the property.

It is also worth noting that the tree on the left of the property has had the 
right side branches removed to allow parking to the left of the property 
accessed over the grass verge.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock
Summary This application is pending confirmation of further details regarding vehicular 

access and will be presented to DMC once this has been resolved.

6/2018/2768/OUTLINE
Address Hatfield Business Park Hatfield AL10 9SL
Proposal Outline application for a large-scale mixed use development including 1,100 

new homes and supporting infrastructure including a primary school, local 
centre and open space with all matters reserved

Applicant Arlington Business Parks 
Ward Hatfield Villages
Agent Mr M Hill

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Duncan Bell, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I would like to conditionally call-in the above application.  Conditional in the 
sense that i would only ask for it to be brought before DMC if Planning 
Department is minded to recommend approval.

Page 138



My grounds for calling this in are:

• The size and scale of the proposed development make it a matter of 
significant public interest.
• The proposal is on Green Belt land, and would risk coalescence with the 
eastern outskirts of St Albans.
• The site is not one of those accepted for development as part of our 
current Local Plan submission. 

I will be making a more detailed set of representations once i have studied 
the plans in more detail, but i would be grateful if you could log my call-in on 
to the system as soon as possible.

Thank you for your assistance.

Case Officer Ms Gill Claxton
6/2018/3030/FULL

Address 70 Wood Close Hatfield AL10 8TX
Proposal Retrospective change of use from a dwelling house (use class C3) to a large 

HMO (sui generis) with up to seven persons
Applicant Ms Z Laskar
Ward Hatfield East
Agent Ms Z Laskar

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

14/03/2019 10:44 - 
In accordance with the Amenity Standards for Licensable and  Non-
licensable Houses in Multiple Occupation (December 2015) the application 
fails to meet the required standards because;
 Bedroom 1 has no window
 There are not enough bathrooms and toilets
 There are no bike stores
 There are no bin stores
 Bedroom 4 does not meet the Regulations for size
 Parking provision is not shown and Members are not aware if there is 
sufficient

Case Officer Ms Lucy Hale
Summary This is likely to be presented to DMC in either April or May 2019

Page 139



6/2018/3125/FULL
Address 12 Tolmers Gardens, Cuffley, Potters Bar, EN6 4JE
Proposal Erection of 8 x apartments following demolition of existing bungalow

Applicant Mr A Sarno
Ward Northaw and Cuffley
Agent Mr A Sarno

Call-In/Objection 
from

The Clerk, Northaw & Cuffley Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

20/12/2018 19:39 - We object to this application and are grateful that WHBC 
have agreed to a site notice and extension to the consultation period.
This Block would be out of character with Tolmers Gardens.  Tolmers 
Gardens is not all 4 - 5 bedroomed houses as stated.  There are some 3 
bedroomed homes.  This is over development of the site.  We recommend 
that WHBC make a site visit to make a judgement on the proposed mass 
scale & bulk of the development.
A plan for two semi's has already been refused for this site - Ref 0474.
Under the draft Neighbourhood Plan, NCPC recommends the retention of
Bungalows.
The site boundary shown in the proposed site plan 130E does not match the 
one in the design & access statement - Fig.2. page 5.
Mature trees at No. 11 are at potential risk from this development

Case Officer Mr David Elmore
Summary This is likely to be presented to DMC in April 2019

6/2018/3170/HOUSE
Address 16 Roe Green Close Hatfield AL10 9PE
Proposal Erection of single storey front and side extension and part single, part two 

storey rear extension
Applicant Mr & Mrs E Lamuren
Ward Hatfield South West
Agent Mr S Cook

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

10/01/2019 08:24 - The size and bulk of the cumulative effect of all the 
extensions is not acceptable as it doubles the footprint of the property.  
Members acknowledge the concerns of neighbouring properties.

Case Officer Ms Lucy Hale
Address 16 Roe Green Close Hatfield AL10 9PE

Page 140



Proposal Erection of single storey front and side extension and part single, part two 
storey rear extension

Applicant Mr & Mrs E Lamuren
Ward Hatfield South West
Agent Mr S Cook

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

1/02/2019 12:50 - Our previous comments on this application still stand

Case Officer Ms Lucy Hale
Summary This is likely to be presented to DMC in April 2019

6/2019/0062/HOUSE
Address 11 Cecil Crescent Hatfield AL10 0HF
Proposal Erection of ground and first floor rear extension

Applicant Mr D Watkins
Ward Hatfield East
Agent Mr D Watkins

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

21/02/2019 13:15 - The proposed subdivision of the family dwelling into flats 
would result in harm to the character of the area by virtue of the change in 
intensity of use of this narrow crescent as well as detrimentally impact upon 
the amenity of neighbouring properties. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005.

Members further consider this overdevelopment of the site and with 
insufficient outdoor amenity space for the occupants of the proposed flats.

Case Officer Ms Emily Stainer
Summary This is likely to be presented to DMC in either April or May 2019

Page 141



6/2019/0085/MAJ
Address Chancellors School, Pine Grove, Brookmans Park, Hatfield, AL9 7BN
Proposal Erection of building comprising sports hall with associated changing facilities 

and 7 x classrooms built on existing hard play tennis courts; 4 x hard play 
sports pitches to be provided to replace existing; provision of 33 x parking 
spaces; and two mobile classrooms to be provided for the duration of the 
project

Applicant Mr J Buoy
Ward Brookmans Park & Little Heath
Agent Mr D Carmichael

Call-In/Objection 
from

Sue Chudleigh, North Mymms Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

12/02/2019 10:18 - NMPC: North Mymms Parish Council maintain their 
MAJOR OBJECTION for all previous reasons given in respect of application 
reference 6/2018/2178/FULL as follows:

“North Mymms Parish Council has a MAJOR OBJECTION to this 
application. It must be a Condition that the temporary classrooms be 
removed before occupation of the new classrooms occur (otherwise they will 
never go). The design is unimaginative and the materials proposed 
industrial, which for a Green Belt site show a lack of sympathy from the 
designers for the natural surroundings. The constant use of grey in colour 
schemes will date the building in the short term. The proposed building will 
be visible to users of The Drive, Ash Close and Golf Course Road. The Wow 
factor alluded to in the Design and Access Statement will be of no 
consequence to this assault on the Green Belt which does not meet high 
quality design as required by NPPF. It is recognised that additional teaching 
space and sports facilities are needed at the School, however the proposal 
will have an impact on the openness and character of the area beyond the 
School boundary. The additional car parking required to accommodate extra 
staff and the expansion of the pupil numbers is of concern as traffic flow at 
the junction of Pine Grove, Georges Wood Road and the A1000 are not 
reflected accurately in the Transport Assessment which states that traffic 
conditions at peak times (2.2.1) on both Brookmans Avenue/Georges Wood 
Road and the A1000 is low. This is nonsense. The local bus service is poor 
and the train station some distance away so travel for those coming on these 
will be precarious. The likelihood is that more car journeys will result from 
additional numbers and this will impact on the village and main highway. The 
Assessment does not accurately the dreadful parking in Pine Grove around 
the School. A Green Travel Plan as outlined in the Travel Assessment and 
referencing HCC’s Local Transport Plan, is theoretically good but must form 
a Condition of the Planning Approval. There is scant mention of 
Sustainability in the Design and Access Statement which causes concern. 
We mention this because it is an element of the NPPF and the materials 
chosen are not particularly sustainable because of the manufacturing 
processes needed to produce them. There is no mention of heating and how 
this will be achieved - although there is one paragraph under the heading 

Page 142



Sustainability, which refers to ventilation and insulation, all of which is 
covered by Building Regulations. Heating a huge void in a sports hall is a 
serious business and the environmental impact should not be ignored in a 
major application such as this.”

In addition, although the special circumstance proposed is the increase in 
school places, the poor design, lack of consideration for the Green Belt 
location and effect on the openness of the site, will cause detrimental impact 
and harm.

It is disingenuous (Page 17, Paragraph 3) of the school to state they do not 
intend to increase staff numbers with the increase in pupils. An additional 
210 pupils will surely require at the very least additional ancillary staff.

North Mymms Parish Council note that there is a new Travel Assessment. 
However, there are inaccuracies in it and other matters of concern. It should 
be noted that Georges Wood Road is a private road. Therefore whilst access 
across it is permissible it is a major concern for residents who have to pay to 
maintain it. Increased numbers will exacerbate the traffic on this route. It is 
noted that the majority of pupils and staff live more than 3 miles away. 
Therefore, there will be more journeys when the school expands, which 
alongside the inconsiderate parking in Pine Grove - the provision of 33 extra 
car parking spaces, will not improve the parking issues experienced in and 
around the area.
Staggered arrivals/departures does not allow for cars arriving early and 
parking whilst waiting for pupils to enter or leave the school via Pine Grove. 
Referring to Item 3.9 (Bus Timetable) – This clearly indicates that at least 2 
buses (200 and 201) are unavailable for travel owing to times of 
arrival/departure nearest the school. 
Referring to Item 3.12 (Rail Services). This information is inaccurate and 
misleading as Great Northern only operate 2 services out of peak morning 
rush hour and as Brookmans Park and Welham Green stations are not on 
the fast line, only, “All Stops” trains allow disembarkation during the morning 
rush hour and there are only 2 services in either direction in the afternoons, 
half an hour apart. Both train stations are over a mile from the school and 
indeed access to Welham Green station by walking is dangerous, 
particularly in the winter months when the weather can be inclement and it is 
dark.
The proposed design is a missed opportunity as an industrial box is not 
fitting for a rural location.

Case Officer Mr David Elmore
Summary This is likely to be presented to DMC in May 2019

Page 143



6/2019/0217/MAJ
Address Northaw House Coopers Lane Northaw Potters Bar EN6 4NG
Proposal Conversion of Northaw House to form 11 apartments (including 

refurbishment of existing single caretaker’s flat) and underground parking 
area, the Ballroom Wing to form 2 dwellings, the Stable Block to form 1 
dwelling, refurbishment of existing dwelling at Oak Cottage, construction of 2 
Gate Lodge dwellings, 3 dwellings within the Walled Garden, 7 dwellings 
within the Settlement Area, refurbishment of the Walled Garden, 
refurbishment of access routes and reinstatement of old route, provision of 
hard and soft landscaping, car parking and supporting infrastructure

Applicant Mr L Williamson
Ward Northaw and Cuffley
Agent Mr T Waller

Call-In/Objection 
from

The Clerk, Northaw & Cuffley Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

7/03/2019 20:59 - Not sustainable. Remote location. Public transport 
insufficient. Limited bus service.  Village offers limited services and cars 
would be essential for shopping and employment.

New buildings on Green Belt are unacceptable as it has an adverse impact 
on openness.  This is over development of the site.

 Traffic access improvements at west end inadequate ( simply narrowing 
junction and changing road markings & signage) and it is a dangerous bend.  
At east end, Design Statement is contradictory - is this a pedestrian or 
vehicular access?  If vehicular, there is a dangerous bend and dip in the 
road.
  The Special Circumstances of additional buildings funding work on historic 
buildings is not justified.  This would impact on the Green Belt gap between 
Northaw and Potters Bar.  The development is socially unsustainable as it is 
not mixed housing and has no affordable housing included.

Case Officer Mr William Myers
Summary This is likely to be presented to DMC in either May or June 2019

6/2019/0218/LB
Address Northaw House Coopers Lane Northaw Potters Bar EN6 4NG
Proposal Conversion of Northaw House to form 11 apartments (including 

refurbishment of existing single caretaker’s flat) and underground parking 
area, the Ballroom Wing to form 2 dwellings, the Stable Block to form 1 
dwelling, refurbishment of existing dwelling at Oak Cottage, construction of 2 
Gate Lodge dwellings, 3 dwellings within the Walled Garden, 7 dwellings 

Page 144



within the Settlement Area, refurbishment of the Walled Garden, 
refurbishment of access routes and reinstatement of old route, provision of 
hard and soft landscaping, car parking and supporting infrastructure

Applicant Mr L Williamson
Ward Northaw and Cuffley
Agent Mr T Waller

Call-In/Objection 
from

The Clerk, Northaw & Cuffley Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

7/03/2019 21:00 - Not sustainable. Remote location. Public transport 
insufficient. Limited bus service.  Village offers limited services and cars 
would be essential for shopping and employment.

New buildings on Green Belt are unacceptable as it has an adverse impact 
on openness.  This is over development of the site.

 Traffic access improvements at west end inadequate ( simply narrowing 
junction and changing road markings & signage) and it is a dangerous bend.  
At east end, Design Statement is contradictory - is this a pedestrian or 
vehicular access?  If vehicular, there is a dangerous bend and dip in the 
road.
  The Special Circumstances of additional buildings funding work on historic 
buildings is not justified.  This would impact on the Green Belt gap between 
Northaw and Potters Bar.  The development is socially unsustainable as it is 
not mixed housing and has no affordable housing included.

Case Officer Mr William Myers
Summary This is likely to be presented to DMC in May or June 2019

6/2019/0319/FULL
Address 15A Briary Wood Lane Welwyn AL6 0TE
Proposal Erection of 1 x two-storey house with associated access

Applicant Ms K Osthussain
Ward Welwyn West
Agent Ms K Crowder-James

Call-In/Objection 
from

Caroline Williams, Welwyn Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

7/03/2019 10:04 - Welwyn Parish Council at it's Planning and Licensing 
committee meeting of the 5th March 2019 agreed to submit the following:
MAJOR OBJECTION
This proposal appears to be back-land development which will be over 

Page 145



development of the site with loss of amenity space for the existing property, 
no. 15a

Case Officer Ms Clare Howe
Summary This is likely to be presented to DMC in either April or May 2019

6/2019/0455/FULL
Address 151 Campion Road Hatfield AL10 9FL
Proposal Change of use from class C3 dwelling house to class C4 HMO

Applicant Miss S Wood
Ward Hatfield Villages
Agent Mr P Pulzer

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

14/03/2019 10:43 - In accordance with the Amenity Standards for Licensable 
and Non-licensable Houses in Multiple Occupation (December 2015) the 
proposed kitchen will not meet the required standard as it fails to provide 
sufficient work space, indicates only on a single sink bowl, provides 
insufficient fridge/freezer space and does not have sufficient oven and hob 
provision.
The plans show a toilet without hand washing facilities.
Members question the means of escape from the loft room in case of fire.

Case Officer Mr William Myers
Summary This is likely to be presented to DMC in either April or May 2019

6/2019/0564/RM
Address Land at Waterbeach Bericot Way and Shackleton Way 

Welwyn Garden City AL7 2PT
Proposal Approval of reserved matters (appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) 

for the erection of 21 dwellings on approved outline planning permission 
6/2017/2202/OUTLINE dated 04/01/2018

Applicant Chalkdene Developments
Ward Panshanger
Agent Mrs R Gray

Page 146



Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Terry Mitchinson, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I have been contacted by various people living nearby with regards the 
design and especially the placing of the affordable homes directly next to 
existing properties.
There is also no mention of an entrance onto the main road (bericot way) 
rather than off waterbeach. Something I originally asked to be considered.
I need to ensure people’s views are represented; they already feel they are 
being ridden roughshod over with two of the strategic sites being in that part 
of WGC.
They claim the ‘consultation’ by developers was cursory and aimed at 
disguising the final layout.
I have tried the link and cannot get to the application itself to check details 
more carefully; it only links me to the calling in form.

Case Officer Ms Louise Sahlke
Summary This is likely to be presented to DMC in either May or June 2019

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 - All other applications not comprising call-ins or objections

ward description
6/2017/0606/MAJ

Address 1-9 Town Centre Hatfield AL10 0JZ
Proposal Erection of 2 buildings to provide 1,194m2 (GEA) commercial floor space (A1 

& A3), 70 flats (15 x 1 bedroom, 7 x 2 bedroom, three person and 48 x 2 
bedroom, four person) with associated car/bicycle parking, plant and refuse 
storage and including the improvement of public realm, following the 
demolition of existing buildings.

Applicant Mr P Brimley
Ward Hatfield Cent.
Agent Mr P Wellings-Longmore

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

The applicant is Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council and the proposal is major 
development which should be considered by the Committee.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock

S6/2015/1342/PP
Address Land to the north east of King George V Playing Fields, Northaw Road East, 

Cuffley, Hertfordshire, EN6 4RD
Proposal Outline planning application for residential development of up to 121 

dwellings, associated infrastructure and a change of use from agricultural 
land to an extension of the King George V playing field.  All matters reserved 
except for new vehicular access to serve the site, the provision of surface 
water discharge points and the levels of development platforms

Applicant Lands Improvement Holdings Landmatch
Ward Northaw and Cuffley
Agent Mr M Smith

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

The application is of a scale, sensitive nature or is controversial and officer’s 
consider that in accordance with the Council’s constitution, it should be 
determined by the Development Management Committee.   Additionally, the 
application is a departure from the provisions of the appropriate development 
plan, other policy guidance or supplementary planning guidance.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock

Page 149



Page 150


	Agenda
	6 36 THE RIDGEWAY, CUFFLEY. HERTFORDSHIRE, EN6 4AX - 6/2018/2863/FULL - ERECTION OF SIX RESIDENTIAL UNITS FOLLOWING THE DEMOLITION OF THE EXISTING DWELLING, SUPPORTING STRUCTURES AND ASSOCIATED ANCILLARY BUILDINGS
	7 THE HOLDINGS, COLE GREEN LANE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY, AL7 4AL -6/2018/2726/MAJ -  ERECTION OF 4 INDUSTRIAL/COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS WITHIN USE CLASS B8 WITH ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING, ACCESS AND INFRASTRUCTURE WORKS
	7a - Appendix 1 for 18-2786-The Holdings

	8 61 LONDON ROAD, WOOLMER GREEN, KNEBWORTH, SG3 6JE - 6/2019/0075/FULL - ALTERATIONS TO APPROVED PARKING & TRANSPORT ARRANGEMENTS AND ADDITION OF TURNING HEAD FOR HGV'S
	9 7 STRAWMEAD, HATFIELD, AL10 0JG -6/2019/0271/FULL - ERECTION OF PART SINGLE, PART TWO STOREY FRONT EXTENSION AND TWO SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSIONS TO FACILITATE CONVERSION OF EXISTING 4-BEDROOM HOUSE IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION (C4) INTO 2 X 1-BED FLATS AND 1 X 2-BED FLAT
	10 84 HIGH DELLS, HATFIELD, AL10 9HU - 6/2018/2850/HOUSE - RETENTION OF EXISTING OUTBUILDING
	11 APPEALS DECISION
	12 PLANNING UPDATE - FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS
	12 - Appendix 2 Future Applications Cttee Report No Call-In


